This offering statement must be delivered to every purchaser of the securities described herein prior to the
purchaser becoming obligated to complete the purchase and, upon request, to any prospective purchasing
member.
No official of the Government of the Province of Ontario has considered the merits of the matters
addressed in this offering statement.
The securities being offered are not guaranteed by the Financial Services Regulatory Authority of Ontario
or any similar public agency.
The prospective purchaser of these securities should carefully review the offering statement and any other
documents it refers to, examine in particular the section on risk factors beginning on page 19 and, further,
may wish to consult a financial or tax advisor about this investment.

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
OFFERING STATEMENT
dated July 29, 2019

MINIMUM $10,000,000 -- MAXIMUM $170,000,000
CLASS B SPECIAL SHARES, SERIES 4
(NON-CUMULATIVE, NON-VOTING,
NON-PARTICIPATING, REDEEMABLE SPECIAL SHARES)
("Class B Investment Shares, Series 4")
The subscription price for each Class B Investment Share, Series 4 will be $1.00 per share, with a
minimum of 1,000 shares per member which may be subscribed for $1,000.00, to a maximum of 2,000,000
shares per member which may be subscribed for $2,000,000.00. No member, however, may purchase more
than five percent (5%) of the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4 sold hereunder the (“Maximum
Permissible Holding”).
There is no market through which these securities may be sold.
The purchaser of these securities may reverse his/her decision to purchase the securities if he/she provides
notice in writing, or by facsimile, or by e-mail in combination with a telephone call, to the person from
whom the purchaser purchases the security, within two days, excluding weekends and holidays, of having
signed a subscription form.
The Class B Investment Shares, Series 4 are subject to the transfer and redemption restrictions under the
Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires Act, 1994 and the restrictions under this offering statement as set
out on pages 18 and 19.
THE SECURITIES OFFERED ARE NOT DEPOSITS. THE SECURITIES OFFERED ARE NOT
INSURED. THE DIVIDENDS ON THE SECURITIES ARE NOT GUARANTEED.
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OFFERING STATEMENT SUMMARY
The following is a summary only and is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this
offering statement. A “Glossary of Terms” can be found at the end of this summary, prior to the detailed offering statement.

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

The Credit Union was formed on January 1, 2011 as a result of the amalgamation of DUCA Financial
Services Credit Union Limited (“Antecedent DUCA”), as it then existed, and Virtual One Credit Union
Limited (“Virtual One”). Antecedent DUCA was incorporated on May 5, 1954, originally to serve the Dutch
Canadian community, but by the time of the creation of the Credit Union by amalgamation, could serve
anyone residing or employed in Ontario. Virtual One was itself formed by the amalgamation on August 1,
2004 of Virtual One Credit Union Limited (“Antecedent Virtual One”) and CBC (Toronto) Credit Union
Limited (“CBC Toronto”). Antecedent Virtual One was incorporated on March 28, 1946, originally to serve
the employees of the Toronto Kodak production facility. CBC Toronto was incorporated on July 26, 1952,
originally to serve the Toronto employees of the Canadian Broadcasting Corporation. The Credit Union’s
bond of association currently includes anyone who resides or is employed in Canada. The Credit Union’s
head office is located at 5255 Yonge Street, Toronto, ON M2N 6P4.
The Credit Union has entered into an agreement of purchase and sale for the building it owns at 5290 Yonge
Street, Toronto. It has moved its head office and administration staff to premises it has leased at 5255 Yonge
Street, Toronto, and has entered into a lease, which will take effect on the date the sale closes, so that it can
maintain its branch premises at 5290 Yonge Street, Toronto. See page 39 for further details.
The Credit Union has given verbal notice of its intention to terminate the contract by which it obtains the
software license, maintenance and support for its current core banking system, such verbal notice to be
followed up with written notice of termination effective April 30, 2020, and intends to convert at that time to
a different core banking system hosted by a third party. See page 37 for further details.
The Credit Union completed its first investment share offering on December 31, 2015, issuing 41,968,542
Class B Special Shares, Series 1, with a stated capital amount of $41,968,542.
The Credit Union became a Certified B Corporation™ in May 2015. This certification, granted by the nonprofit B-Lab, requires the Credit Union to meet rigorous standards of social and environmental performance,
accountability, and transparency.
The Credit Union has also adopted the practice of allocating at least 3.5% of its pre-tax profit to donations
and community sponsorships. The Credit Union has set up a registered private foundation, The DUCA
Impact Lab, discussed at page 4.
The Credit Union provides a full range of financial services and products to 71,000 members (as of April 30,
2019) through 16 offices across the Greater Toronto Area, and its internet, mobile phone, and telephone
banking systems. The Credit Union provides a full range of retail and commercial credit and non-credit
financial and wealth management services and products. See also “Business of the Credit Union”, on pages
2 to 9.
It is the intention of the Credit Union to commence the process at some point in the future to move to a
federally regulated platform (i.e. the Bank Act (Canada)).
The Credit Union is open to opportunities to amalgamate with or purchase the assets of another credit union,
but is not actively considering any potential transactions as of the date hereof. The Credit Union does, from
time to time, purchase assets from other credit unions and financial institutions.
DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
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The Offering
The Credit Union offers for sale to its members, at $1.00 per share, Class B Non-Cumulative, Non-Voting,
Non-Participating, Redeemable Special Shares, Series 4 (“Class B Investment Shares, Series 4”), in the
capital of the Credit Union. Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, are special, non-Membership Shares and
constitute part of the authorized capital of the Credit Union. Subscriptions will be accepted from members
of the Credit Union for a minimum of 1,000 Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, and a maximum of
2,000,000 Class B Investment Shares, Series 4. No member may, however, purchase more than 5.0% of the
Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, sold hereunder (the “Maximum Permissible Holding”). If a member
subscribes for more than the Maximum Permissible Holding, the Credit Union will honour the subscription
for the Maximum Permissible Holding and return all excess funds, with applicable interest, to the
member. Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, are not redeemable for five years following their Issue Date
as defined below, except when the shareholder dies or is expelled from membership in the Credit Union. All
redemptions are also subject to a limit (of 10.0% of the number of the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4,
issued and outstanding at the end of the prior fiscal year) on the maximum number of shares that can be
redeemed in any fiscal year. If applicable law requires that any redemption be approved by a regulatory body
having jurisdiction over the Credit Union that redemption will be subject to that regulatory approval being
obtained. Purchasers of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, who are intending to include such shares in an
RRSP or RRIF contract should carefully review the redemption restrictions on pages 18 and 19 before
proceeding, because the Credit Union will only allow these shares to be held in a RRIF contract if the
annuitant of that contract acknowledges in writing that the Credit Union will satisfy the minimum annual
payment requirement from the RRIF by transferring an amount of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4,
sufficient to satisfy that required payment in kind from the RRIF to a non-registered account. Transfer of
such shares will only be affected through the Credit Union, and transfers are generally restricted to other
members of the Credit Union. The Credit Union, at its option and, if required by applicable law, subject to
obtaining approval of a regulatory body having jurisdiction over the Credit Union, may acquire the Class B
Investment Shares, Series 4, at the Redemption Amount, for cancellation after a period of five years following
the Issue Date as defined below. See “Description of Securities Being Offered” on pages 16 through 19.
It is intended that the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will be issued on multiple closing dates.
Subscriptions for each closing of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, shall be accepted the offer date for
that offer noted in the table below (the “Offer Date”) until the earlier of (1) the corresponding closing date
noted in the table below (the “Closing Date”); (2) the time that the aggregate amount of subscriptions received
for Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, is equal to the maximum amount of $170,000,000; and (3) the date
on which the Board, having not received subscriptions for the maximum $170,000,000 Class B Investment
Shares, Series 4, and noting that seven months (due to the extension discussed below) has not yet passed
since the date of this offering statement, resolves to close the offering. The shares subscribed shall be actually
issued on the issuance dates noted in the table below, notwithstanding the fact that, for purposes of calculating
the periods of non-redeemability outlined above, and for the purpose of pro-rating any dividend paid in the
year the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, are issued, the Issue Date shall be defined as the latest date on
which Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, are actually issued pursuant to this offering statement:
Closing No.
1
2
3
4
5
6
7

Offer Date
Closing Date
Issuance Date
Offering Statement
Date
23-Aug-19
31-Aug-19
24-Aug-19
23-Sep-19
30-Sep-19
24-Sep-19
24-Oct-19
31-Oct-19
25-Oct-19
22-Nov-19
30-Nov-19
23-Nov-19
20-Dec-19
31-Dec-19
21-Dec-19
24-Jan-20
31-Jan-20
25-Jan-20
26-Feb-20
29-Feb-20
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FSRA, on January 24, 2020, granted an extension to the receipt for this offering statement from January 24,
2020 to February 29, 2020 due to a change in the provider of Mortgage Loan origination, servicing, and
securitization pooling discussed at page 38.
Note particularly with respect to dividends that this could result in no dividends being paid on the Class B
Investment Shares, Series 4, until March 2021, because the latest of the issuance dates may occur after the
end of the Credit Union’s current fiscal year ending December 31, 2019.
No Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will be issued until the minimum aggregate subscription amount
received in respect of such shares is equal to at least $10,000,000. Should the minimum subscription amount
of $10,000,000 not be received by a particular Closing Date, then subscriptions for Class B Investment
Shares, Series 4, received will be deferred until the next Closing Date, and the Class B Investment Shares,
Series 4, subscribed for will be issued at the next applicable issuance date outlined above, subject to the
minimum subscription amount of $10,000,000 having been met by the next Closing Date. If the aggregate
subscription amount received by the final Closing Date of February 29, 2020 is less than $10,000,000, then
this offering for Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will be cancelled and withdrawn without shares being
issued (in which case all funds “frozen” or held in Escrow to support subscriptions will be returned to the
applicable members within 30 days thereof, with applicable interest) unless this offering has been renewed
with the approval of the Chief Executive Officer of FSRA.
The securities to be issued under this offering statement are not secured by any assets of the Credit Union
and are not covered by deposit insurance or any other form of guarantee as to repayment of the principal
amount or dividends. The Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will qualify as Regulatory Capital, to the
extent permitted and as defined in the Act.
Use of Proceeds
If fully subscribed, the gross proceeds of this issue will be $170,000,000. The costs of issuing these securities
are not expected to exceed $420,000, and these costs, approximating $310,000 after applicable tax savings,
will be deducted from the gross proceeds in arriving at the amount to be reported as share capital outstanding.
The estimated maximum net proceeds of this offering are $169,690,000. The principal use of the net
proceeds, and the purpose of this offering, is to add to the Credit Union’s Regulatory Capital in order to
provide for the future growth, development and stability of the Credit Union, while maintaining a prudent
cushion in the amount of Regulatory Capital above regulatory requirements.
Based on the total assets and regulatory capital at April 30, 2019 according to its interim condensed financial
statements, the Credit Union's Leverage Ratio would increase to 4.7% if this offering is minimally subscribed
and to 8.6% if fully subscribed. Based upon the Credit Union's total assets as of April 30, 2019 according to
its interim condensed financial statements, this offering would support additional growth of $0.7 billion if
minimally subscribed, and $4.7 billion if fully subscribed, without contravening the regulatory minimum
requirement of 4%.
Risk Factors
Investments in the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, are subject to a number of risks, including regulatory
redemption restrictions, the continuous need to maintain minimum Regulatory Capital levels, the uncertainty
of payment of dividends, credit risk, market risk (including, particularly, the investment in Social Finance
Inc. discussed at page 22, resulting from the Credit Union’s exit from its involvement with Zenbanx Canada
Inc. discussed at page 76), liquidity risk, structural risk, operational risk, potential regulatory actions, reliance
on key management, economic risk, and competitive risk. See “Risk Factors” on pages 19 to 27.
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Dividend Policy
The dividend policy of the Credit Union’s Board, as it relates to Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, shall
be to pay a dividend or dividends in every year in which there are sufficient profits to do so while still
fulfilling all other Regulatory Capital, liquidity, and operational requirements. The dividend rate shall be
established by the Board, in its sole and absolute discretion, based on financial and other considerations
prevailing at the time of the declarations, and, in particular, on the Credit Union’s earnings. The Board shall
consider whether or not a dividend shall be declared, the rate of that dividend and the manner in which it is
paid, including whether in the form of additional Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, in cash, or partly in
shares and partly in cash. The Board shall consider this at least annually, and any declared dividend will be
paid following each fiscal year end and before each annual general meeting of members. There can be no
guarantee that a dividend will be paid in each year. If the Board declares a dividend in any year, the Board
will declare a dividend of not less than 4.25% for its fiscal years ending on or before December 31, 2024.
For fiscal years ending after that date, the Board has defined the minimum rate to be the greater of 4.25%
and the rate which exceeds by 125 Basis Points the simple average of the yields on the monthly series of the
Government of Canada five-year bonds (CANSIM Identifier V122540) as published by the Bank of Canada
on its website, www.bank-banques-canada.ca during the Credit Union’s fiscal year. This dividend policy is
subject to change or exception at any time, at the Board’s discretion.
Dividends paid on Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will be deemed to be interest and not dividends, and
are therefore not eligible for the tax treatment given to dividends from taxable Canadian corporations,
commonly referred to as the “dividend tax credit”.
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Summary Financial Information
The following tables contain financial information that is derived from the unaudited interim financial
statements and audited financial statements contained in Schedules A and B to this document, respectively,
including the notes to those statements, and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the 2016, 2017 and
2018 fiscal years and for the four-month interim period ended April 30, 2019, beginning on page 39.
SUMMARY STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
(in thousands)

April 30, 2019

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

$274,594
722,174
3,049,468
4,737
13,310
3,123
296
1,678
343
$4,069,723

$69,038
380,807
2,908,529
1,560
12,401
1,678
$3,374,013

$86,743
247,378
2,423,336
2,800
11,168
2,475
1,678
$2,775,578

$135,222
255,458
2,064,405
1,362
12,437
5,772
1,678
$2,476,334

$3,230,400
650,006
5,000
3,558
3,123
326
258
690
1,164
$3,894,525

$2,558,880
629,981
5,936
589
332
280
1,386
1,187
$3,198,571

$2,027,463
535,709
34,500
7,983
69
415
1,179
1,222
$2,608,540

$1,868,667
434,559
6,756
1,849
2,021
3,522
1,407
$2,318,781

MEMBERS’ EQUITY
Members’ shares
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total Members’ Equity

80,273
95,023
-98
$175,198

79,963
95,841
-362
$175,442

82,023
85,066
-51
$167,038

84,256
73,297
$157,553

Total Liabilities and Members’ Equity

$4,069,723

$3,374,013

$2,775,578

$2,476,334

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Members’ loans
Other assets
Fixed assets
Right-of-use assets
Income taxes receivable
Deferred tax asset
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Members’ deposits
Securitization liabilities
Borrowings
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Lease liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Income taxes payable
Deferred tax liability
Patronage return and dividends payable
Deferred revenue
Members’ shares
Total liabilities
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Four months ended April 30
SUMMARY
STATEMENTS OF
INCOME AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
(in thousands)
Interest income
Interest on Members’
loans
Investment income
Interest Expense
Interest on Members’
deposits
Borrowings and
securitizations
Net interest income
Non-interest income
Total revenue

2019

Years ended
December 31,
2018

2018

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

$37,883

$31,680

$104,660

$89,613

$83,757

3,940
$41,823

1,774
$33,454

7,212
$111,872

3,978
$93,591

3,194
$86,951

$21,957

$14,058

$49,698

$36,745

$35,424

4,729

3,700

12,429

8,786

7,149

$26,686

$17,758

$62,127

$45,531

$42,573

$15,137
3,420
$18,557

$15,696
2,564
$18,260

$49,745
6,988
$56,733

$48,060
8,650
$56,710

$44,378
7,386
$51,764

-

-

(Recovery of) provision for
credit losses
Non-interest expense

-

47

337

16,813

13,853

Income before the
undernoted
Patronage return

$1,791

320

417

2,363

40,930

38,827

36,984

$4,070

$16,123

$18,300

$12,417

690

500

1,386

1,179

1,164

Income before income
taxes
Provision for (recovery of)
income taxes
Net income

$1,101

$3,570

$14,737

$17,121

$11,253

299

946

3,430

4,096

802

2,624

11,307

13,025

12,068

Changes in unrealized
gains on the effective
portion of cash flow
hedges, net of tax
Net income attributable to
non-controlling interest in
Zenbanx Canada Inc.
Comprehensive Income

264

188

-311

-51

-

-

-

-

-

-1,659

$1,066

$2,812

$10,996

$12,974

$13,727
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
"Act" - the Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires Act, 1994, as now enacted or as the same may from time to
time be amended, re-enacted or replaced.
"Agricultural Loan" - a loan to finance the production of cultivated or uncultivated field-grown crops; the
production of horticultural crops, the raising of livestock, fish, poultry and fur-bearing animals; or the
production of eggs, milk, honey, maple syrup, tobacco, wood from woodlots, and fibre and fodder crops.
"Administration" - a legal status ordered by the Financial Services Regulatory Authority of Ontario ("FSRA") in
any of the following circumstances: (1) FSRA, on reasonable grounds, believes that a credit union is
conducting its affairs in a way that might be expected to harm the interests of members, depositors or
shareholders or that tends to increase the risk of claims against the deposit insurer, but that Supervision by
FSRA as stabilization authority would, in this case, not be appropriate; (2) A credit union has failed to
comply with an order of FSRA made while the Credit Union was subject to Supervision; (3) FSRA is of
the opinion that the assets of a credit union are not sufficient to give adequate protection to its depositors;
(4) A credit union has failed to pay any liability that is due or, in the opinion of FSRA, will not be able
to pay its liabilities as they become due; (5) after a general meeting and any adjournment of no more
than two weeks, the members of a credit union have failed to elect the minimum number of directors
required under the Act (currently five); (6) if a vacancy occurs in the board of a credit union resulting
in there not being a quorum of directors in office, and a general meeting is not called promptly to
reconstitute the board; or (7) FSRA has received a report from the Chief Executive Officer of FSRA that
the Chief Executive Officer of FSRA has ordered a credit union to cease operations; under which FSRA
has the power to: (a) Carry on, manage and conduct the operations of that credit union; (b) Preserve,
maintain, realize, dispose of and add to the property of that credit union; (c) Receive the income and
revenues of that credit union; (d) Exercise the powers of that credit union and of its directors, officers, and
committees; (e) Exclude the directors of that credit union and its officers, committee members, employees
and agents from its property and business; and (f) Require that credit union, with or without obtaining
member and shareholder consent, to, (i) amalgamate with another credit union, (ii) dispose of its assets
and liabilities, or (iii) be wound up.
"Basis Point" - one-hundredth of one percent (0.01%).
"Bridge Loan" - a loan to an individual made under the following circumstances:
1.
The loan is for the purchase of residential property in which the purchaser will reside. The
property must consist of four units or less.
2.
The term of the loan is not greater than 120 days.
3.
The funds from the sale of another residential property owned by the individual will be used to
repay the loan.
4.
The credit union must receive a copy of the executed purchase and sale agreement for both
properties before the loan is made.
5.
The conditions of each of the purchase and sale agreements must be satisfied before the loan is
made.
6.
The loan is fully secured by a mortgage on the residential property being sold or, before the loan
is made, the borrower's solicitor has given the credit union an irrevocable letter of direction
from the borrower stating that the funds from the sale of the residential property being sold will be
remitted to the credit union.
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"Commercial Loan" - a loan, other than any of the following types of loans, made for any purpose: an
Agricultural Loan; a Bridge Loan; an Institutional Loan; a Personal Loan; a Mortgage Loan; an
Unincorporated Association Loan; a loan that consists of deposits made by the credit union with a financial
institution, Central 1 Credit Union, La Fédération des caisses Desjardins du Québec, or La Caisse central
Desjardins du Québec; a loan fully secured by a deposit with a financial institution (including the credit
union making the loan), Central 1 Credit Union, La Fédération des caisses Desjardins du Québec, or La
Caisse central Desjardins du Québec; a loan fully secured by debt obligations guaranteed by a financial
institution other than the credit union making the loan, Central 1 Credit Union, La Fédération des caisses
Desjardins du Québec, or La Caisse central Desjardins du Québec; a loan that is fully secured by a guarantee
of a financial institution other than the credit union making the loan, Central 1 Credit Union, La Fédération
des caisses Desjardins du Québec, or La Caisse central Desjardins du Québec; an investment in a debt
obligation that is fully guaranteed by a financial institution other than the credit union making the loan,
fully secured by deposits with a financial institution (including the credit union making the loan), or fully
secured by debt obligations that are fully guaranteed by a financial institution other than the credit union
making the loan; an investment in a debt obligation issued by the federal government, a provincial or
territorial government, a municipality, or any agency of such a government or municipality; an
investment in a debt obligation guaranteed by, or fully secured by securities issued by, the federal
government, a provincial or territorial government, a municipality, or by an agency of such a government or
municipality; an investment in a debt obligation issued by a league, Central 1 Credit Union, La Fédération
des caisses Desjardins du Québec, or La Caisse central Desjardins du Québec; an investment in a debt
obligation that is widely-distributed; an investment in shares or ownership interests that are widelydistributed; an investment in a participating share; or an investment in shares of a league, Central 1 Credit
Union, La Fédération des caisses Desjardins du Québec, or La Caisse central Desjardins du Québec. A
Commercial Loan includes the supply of funds for use in automated bank machines not owned and operated
by the credit union supplying the funds.
"Escrow" - a form of trust agreement in which funds are temporarily placed under the control of a third party
(trustee) until specific conditions, set out in advance, are met.
"Institutional Loan" - a loan given to the federal government or a federal government agency, a provincial or
territorial government or an agency of one, a municipality or an agency of one, a school board or college
funded primarily by the federal or a provincial or territorial government, or an entity primarily funded by
the federal government, a provincial or territorial government, or a municipality.
"Leverage Ratio" - total Regulatory Capital divided by total assets.
"Membership Shares" - shares required, according to a credit union's by-laws, to maintain a membership in the
credit union.
"Mortgage Loan" - loan that is secured by a mortgage on an individual condominium unit or a building with one
to four units where at least one half of the floor area of the building is utilized as one or more private
residential dwellings, occupied by the borrower, and to which any of the following apply:
1. The amount of the loan, together with the amount then outstanding of any mortgage having an
equal or prior claim against the mortgaged property, does not exceed 80% of the value of the
property when the loan is made.
2. The loan is insured under the National Housing Act (Canada), or guaranteed or insured by a
government agency.
3. The loan is insured by an insurer licensed to undertake mortgage insurance.
"Non-Cumulative" - dividends not declared or paid for one fiscal year are not carried forward or added to the
dividend of a following year but are forever extinguished.
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"Non-Participating" - in case of dissolution, shareholders receive only the Redemption Amount (see below) and
do not participate in receiving any of the residual value of the credit union's assets.
"Non-Voting" - holders vote only at special meetings as required by the Act.
"Personal Loan" - loan given to an individual for personal, family or household use; or to an individual or entity for
any other use if the loan, and all other loans outstanding to that individual or entity, does not exceed $25,000.
"Redemption Amount" - the amount a shareholder receives on redemption or at which shares are transferred
from one member to another; this amount is equal to the issue price of the shares ($1 per share) plus any
dividends which have been declared but not yet paid.
"Regulatory Capital" - Membership Shares, Class A Shares, Class B Shares, retained earnings, accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), contributed surplus, and a portion of the Credit Union’s non-specific
allowance for impaired loans.
“Risk-Weighted Assets” – the absolute value of assets in specified categories is multiplied by a percentage,
varying between 0% and 100% depending on the risk attributed to each category. The sum of all the
categories is the Credit Union’s Risk-Weighted Assets.
“Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio” – total Regulatory Capital divided by Risk-Weighted Assets.
“Schedule I Banks” - Schedule I banks are domestic banks and are authorized under the Bank Act to accept
deposits, which may be eligible for deposit insurance provided by the Canada Deposit Insurance
Corporation.
“Schedule II Banks” - Schedule II banks are foreign bank subsidiaries authorized under the Bank Act to accept
deposits, which may be eligible for deposit insurance provided by the Canada Deposit and Insurance
Corporation. Foreign bank subsidiaries are controlled by eligible foreign institutions.
“Securitization Expert” - A Securitization Expert is someone who has demonstrable understanding of
accounting, legal, financial and risk implications of all the securitization programs used by the
Credit Union, as well as a minimum of three (3) years of transactional experience. This includes a
comprehensive knowledge of all securitization risk areas, best practices and market conditions for
each program used.
"Special Resolution" - a resolution passed by two-thirds or more of the votes cast by or on behalf of the persons
who voted in respect of that resolution.
"Substantial Portion" - assets having an aggregate value equal to or greater than 15 per cent of a credit union's
assets at the end of its previous fiscal year.
"Supervision" - a legal status ordered by FSRA when: (1) A credit union asks, in writing, that it be subject to
supervision; (2) A credit union is not in compliance with prescribed Regulatory Capital or liquidity
requirements; (3) FSRA has reasonable grounds for believing that a credit union is conducting its affairs in
a way that might be expected to harm the interests of members or depositors or that tends to increase the
risk of claims against FSRA; (4) A credit union or an officer or director of it does not file, submit or deliver
a report or document required to be filed, submitted or delivered under this Act within the time limits
outlined under this Act; (5) A credit union did not comply with an order of the Chief Executive Officer of
FSRA and the Chief Executive Officer has requested, in writing, that the credit union be subject to
supervision; or (6) A credit union has failed to comply with an order of FSRA; under which FSRA, acting
as stabilization authority, can: (a) order that credit union to correct any practices that the authority feels are
contributing to the problem or situation that caused it to be ordered subject to FSRA's supervision; (b)
order that credit union and its directors, committee members, officers and employees not to exercise any
powers of that credit union or of its directors, committee members, officers and employees; (c) establish
guidelines for the operation of that credit union; (d) order that credit union not to declare or pay a dividend
or to restrict the amount of a dividend to be paid to a rate or amount set by FSRA; (e) attend meetings of that
credit union's board and its credit and audit committees; and (f) propose bylaws for that credit union and
amendments to its articles of incorporation.
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“Syndicated Loans” – a loan, including any related credit facilities, to which all of the following conditions
apply:
1. The loan is made under a syndicated loan agreement.
2. The syndicating lead is one of the following institutions:
i. A credit union.
ii. A league.
iii. Central 1 Credit Union.
iv. Fédération des caisses Desjardins du Québec.
v. A bank listed in Schedule I to the Bank Act (Canada).
3. The only parties to the syndicated loan agreement are the following entities:
i. The syndicating lead.
ii. A borrower from Ontario.
iii. One or more of the following entities:
A. A credit union or its subsidiary or affiliate.
B. A league.
C. Central 1 Credit Union.
D. Fédération des caisses Desjardins du Québec.
E. A financial institution other than a securities dealer.
F. An extra-provincial credit union registered under clause 332 (6) (a) of the Act.
4. Each of the parties to the syndicated loan agreement, other than the borrower, agrees to
contribute a specified portion of the loan and to be bound by the terms and conditions of
the syndicated loan agreement.
5. The syndicating lead contributes at least 10 per cent of the loans, including any
related credit facilities, and underwrites, disburses and administers them on behalf of the
parties to the syndicated loan agreement.
Syndicated loans can be made inside or outside Ontario, in which case a credit union incorporated
pursuant to the laws of another Canadian province can be the syndicating lead, and the borrower can be
located in another Canadian province.
"Unincorporated Association Loan" - loan to an unincorporated association or organization that is not a
partnership registered under the Business Names Act, and that is operated on a non-profit basis for
educational, benevolent, fraternal, charitable, religious or recreational purposes.
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DETAILED OFFERING STATEMENT
The Credit Union
The Credit Union was formed on January 1, 2011 as a result of the amalgamation of DUCA Financial Services
Credit Union Limited (“Antecedent DUCA”), as it then existed, and Virtual One Credit Union Limited (“Virtual
One”). Antecedent DUCA was incorporated on May 5, 1954, originally to serve the Dutch Canadian
community, but by the time of the creation of the Credit Union by amalgamation, could serve anyone residing
or employed in Ontario. Virtual One was itself formed by the amalgamation on August 1, 2004 of Virtual
One Credit Union Limited (“Antecedent Virtual One”) and CBC (Toronto) Credit Union Limited (“CBC
Toronto”). Antecedent Virtual One was incorporated on March 28, 1946, originally to serve the employees of
the Toronto Kodak production facility. CBC Toronto was incorporated on July 26, 1952, originally to serve
the Toronto employees of the Canadian Broadcasting Corporation. The Credit Union‘s bond of association
currently includes anyone who resides or is employed in Canada. The Credit Union’s head office is located at
5255 Yonge Street, Toronto, ON M2N 6P4.
The Credit Union has entered into an agreement of purchase and sale for the building it owns at 5290 Yonge
Street, Toronto. It has to move its head office and administration staff to premises it has leased at 5255 Yonge
Street, Toronto, and has entered into a lease, which will take effect on the date the sale closes, so that it can
maintain its branch premises at 5290 Yonge Street, Toronto. See pages 38 and 39 for further details.
The Credit Union has given verbal notice of its intention to terminate the contract by which it obtains the
software license, maintenance and support for its current core banking system, such verbal notice to be followed
up with written notice of termination effective April 30, 2020, and intends to convert at that time to a different
core banking system hosted by a third party. See page 37 for further details.
The Credit Union on January 24, 2020 was granted an extension in the receipt for this offering statement from
January 24, 2020 to February 29, 2020 due to a change in the provider of Mortgage Loan origination,
servicing, and securitization pooling discussed at page 38.
The Credit Union completed its first investment share offering on December 31, 2015, issuing 41,968,542 Class
B Special Shares, Series 1, with a stated capital amount of $41,968,542.
The Credit Union became a Certified B Corporation™ in May 2015. This certification, granted by the nonprofit B-Lab, requires the Credit Union to meet rigorous standards of social and environmental performance,
accountability, and transparency.
The Credit Union has also adopted the practice of allocating at least 3.5% of its pre-tax profit to donations and
community sponsorships. The Credit Union has registered a private foundation, The DUCA Impact Lab,
discussed in more detail at page 4.
The Credit Union provides a full range of financial services and products to 71,000 members (as of April 30,
2019) through 16 offices across the Greater Toronto Area, and its Internet, mobile phone, and telephone banking
systems. The Credit Union provides a full range of retail and commercial credit and non-credit financial and
wealth management services and products. See also “Business of the Credit Union”, on pages 2 to 9.
It is the intention of the Credit Union to commence the process at some time in the future to move to a federally
regulated platform (i.e. the Bank Act (Canada)).
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The Credit Union is open to opportunities to amalgamate with or purchase the assets of another credit union,
but is not actively considering any potential transactions as of the date hereof. The Credit Union does, from
time to time, purchase assets from other credit unions and financial institutions.

BUSINESS OF THE CREDIT UNION
General Description of the Business
An overview of the products and services offered by the Credit Union follows:
Personal Financial Services
The Credit Union provides a broad range of personal financial products and services to its members. Retail
financial products for individuals include Canadian-dollar savings and chequing accounts (including a highinterest savings account), U.S.-dollar and Euro savings accounts, index-linked term deposits with terms of
between 2 and 5 years, and an extensive variety of redeemable and non-redeemable Canadian-dollar and U.S.dollar term deposit products in both short terms of 32 to 364 days and longer terms of one to seven years. The
Credit Union also offers a commercial account to serve the needs of its small business members. Registered
investment options include registered retirement savings plans (“RRSPs”), registered retirement income funds
(“RRIFs”) and their locked-in equivalent, tax-free savings accounts (“TFSAs”), and registered education
savings plans (“RESPs”). Investment services also include mutual funds, equities, and bonds offered through
an arrangement with Qtrade Securities Inc. and Qtrade Asset Management Inc. outlined at page 36. As at April
30, 2019, members of the Credit Union had more than $262.4 million invested through QTrade Securities Inc.
and QTrade Asset Management Inc., primarily in mutual funds, stocks and bonds. All registered plans are
trusteed by Concentra Trust (“Concentra Trust”).
The Credit Union owns and operates 16 Automated Banking Machines (“ABMs”) located in its branches. The
Credit Union is also linked to the Interac, Cirrus, Plus and Acculink networks and is a member of The
Exchange® Network, giving members access to their accounts at point of sale terminals and ABMs well beyond
its own branch network and throughout Ontario, Canada, and internationally.
The Credit Union offers its members credit cards through an arrangement with a third party discussed at page
37. The Credit Union does not hold the accounts receivable owing from its credit card holders.
Lending Services
The Credit Union is permitted to offer Personal Loans, Mortgage Loans, Bridge Loans, Commercial Loans,
Agricultural Loans, Institutional Loans, Syndicated Loans and Unincorporated Association Loans, up to limits
defined in its lending policies, which are required by regulation to meet a “prudent person” standard. The Credit
Union is also subject to a limit on loans to any one person and their “connected persons”, as that phrase is
defined in a regulation passed pursuant to the Act, of 25.0% of its Regulatory Capital. The Board has approved,
and management follows, its lending policies in all areas to minimize the risk of loan losses. A variety of loanrelated group insurance products are also available to members for Personal Loans and Mortgage Loans.
Personal Loans
Personal Loans consist of instalment loans, demand loans, and lines of credit. According to the Credit Union’s
credit risk management policy, Personal Loans are limited to 15.0% of the Credit Union’s total assets, and the
amount of individual unsecured, secured, and cash-secured Personal Loans are limited to amounts specified in
the policy. As at April 30, 2019, the Credit Union’s Personal Loan portfolio totalled $13.0 million, and
represented 0.3% of the Credit Union’s total assets.
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Residential Mortgages
The Credit Union offers Mortgage Loans and Bridge Loans to its members. It grants Mortgage Loans to
individuals according to conventional mortgage lending standards for residential property. As of April 30,
2019, approximately 65.1% of the Credit Union’s portfolio of Mortgage Loans consists of conventional
mortgages, including near-prime Mortgage Loans; the remainder are mortgages insured by the Canada
Mortgage and Housing Corporation, Genworth Financial or Canada Guaranty.
According to the Credit Union’s credit risk management policy, Mortgage Loans and Bridge Loans are limited
to 90.0% of the Credit Union’s total assets, and the amount of any individual Mortgage Loan or Bridge Loan is
limited to amounts specified in the policy. As at April 30, 2019, the Credit Union’s portfolio of Mortgage
Loans and Bridge Loans totalled $2.1 billion and represented 51.6% of the Credit Union’s total assets.
The Credit Union originates near-prime Mortgage Loans through multiple channels, including its proprietary
branch and mobile mortgage specialist channels. The near-prime Mortgage Loan program is limited to 20% of
total Mortgage Loans and as of April 30, 2019 represented 16.4% of the Credit Union’s Mortgage Loans.
The Credit Union has an agreement with Rainmaker BDM Services Inc. (“Rainmaker”) whereby Rainmaker
refers pre-screened “near-prime” mortgage applications to the Credit Union and provides certain assistance to
the Credit Union in closing the Mortgage Loan if desired. As of April 30, 2019, this near-prime channel
represents 5.7% of the of the Credit Union’s Mortgage Loans. Please see page 37 for further details of this
agreement.
The Credit Union has an agreement with Paradigm Quest Inc. (“PQI”) for the underwriting and servicing on
the Credit Union’s behalf of the Mortgage Loans referred to it by the mortgage brokers with whom the Credit
Union deals. Mortgage Loans referred to the Credit Union by mortgage brokers as of April 30, 2019 represented
21.8% of the Credit Union’s total assets.
The Credit Union uses securitization of Mortgage Loans as another funding tool to strengthen its liquidity
position. The limits on securitization outlined in the Credit Union’s securitization policy are discussed with
respect to the Credit Union’s liquidity risk beginning at page 22. The Credit Union is in compliance with
regulatory and policy limits on its minimum liquidity levels.
Commercial Loans
Commercial lending consists of mortgages, term loans and operating lines of credit to small and medium-sized
businesses within the Credit Union’s bond of association, and mortgages that do not meet the definition of a
Mortgage Loan because the property is non-owner-occupied, multi-unit residential, or non-residential property.
According to the Credit Union’s credit risk management policy, Commercial Loans are limited to 42.0% of the
Credit Union’s total assets, and the amount of individual Commercial Loans are also limited. As at April 30,
2019, the Credit Union’s Commercial Loan portfolio totalled $927.0 million, and represented 22.8% of the
Credit Union’s total assets.
Institutional Loans
Institutional Loans are loans to the federal or a provincial, territorial or municipal government or governmental
agency, a school board or college funded primarily by the federal or a provincial or territorial government, or
an entity funded primarily by the federal or a provincial or municipal government. According to the Credit
Union’s credit risk management policy, Institutional Loans are limited to 10.0% of the Credit Union’s total
assets, and the amount of individual Institutional Loans are also limited. As at April 30, 2019, the Credit Union
has no Institutional Loans.
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Agricultural Loans
Agricultural Loans consist of mortgages, term loans and operating lines of credit to all types of agricultural
businesses. According to the Credit Union’s credit risk management policy, Agricultural Loans are limited to
5.0% of the Credit Union’s total assets, and the amount of individual Agricultural Loans are also limited. As
at April 30, 2019, the Credit Union’s Agricultural Loan portfolio totalled $0.3 million, and represented .01%
of the Credit Union’s total assets.
Unincorporated Association Loans
Unincorporated Association Loans consist of any loan made to an unincorporated association or organization
that is not a partnership, and that is operated on a non-profit basis for educational, benevolent, fraternal,
charitable, religious or recreational purposes. According to the Credit Union’s credit risk management policy,
Unincorporated Association Loans are limited to 5.0% of the Credit Union’s total assets, and the amount of
individual Unincorporated Association Loans are also limited. As at April 30, 2019, the Credit Union’s
Unincorporated Association Loan portfolio totalled $50.3 million, and represented 1.2% of the Credit Union’s
total assets.
Syndicated Loans
Syndicated Loans are loans made by a syndicating credit union and other financial institutions pursuant to a
syndicated loan agreement, enabling several lenders to cooperate in making a larger loan than any one of them
would have been able or willing to offer to the borrower individually. As at April 30, 2019, the Credit Union’s
Syndicated Loan portfolio totalled $318.8 million, comprising Syndicated Loans led by DUCA and DUCA
participations in Syndicated Loans led by other financial institutions, and represented 7.8% of the Credit
Union’s total assets.
Summary Lending Comments
For further information regarding any of these loan portfolios, see the “Loan Composition” heading in the table
presented in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” section at page 97, Note 6 in the Credit Union’s
audited financial statements, on pages 24 through 26 of Schedule A hereto, and note 5 in the Credit Union’s
interim condensed financial statements, on pages 10 through 12 of Schedule B hereto.
Mission and Purpose Statement
The Credit Union’s mission and purpose statement is to help people and businesses Do More, Be More, &
Achieve More with their money and their lives.
Corporate Social Responsibility
The Credit Union has adopted the practice of allocating at least 3.5% of its pre-tax profit to donations and
community sponsorships. To facilitate a portion of these efforts, the Credit Union has registered a private
foundation, The DUCA Impact Lab, which works with other registered charities and not-for-profits to focus on
three areas: to educate and provide credit to underbanked individuals to incentivize better behaviours and move
these individuals away from accessing high-cost credit and towards more mainstream banking relationships, to
provide accreditation loans to foreign-trained professionals to enable them to have their foreign credentials
assessed and complete any necessary training so that they can practice their profession in Canada, and to assist
underbanked entrepreneurs to better manage and smooth their cash flow.
Bond of Association and Membership
The Act requires that a bond of association exist among members of a credit union. Typically, such bonds of
association may be community-based, employer-based, or otherwise based on a group of members with a form
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of common association. The Credit Union’s bond of association purports to permit any person resident
anywhere in Canada to become a member of the Credit Union. Legal counsel has advised the Credit Union of
the risks of contravening the laws of another jurisdiction by admitting any person to membership who is not
resident in Ontario, and the Credit Union only admits to membership persons resident in Ontario.
Membership in the Credit Union is granted to applicants who are within the bond of association by enabling
them to purchase and hold the required number of Membership Shares as specified in paragraphs 2.03 of the
by-laws of the Credit Union. This section requires members to hold 1 one-dollar membership share of the
Credit Union.
Members may also, if they choose to do so, hold up to 1,000 additional Membership Shares in the Credit Union,
at a total purchase price of $1,000.00.
Corporate Governance
The business of the Credit Union is directed and governed by its Board, a group of nine individuals who are
elected prior to the annual general meeting of the Credit Union pursuant to a procedure outlined in the Credit
Union’s bylaws, by the members of the Credit Union in full compliance with the Credit Union’s Membership
Share requirement who have attained the age of 16 years as of the date of the annual general meeting. Each
director is elected for a three-year term on a staggered basis to provide for continuity of Board members. No
class or series of shares, other than Membership Shares, carries the right to vote for the Credit Union’s Board.
No person may serve as a director of the Credit Union for more than 15 years since the Credit Union’s creation
by amalgamation.
The knowledge, experience and skill of each director and the Board as a whole are important elements in the
success and viability of the Credit Union. It is important that directors have appropriate competencies to
effectively fulfill their responsibilities to the Credit Union, its members and shareholders, and, thereby,
contribute to the safety and soundness of the Ontario credit union system.
The Credit Union has established guidelines and processes to ensure that its directors understand, meet and
maintain appropriate competency requirements. The Credit Union requires its directors to possess a “strong”
rating in nine core competencies within 24 months of their election to the Board. Audit Committee members
are required to attain the same standard within 12 months, and the Audit Committee and Board chairs are
required to attain that standard within 6 months. A “strong” rating requires directors to apply and demonstrate
these competencies through a combination of education, practical work experience, previous board experience
and advanced director training. In relation to the practical application of their competencies, directors are
expected to ensure information provided is sufficient to support analysis and provide recommendations, and to
be actively involved in Board meetings and in the Credit Union’s long-range planning. Once the directors
complete their self-assessments, the Credit Union prepares development plans for all directors, and the directors
undertake any required training/development requirements in order to achieve these competencies within the
established timelines. Once minimum requirements are met, directors continue their education through
scheduled training courses, on-line courses, seminars and conferences. The Board also retains the services of a
Securitization Expert as required by the Regulator due to the Credit Union’s level of securitization activities.
The Board has established committees to assist in its effective functioning and to comply with the requirements
of the Act. An Audit Committee has been formed and is composed of at least three members of the Board. Its
mandate and duties are set out in the Regulations to the Act. The Audit Committee is responsible for, among
other things, reviewing any financial statements which are presented to the members, either at an annual general
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meeting or within an offering statement, and making recommendations to the Board as to the approval of such
financial statements.
The Risk Committee has been formed and is composed of at least three members of the Board. The Risk
Committee is a standing committee of the Board to which the Board has delegated responsibility for overseeing
the effective operation of all risk-taking operations and risk management functions of the Credit Union and
ensuring appropriate risk governance processes are executed effectively. The Risk Committee reviews the risk
activities of the Credit Union, the associated corporate policies and any significant and emerging events and
related action plans and recommends improvements or changes to the Board as deemed necessary or desirable.
The Credit Union has adopted an enterprise risk management policy discussed beginning at page 19, which
requires the Risk Committee to monitor the overall risk framework and risk policy, review management reports
and obtain reasonable assurances that the Credit Union has effective risk management processes in place and is
adhering to all management policies.
The Board has overall responsibility for and authority within the Credit Union, and directs the activities of the
Chief Executive Officer, to whom it has delegated certain responsibilities according to Board policies. The
Credit Union has senior management as outlined on pages 32 through 34 of the offering statement. The Credit
Union has 293 employees, consisting of 257 full-time and 36 part-time employees, the part-time employees
equating to 22 full-time positions. For the names, municipality of residence, offices with the Credit Union and
the present principal occupations of the directors and senior managers of the Credit Union as of the date of this
offering statement, see “Directors and Senior Management”, beginning on page 32 of the offering statement.
The duties, powers and standards of care and performance for boards of directors, officers and committee
members of credit unions are specified in the Act and the regulations passed pursuant to it, and include a duty
to act honestly, in good faith, and with a view to the best interest of the credit union, and to exercise the degree
of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances.
Business Strategy & Priorities
The Credit Union’s strategic roadmap focuses on four key themes:
•
•
•
•

Business Growth
Brand Awareness, Promotion and Community Development
Service, Technology & Operational Excellence
Financial Strength and Corporate Development

This focus will allow for the evolution of the Credit Union into a “high-touch/high-tech” financial services provider.

In order to evolve, the Credit Union’s strategic tactics for its current fiscal year include:
•

working towards becoming a more member-centric organization characterized by member-facing staff
who are seen as “financial life coaches” supporting members throughout every major life milestone,
with the entire organization focused on improving the member experience in every decision made;

•

the replacement of its core banking system and the conversion of all member records from the old to the new
system;

•
•

executing the move of head office and administrative staff to their new location;
continuing work on employee morale, engagement, and alignment with the Credit Union’s mission and
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•
•

purpose statement;
building on the momentum of the last few years; and
envisioning the longer-term future.

This strategy includes consideration and preparation for a move to some form of federal structure over the
next two or three years to enable operations throughout Canada, as well as asset purchases or amalgamation
opportunities which may arise, although the Credit Union is not actively involved in discussions with any
other party as of the date of this offering statement.
The Regulatory Framework
The Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires Act, 1994 (See also “Capital Adequacy”, on pages 8 and 9)
Ontario credit unions are regulated through a comprehensive regulatory framework which involves the Ministry
of Finance and the Financial Services Regulatory Authority of Ontario (“FSRA”), which was created with effect
from June 8, 2019 on the amalgamation of the Financial Services Commission of Ontario (“FSCO”) and the
Deposit Insurance Corporation of Ontario (“DICO”). The credit union sector is governed by the Act.
The Ministry of Finance is responsible for developing and proposing the legislation and regulations that credit
unions must follow.
FSRA is a self-funded provincial Crown corporation and an independent regulatory agency formed among other
purposes to improve consumer protection in the Ontario credit union sector.
FSRA is responsible for ensuring that credit unions operate in accordance with the requirements of the Act,
particularly with respect to issues involving market conduct relating to members and the general public. FSRA
is responsible for incorporating credit unions and caisses populaires, approving changes to their articles of
incorporation, as well as for certain approvals under the Act, and for reviewing complaints against credit unions
and caisses populaires.
FSRA is also responsible for overseeing compliance with solvency rules and for providing deposit insurance
protection for deposits held in Ontario credit unions up to prescribed limits. As part of this responsibility, FSRA
has the authority to issue by-laws to ensure that insured institutions operate in accordance with sound business
and financial practices. The Act sets out the general terms for deposit insurance and other governing
parameters. FSRA may place a credit union or caisse populaire in a depositor protection program such as
Supervision or Administration, or cancel its deposit insurance, if it believes that a credit union or caisse
populaire is conducting its affairs in a way that might be expected to harm the interests of members or depositors
or that tends to increase the risk of claims by depositors against FSRA. FSRA’s predecessor DICO has rated
the Credit Union on its differential premium system, enabling calculation of the Credit Union’s deposit
insurance premium for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2019, and its insurance is in place and in good
standing regarding that fiscal year. The Credit Union is required to report to FSRA immediately any actual or
anticipated event which is likely to have a material impact on the Credit Union’s financial position and increase
FSRA’s insurance risk. In that event, FSRA reserves the right to impose other terms, conditions, or
requirements as FSRA deems appropriate.
Central 1 Credit Union
Each province in Canada has one or more central credit unions that serve their member credit unions in the
province, and, in Ontario, one of these bodies is Central 1 Credit Union (“Central 1”). Central 1 was formed
through a merger of Credit Union Central of British Columbia (“CUCBC”) and Credit Union Central of
Ontario (“CUCO”) on July 1, 2008. As an incorporated association owned by its 106 (as of December 31,
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2018) member credit unions in Ontario (65 credit unions) and British Columbia (41 member credit unions),
Central 1 provides liquidity management, wholesale financial, digital banking, payments, and trade
association services to its member credit unions.
As the central banker for its member credit unions, Central 1 provides, through an arrangement with a third party,
centralized cheque clearing, and itself provides lending services to member credit unions. Lending services
include overdraft facilities, demand loans, and term loans at fixed and variable rates.
Central 1 also undertakes economic forecasting, and market research and planning.
As a member of the Canadian Credit Union Association ("CCUA"), Central 1 and its member credit unions enjoy
access to national marketing and research, and a voice in the World Council of Credit Unions, a world-wide
association of national credit union associations of which CCUA is a member.
Through CCUA, Central 1 and its member credit unions also have access to national government relations
efforts.
To become a member of Central 1, the Credit Union must purchase membership shares calculated based on the
percentage of its total assets relative to the system’s total assets as of the preceding calendar year end. The Credit
Union must also maintain a liquidity reserve deposit at Central 1 equal to 6% of its total assets and pay membership
dues which are calculated using a formula which is based on the Credit Union's membership. As at April 30, 2019,
the Credit Union’s membership in Central 1 is in good standing.
Tier I and Tier II Regulatory Capital
Capital is defined in the general regulation passed pursuant to the Act as the Credit Union’s Tier 1 capital and
Tier 2 capital. Tier 1 capital, regarded as the most permanent form of capital, includes the Credit Union’s
Membership Shares, retained earnings, its Class B Investment Shares, Series 1, 3 and 4, and its Class A Shares,
Series 1, and Class B Investment Shares, Series 2, issued prior to 2009, which are not eligible to be redeemed
in the twelve months following the date of the reporting of Regulatory Capital. The Credit Union’s Tier 2
capital includes the remaining Class A Shares, Series 1, and Class B Investment Shares, Series 1, 2, 3 and 4,
and a portion of the Credit Union’s collective loan provision. A credit union, to the extent that its Tier 2 capital
exceeds its Tier 1 capital, may not include the excess Tier 2 capital as Regulatory Capital. Since the Credit
Union’s Tier 1 capital at all times exceeds its Tier 2 capital, both its Tier 1 capital and also its Tier 2 capital are
included in Regulatory Capital.
Changes to the Act are currently under consideration. Any such changes may impact the treatment of shares
issued by the Credit Union, including the Class B Investment Shares Series 4, as Regulatory Capital.
Capital Adequacy
The Act requires the Credit Union to maintain a Leverage Ratio and a Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio equal to or
greater than a percentage stated in the Regulations passed pursuant to the Act.
The Credit Union is required to maintain a minimum Leverage Ratio of 4.0%. DUCA’s Board of Directors has
established a minimum Leverage Ratio of 4.75%. The Leverage Ratio of 4.4% was below the Board policy but
above the FSRA minimum requirement at April 30, 2019. The variance to the Board policy resulted from
significant growth in the balance sheet from the successful Earn More Savings Account (“EMSA”) campaign.
The Credit Union is required to maintain a Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 8.0%. DUCA’s Board of Directors
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has established a minimum Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 10.5%. The Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 11.0%
was above both of these requirements at April 30, 2019.
Based on the total assets and regulatory capital at April 30, 2019, the Credit Union's Leverage Ratio would
increase to 4.7% if this offering is minimally subscribed and to 8.6% if fully subscribed. Based upon the Credit
Union's April 30, 2019 balance sheet, this offering would support additional growth of $0.7 billion if minimally
subscribed, and $4.7 billion if fully subscribed, while still maintaining the Leverage Ratio at no less than the
regulatory minimum requirement of 4.0%.
The growth possible for the Credit Union, if this offering is fully or minimally subscribed, is calculated as
follows. If this offering is fully subscribed, the Credit Union will have Regulatory Capital of $350.3 million.
Dividing this amount of Regulatory Capital by the required Leverage Ratio of 4.0% reveals that the Credit
Union would then have sufficient Regulatory Capital to support assets of $8.8 billion. Subtracting from this
level of assets the Credit Union’s total assets as reported on its April 30, 2019 balance sheet indicates that the
Credit Union could grow by approximately $4.7 billion if this offering is fully subscribed. The Credit Union’s
Leverage Ratio in this case will be 8.6%, assuming no growth from the assets disclosed on the Credit Union’s
financial statements as at April 30, 2019.
Any mix of Regulatory Capital that consists of more shares than retained earnings raises some concern about
the sufficiency of the Credit Union’s reserves to absorb significant adverse events without resulting in loss to
the shareholders of the Credit Union. Board and management of the Credit Union will monitor its mix of
Regulatory Capital and anticipate that growth in retained earnings will in time result in retained earnings again
exceeding shares. Board and management, however, do not currently anticipate that retained earnings will
exceed shares in the next five years.
If this offering is only minimally subscribed, however, the Credit Union will have Regulatory Capital of $190.2
million. Dividing this level of Regulatory Capital by the required Leverage Ratio of 4.0% reveals that the
Credit Union would then have sufficient Regulatory Capital to support assets of $4.8 billion. Subtracting from
this level of assets the Credit Union’s total assets as reported on its April 30, 2019 balance sheet indicates that
the Credit Union could grow by approximately $0.7 billion if this offering is minimally subscribed. The Credit
Union’s Leverage Ratio in this case would be 4.7%, assuming no growth from the assets disclosed on the Credit
Union’s financial statements as at April 30, 2019.
Additional Information
For more information regarding the Credit Union’s operations, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”
beginning on page 40, the audited financial statements as at December 31, 2018 attached hereto as Schedule A,
and the interim condensed financial statements as at April 30, 2019 attached hereto as Schedule B.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE OF THE CREDIT UNION
The Credit Union has three classes of shares in its capital structure: Membership Shares, Class A Special Shares
(the “Class A Shares”), and Class B Special Shares (the “Class B Shares”), of which both classes are issuable
in series. The Credit Union has created and authorized one series of Class A Shares (the “Class A Shares,
Series 1”), and has created and authorized four series of the Class B Shares (the “Class B Investment Shares,
Series 1”, the “Class B Investment Shares, Series 2”, the “Class B Investment Shares, Series 3”, and the “Class
B Investment Shares, Series 4”).
DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
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The following represents a summary of the rights of the Membership Shares, the Class A Shares, Series 1, and
the Class B Investment Shares, Series 1, 2 and 3, in the capital structure of the Credit Union regarding dividends,
return of capital on dissolution, redeemability at the holder’s initiative, redeemability at the Credit Union’s
initiative, voting, and treatment of shares as Regulatory Capital. A discussion of the terms and conditions of
the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, follows at page 16 under the heading “Description of Securities Being
Offered”.

Right
Dividends

Membership
Shares

Class A Shares,
Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3

The holders of the
Membership
Shares are
entitled, after
payment of
dividends to
holders of the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
2, and 3, and of
the Class A
Shares, Series 1,
of the Credit
Union, to receive
Non-Cumulative
cash or share
dividends if, as
and when
declared by the
Board. Dividends
may be paid in
the form of cash
or Class A
Shares, Series 1.
Dividends are
taxed as interest
income and not as
dividends.

The holders of
Class A Shares,
Series 1, are
entitled, in
preference to the
holders of the
Membership
Shares to receive
Non-Cumulative
cash or share
dividends if, as,
and when
declared by the
Board. Holders
of Class A
Shares, Series 1,
may, however,
consent, by
majority vote at
a special
meeting, to the
prior payment of
dividends to
holders of a
junior class of
shares.
Dividends are
taxed as interest
income and not
as dividends.

The holders of
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
are entitled, in
preference to the
holders of the
Class A Shares,
Series 1, and the
Membership
Shares, but
equally with the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2
and 3, to receive
Non-Cumulative
cash or share
dividends if, as,
and when
declared by the
Board. Holders
of Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
may, however,
consent, by
majority vote at
a special
meeting, to the
prior payment of
dividends to
holders of a
junior class of
shares.
Dividends are
taxed as interest
income and not
as dividends.

The holders of
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
are entitled, in
preference to the
holders of the
Class A Shares,
Series 1, and the
Membership
Shares, but
equally with the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1
and 3, to receive
Non-Cumulative
cash or share
dividends if, as,
and when
declared by the
Board. Holders
of Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
may, however,
consent, by
majority vote at
a special
meeting, to the
prior payment of
dividends to
holders of a
junior class of
shares.
Dividends are
taxed as interest
income and not
as dividends.

The holders of
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
are entitled, in
preference to the
holders of the
Class A Shares,
Series 1, and the
Membership
Shares, but
equally with the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1
and 2, to receive
Non-Cumulative
cash or share
dividends if, as,
and when
declared by the
Board. Holders
of Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
may, however,
consent, by
majority vote at
a special
meeting, to the
prior payment of
dividends to
holders of a
junior class of
shares.
Dividends are
taxed as interest
income and not
as dividends.
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Right
Return of
capital on
dissolution

Redeemability
at the holder’s
initiative
(Retraction)

Membership
Shares

Class A Shares,
Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3

The holders of the
Membership
Shares are
entitled, on
dissolution of the
Credit Union, to
receive an amount
representing
equal portions of
the assets or
property of the
Credit Union
remaining after
payment of all the
Credit Union's
debts and
obligations,
including
redemption of the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
2, and 3, and the
Class A Shares,
Series 1.

The holders of
Class A Shares,
Series 1, are
entitled, in
preference to the
holders of the
Membership
Shares, to
receive the
Redemption
Amount for each
share held upon
the liquidation,
dissolution, or
winding up of
the Credit Union,
after payment of
all of the Credit
Union’s other
debts and
obligations,
including
redemption of
the Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
2, and 3.

Membership
Shares are not
redeemable at the
member’s
initiative. See,
however, the
Credit
Union’s
obligation to
redeem
Membership
Shares at its
initiative upon the
death or
withdrawal or
expulsion from
membership of a
member, as
outlined under the
heading

Class A Shares,
Series 1, may
require retraction
of the shares
they hold at any
time one year or
more after the
shares are
issued; however,
any retractions
which occur for
any reason other
than the death of
the shareholder
within the first
six years after
the shares are
issued occur at a
discount, which
decreases over

The holders of
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
are entitled, in
preference to the
holders of the
Class A Shares,
Series 1, and of
the Membership
Shares, but
rateably with the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2
and 3, to receive
the Redemption
Amount for each
share held upon
the liquidation,
dissolution, or
winding up of
the Credit Union,
after payment of
all of the Credit
Union’s other
debts and
obligations.
Holders of the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
may generally
require retraction
of the shares
they hold at any
time five years
or more after the
shares are issued
(which, in the
case of Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
issued by the
Credit Union at
its creation by
amalgamation, is
the date on

The holders of
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
are entitled, in
preference to the
holders of the
Class A Shares,
Series 1, and of
the Membership
Shares, but
rateably with the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1
and 3, to receive
the Redemption
Amount for each
share held upon
the liquidation,
dissolution, or
winding up of
the Credit Union,
after payment of
all of the Credit
Union’s other
debts and
obligations.
Holders of the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
may generally
require retraction
of the shares
they hold at any
time three years
or more after the
shares are issued
(which, in the
case of Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
issued by the
Credit Union at
its creation by
amalgamation, is
the date on

The holders of
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
are entitled, in
preference to the
holders of the
Class A Shares,
Series 1, and of
the Membership
Shares, but
rateably with the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1
and 2, to receive
the Redemption
Amount for each
share held upon
the liquidation,
dissolution, or
winding up of
the Credit Union,
after payment of
all of the Credit
Union’s other
debts and
obligations.
Holders of the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
may generally
require retraction
of the shares
they hold at any
time five years
or more after the
shares are issued
(which, in the
case of Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
issued by the
Credit Union at
its creation by
amalgamation, is
the date on
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Membership
Shares

Class A Shares,
Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3

“Redeemability at
the Credit
Union’s
initiative”, below.

time. In no
event shall the
total number of
Class A Shares,
Series 1,
redeemed by the
Credit Union in
any fiscal year
exceed 10.0% of
the issued and
outstanding
Class A Shares,
Series 1,
reported on the
Credit Union’s
audited financial
statements for
the preceding
fiscal year, and
in no case shall a
redemption
occur which
would cause the
Credit Union to
fail to comply
with Regulatory
Capital and
liquidity
requirements.

which the shares
were first issued
by Virtual One
Credit Union
Limited).
Holders of the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
who are expelled
from
membership in
the Credit Union,
or who have
died, however,
may require
retraction at any
time, regardless
of the date on
which the shares
were issued. In
no case shall the
total number of
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
redeemed by the
Credit Union in
any fiscal year
exceed 10.0% of
the issued and
outstanding
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
reported on the
Credit Union’s
audited financial
statements for
the preceding
fiscal year, and
in no case shall a
redemption
occur which
would cause the
Credit Union to
fail to comply
with Regulatory

which the shares
were first issued
by Virtual One
Credit Union
Limited).
Holders of the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
who are expelled
from
membership in
the Credit Union,
or who have
died, however,
may require
retraction at any
time, regardless
of the date on
which the shares
were issued. In
no case shall the
total number of
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
redeemed by the
Credit Union in
any fiscal year
exceed 10.0% of
the issued and
outstanding
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
reported on the
Credit Union’s
audited financial
statements for
the preceding
fiscal year, and
in no case shall a
redemption
occur which
would cause the
Credit Union to
fail to comply
with Regulatory

which the shares
were issued by
Virtual One
Credit Union
Limited).
Holders of the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
who are expelled
from
membership in
the Credit Union,
or who have
died, however,
may require
retraction at any
time, regardless
of the date on
which the shares
were issued. In
no case shall the
total number of
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
redeemed by the
Credit Union in
any fiscal year
exceed 10.0% of
the issued and
outstanding
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
reported on the
Credit Union’s
audited financial
statements for
the preceding
fiscal year, and
in no case shall a
redemption
occur which
would cause the
Credit Union to
fail to comply
with Regulatory

Right
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Membership
Shares

Class A Shares,
Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3

Capital and
liquidity
requirements.
The Credit
Union may at its
initiative
redeem, subject
to continued
compliance with
Regulatory
Capital and
liquidity
requirements, at
the Redemption
Amount, all or
any portion of
the Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
outstanding at
any time five
years or more
after the shares
are issued.

Capital and
liquidity
requirements.
The Credit
Union may at its
initiative
redeem, subject
to continued
compliance with
Regulatory
Capital and
liquidity
requirements, at
the Redemption
Amount, all or
any portion of
the Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
outstanding at
any time five
years or more
after the shares
are issued.

Capital and
liquidity
requirements.
The Credit
Union may at its
initiative
redeem, subject
to continued
compliance with
Regulatory
Capital and
liquidity
requirements, at
the Redemption
Amount, all or
any portion of
the Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
outstanding at
any time five
years or more
after the shares
are issued.

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
do not carry any
voting rights,
except when the
Act requires that
these shares
carry voting
rights. The Act
requires that
these shares have
voting rights at a
meeting of the
holders of the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1
when the Credit
Union is seeking

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
do not carry any
voting rights,
except when the
Act requires that
these shares
carry voting
rights. The Act
requires that
these shares have
voting rights at a
meeting of the
holders of the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
when the Credit
Union is seeking

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
do not carry any
voting rights,
except when the
Act requires that
these shares
carry voting
rights. The Act
requires that
these shares have
voting rights at a
meeting of the
holders of the
Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
when the Credit
Union is seeking

Right

Redeemability
at the Credit
Union’s
initiative

Voting

Upon a member’s
death or
withdrawal or
expulsion from
membership in
the Credit Union,
the Credit Union
must redeem the
Membership
Shares held at the
amount paid up
for each such
Membership
Share, plus any
declared but
unpaid dividends
thereon, unless
such redemption
would cause the
Credit Union to
fail to comply
with Regulatory
Capital and
liquidity
requirements.
Each member of
the Credit Union
in full compliance
with the Credit
Union’s
Membership
Share
requirement and
over the age of 16
years has one
vote on any
matter considered
by a meeting of
the members of
the Credit Union,
regardless of the
number of
Membership
Shares held.

The Credit
Union may at its
initiative
redeem, subject
to continued
compliance with
Regulatory
Capital and
liquidity
requirements, at
the Redemption
Amount, all or
any portion of
the Class A
Shares, Series 1,
outstanding at
any time five
years or more
after the shares
are issued.

Class A Shares,
Series 1, do not
carry any voting
rights, except
when the Act
requires that
these shares
carry voting
rights. The Act
requires that
these shares have
voting rights at a
meeting of the
holders of the
Class A Shares,
Series 1, when
the Credit Union
is seeking the
approval of those
shareholders for
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Membership
Shares

Class A Shares,
Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3

a fundamental
change (i.e., the
sale of more than
15% of the
Credit Union’s
assets, the
purchase of
assets valued at
more than 15%
of the Credit
Union’s assets,
the
amalgamation of
the Credit Union
with another
credit union, the
dissolution of the
Credit Union, an
amendment to
the Credit
Union’s articles
of incorporation
that directly
affect the terms
and conditions of
the Class A
Shares, Series 1,
or the
continuance of
the Credit Union
under the laws of
another
jurisdiction or
under another
Ontario statute).
Each Class A
Share, Series 1,
has one vote in
those
circumstances.

the approval of
those
shareholders for
a fundamental
change (i.e., the
sale of more than
15% of the
Credit Union’s
assets, the
purchase of
assets valued at
more than 15.0%
of the Credit
Union’s assets,
the
amalgamation of
the Credit Union
with another
credit union, the
dissolution of the
Credit Union, an
amendment to
the Credit
Union’s articles
of incorporation
that directly
affect the terms
and conditions of
the Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1,
or the
continuance of
the Credit Union
under the laws of
another
jurisdiction or
under another
Ontario statute).
Each Class B
Investment
Share, Series 1,
has one vote in
these
circumstances.
The Credit
Union includes
the Class B

the approval of
those
shareholders for
a fundamental
change (i.e., the
sale of more than
15% of the
Credit Union’s
assets, the
purchase of
assets valued at
more than 15.0%
of the Credit
Union’s assets,
the
amalgamation of
the Credit Union
with another
credit union, the
dissolution of the
Credit Union, an
amendment to
the Credit
Union’s articles
of incorporation
that directly
affect the terms
and conditions of
the Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2,
or the
continuance of
the Credit Union
under the laws of
another
jurisdiction or
under another
Ontario statute).
Each Class B
Investment
Share, Series 2,
has one vote in
these
circumstances.
The Credit
Union includes
the Class B

the approval of
those
shareholders for
a fundamental
change (i.e., the
sale of more than
15% of the
Credit Union’s
assets, the
purchase of
assets valued at
more than 15.0%
of the Credit
Union’s assets,
the
amalgamation of
the Credit Union
with another
credit union, the
dissolution of the
Credit Union, an
amendment to
the Credit
Union’s articles
of incorporation
that directly
affect the terms
and conditions of
the Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3,
or the
continuance of
the Credit Union
under the laws of
another
jurisdiction or
under another
Ontario statute).
Each Class B
Investment
Share, Series 3,
has one vote in
these
circumstances.
The Credit
Union includes
the Class B

Right

Treatment as
Regulatory
Capital

The Credit Union
includes all of its
Membership

The Credit
Union includes
the Class A
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Membership
Shares

Class A Shares,
Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 1

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2

Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 3

Shares as Tier 1
Regulatory
Capital.

Shares, Series 1,
not eligible for
redemption at
the shareholder’s
option in its
current fiscal
year, and which
were issued prior
to October 1,
2009, as Tier 1
Regulatory
Capital. The
Credit Union
includes the
remaining Class
A Shares, Series
1, which
includes all
Class A Shares,
Series 1 issued
on or after
October 1, 2009,
as Tier 2
Regulatory
Capital.

Investment
Shares, Series 1,
not eligible for
redemption at
the shareholder’s
option in its
current fiscal
year, as Tier 1
Regulatory
Capital. The
Credit Union
includes the
remaining Class
B Investment
Shares, Series 1,
as Tier 2
Regulatory
Capital.

Investment
Shares, Series 2,
not eligible for
redemption at
the shareholder’s
option in its
current fiscal
year and issued
prior to October
1, 2009, as Tier
1 Regulatory
Capital. The
Credit Union
includes the
remaining Class
B Investment
Shares, Series 2,
which includes
all Class B
Investment
Shares, Series 2
issued on or after
October 1, 2009,
as Tier 2
Regulatory
Capital.

Investment
Shares, Series 3,
not eligible for
redemption at
the shareholder’s
option in its
current fiscal
year, as Tier 1
Regulatory
Capital. The
Credit Union
includes the
remaining Class
B Investment
Shares, Series 3,
as Tier 2
Regulatory
Capital.

Right

The Credit Union is considering amendments to the terms and conditions of its Class A Shares, Series 1, which
will further improve the quality of those shares as Regulatory Capital. Any such changes will require approval
of the members and the holders of the Class A Shares, Series 1, by Special Resolution.
Capital is defined by its relative permanence (i.e., inability to be redeemed quickly), freedom from mandatory
fixed charges against the earnings of the Credit Union (e.g., cumulative dividends), and subordinate position to
the rights of depositors and other creditors of the Credit Union, who are paid the sums they are due before the
holders of capital receive any funds. Tier 1 capital qualifies as capital under all three definitions. Tier 2 capital,
in general, meets only two of the three definitions. A credit union, to the extent that its Tier 2 capital exceeds
its Tier 1 capital, may not include the excess Tier 2 capital as Regulatory Capital. A credit union’s membership
shares and retained earnings qualify as Tier 1 capital. Since the Credit Union’s Tier 1 capital at all times exceeds
its Tier 2 capital, both its Tier 1 capital and also its Tier 2 capital are included in Regulatory Capital.
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DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES BEING OFFERED
Class B Investment Shares, Series 4
Issue
Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, issuable at $1.00 each, will only be issued to members of the Credit Union.
If the purchaser is a natural person (i.e., an individual), he or she must be at least 18 years of age to purchase
Class B Investment Shares, Series 4. Legal persons (e.g., corporations, partnerships, and trusts) may purchase
Class B Investment Shares, Series 4.
Dividends
The holders of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, are entitled, in preference to holders of the Class A Shares,
Series 1, issued and outstanding, and of the Membership Shares, but equally with the holders of the Class B
Investment Shares, Series 1,2 and 3, to receive dividends if, as and when declared by the Board. Holders of the
Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, may, however, by majority vote at a special meeting, consent to the prior
payment of dividends to holders of a junior class of shares.
The payment of such dividends will be in cash, in additional Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, or in a
combination of both, and on such terms as may be determined from time to time by the Board.
For a discussion of the Credit Union’s dividend policy regarding Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, see pages
27 and 28.
Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations
The following summary has been prepared by management of the principal Canadian federal income tax
consequences applicable to a holder of a Class B Investment Share, Series 4, who acquires the share pursuant
to this offering and who, for the purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Act”), is resident in Canada
and holds the share as capital property.
This summary is based on the facts contained in this offering statement and based upon managements’
understanding of the provisions of the Act and the regulations thereunder as they currently exist and current
published administrative policies and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency (the “CRA”). This
summary takes into account specific proposals to amend the Act and the regulations thereunder that have been
publicly announced by the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof. There can be no assurance
that these proposals will be enacted in their current form or at all, or that the CRA will not change its
administrative and assessing practices.
This summary does not otherwise take into account or anticipate any changes in law, whether by legislative,
governmental or judicial decision or action. This summary does not also take into account provincial, territorial
or foreign tax legislation or considerations. No advance income tax ruling has been requested or obtained in
connection with this offering statement, and there is a risk that the CRA may have a different view of the income
tax consequences to holders from that described herein. INVESTORS ARE CAUTIONED THAT THIS
COMMENTARY IS OF A GENERAL NATURE ONLY AND IS NOT INTENDED TO CONSTITUTE
ADVICE TO ANY PARTICULAR INVESTOR. INVESTORS SHOULD SEEK INDEPENDENT ADVICE
FROM THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS.
Dividends
A holder of a Class B Investment Share, Series 4, will be required to include in computing income the
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dividends paid on the shares, whether paid in cash or in the form of additional shares. Dividends paid to a
holder of a Class B Investment Share, Series 4, are deemed to be interest for Canadian income tax purposes.
This income will be subject to income tax in the same manner as other interest income.
Redemption
On a redemption of a Class B Investment Share, Series 4, to the extent that the redemption proceeds exceed
the paid-up capital of the share, the excess is deemed to be interest received by the holder of the Class B
Investment Share, Series 4. This interest must be included in computing the income of the holder in the
year of redemption. The proceeds of disposition under these circumstances are reduced by the amount of
deemed interest. To the extent that the proceeds of disposition exceed (or are exceeded by) the adjusted
cost base and reasonable disposition costs, a capital gain (or capital loss) may be realized and taxed as
described below.
Other Dispositions
The disposition of a Class B Investment Share, Series 4, to another member, may give rise to a capital gain
(or capital loss) to the extent that the proceeds of disposition exceed (or are exceeded by) the aggregate of
the adjusted cost base of the Class B Investment Share, Series 4, and reasonable disposition costs. Onehalf of the capital gain is included in computing the income of the holder of the Class B Investment Share,
Series 4, and one-half of any capital loss may be deducted but only against capital gains of the holder.
Unused capital losses may be carried back to the three preceding taxation years to offset capital gains in
those years, and they may be carried forward indefinitely. Under certain specific circumstances, the capital
loss may be denied and therefore not available to offset capital gains of the holder. In addition, if certain
criteria are met, an allowable capital loss may be considered a business investment loss and may be applied
to reduce other income of the holder. This loss or a portion thereof may be carried back to the three
preceding taxation years to reduce income in those years and may be carried forward for 10 taxation years
before reverting to the net capital loss.
The Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will be a qualified investment for registered plans (i.e., RRSP,
TFSA). The transfer of any shares by a holder to a registered plan constitutes a disposition of the shares
by the holder for income tax purposes. In such circumstances, the holder is deemed to receive the proceeds
of disposition for the shares equal to their fair market value at that time of such transfer, and this amount
is included in computing the capital gain or loss from the disposition. Any capital loss arising on such
disposition is denied to the shareholder. Interest expense related to shares transferred to an RRSP is not
deductible for income tax purposes.
RRSP, RRIF and TFSA-Eligible
Concentra Trust will accept Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, purchased in this offering to be contributed to
a member’s RRSP, RRIF or TFSA. The proceeds of redemption or transfer of Class B Investment Shares, Series
1, held in a RRSP, RRIF or TFSA will remain inside that RRSP, RRIF or TFSA, as applicable, unless the
annuitant specifically requests otherwise in writing.
Note, however, that the Credit Union will permit purchasers to hold Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, inside
a RRIF only if they acknowledge in writing that the Credit Union will satisfy the minimum annual payment
requirement from the RRIF by transferring an amount of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, sufficient to
satisfy that required payment in kind from the RRIF into a non-registered account. Members intending to hold
Class B Investment Shares, Series 1, in a RRSP or RRIF should carefully review the transfer and redemption
restrictions of these shares.
DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
Offering Statement, Class B Investment Shares, Series 4

Page 17

Rights on Distributions of Capital
On liquidation or dissolution, holders of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will be paid the Redemption
Amount for each such share held, in priority to holders of the Class A Shares, Series 1, and of the Membership
Shares, but rateably with the Class B Investment Shares, Series 1, 2 and 3, and after provision for payment of
all the Credit Union’s other debts and obligations. Holders of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, shall not
thereafter be entitled, as holders of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, to participate in the distribution of the
Credit Union’s assets then remaining, but will retain any rights they may have to such a distribution as holders
of Class A Shares, Series 1, or of Membership Shares. Distributions regarding Class B Investment Shares,
Series 4, held in an RRSP or RRIF will remain in that RRSP or RRIF unless the annuitant specifically requests
otherwise in writing.
Voting Rights
The Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, are Non-Voting for the purposes of annual or special meetings of the
members of the Credit Union. In the event of a proposed dissolution, amalgamation, continuance, purchase of
assets representing a Substantial Portion of the Credit Union’s assets, the sale, lease or transfer of a Substantial
Portion of its assets, or a proposed resolution which affects the rights attaching to the Class B Investment Shares,
Series 4, it shall hold a special meeting of the holders of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, which may be
held separately from the special meeting of the holders of any other series of Class B Shares, if any, if their
rights are affected differently from those of the holders of any other series of Class B Shares. The holders of
Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, shall have one vote per Class B Investment Share, Series 4, held at such
meetings to consider such an event or resolution, which requires approval by Special Resolution. Approval at
a meeting of the members of the Credit Union, and at meetings of the holders of all other classes of shares in
its capital structure, including the Class A Shares, Series 1, will also be required.
Redemption Provisions and Restrictions
Holders of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, may not request that the Credit Union redeem the shares they
hold until five years after the Issue Date of those shares as defined in this offering statement, which definition
is incorporated into the articles of amendment with respect to those shares, except where the holder dies or is
expelled from membership in the Credit Union. Redemptions are subject to the aggregate limits detailed below,
and, if the approval of any regulatory body having jurisdiction over the Credit Union of that redemption is
required by any applicable law, are subject to obtaining that regulatory approval.
Approval of any redemption request is in the sole and absolute discretion of the Board. The Board may not
approve a request if, in the opinion of the Board, honouring such redemption request will cause the Credit Union
to be unable to comply with the Regulatory Capital and liquidity requirements of section 84 of the Act.
In no case shall total redemptions approved for holders of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, in any fiscal
year exceed an amount equal to 10.0% of the total Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, outstanding at the end
of the previous fiscal year. The Board will approve redemption requests monthly, on a first come, first served
basis, as evidenced by the time and date to be marked on each request when received by the Credit Union.
Redemption requests not fulfilled during one fiscal year will be carried forward and considered at the first
meeting of the Board in the following fiscal year.
The Credit Union has the option of redeeming, at the Redemption Amount, all or any portion of the Class B
Investment Shares, Series 4, then outstanding, subject to restrictions in the Act and to the approval of any
regulatory body having jurisdiction over the Credit Union if any applicable law requires the obtaining of such
approval, after giving at least 21 days’ notice of its intent to redeem, at any time after the fifth anniversary of
the Issue Date. If the Credit Union redeems only a portion of the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, then
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outstanding, the Credit Union must redeem such Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, pro rata from all holders
of such shares at that time. The proceeds of any redemption of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, held inside
an RRSP or RRIF will remain inside the RRSP or RRIF unless the annuitant specifically requests otherwise in
writing.
Purchasers of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, who are intending to include such shares in an RRSP
or RRIF contract should carefully review the above redemption provisions and restrictions before
proceeding. The Credit Union will only permit shareholders who purchase Class B Investment Shares,
Series 4, in this offering to hold those shares in a RRIF contract only if they acknowledge in writing that
the Credit Union will satisfy the minimum annual payment requirement from the RRIF by transferring
an amount of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, sufficient to satisfy that required payment in kind
from the RRIF into a non-registered account.
Restrictions on Transfer
Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, may not be transferred except to another member of the Credit Union.
Transfers will be subject to the approval of the Board. Transfer requests must be in writing, using a form
approved by the Board. Transfer requests will be tendered to the registered office of the Credit Union. Class
B Investment Shares, Series 4, will be transferred to other members at a price equal to the current Redemption
Amount. The proceeds of disposition of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, held inside an RRSP or RRIF
will remain inside that RRSP or RRIF unless the annuitant specifically requests otherwise in writing.
No member, through transfers of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, from other members, will be allowed to
hold more Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, than the member would otherwise have been able to subscribe
for in this initial offering (2,000,000 shares or the Maximum Permissible Holding, whichever is lesser).There
is no market for the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, issued by the Credit Union. The Credit Union
may, however, choose to maintain a list of willing buyers, and attempt to facilitate a transfer to a willing buyer
rather than process a redemption when a holder of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, requests redemption;
this procedure will not apply when a holder of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, or his or her estate, is
required by law to transfer the shares to another member of the Credit Union (e.g., by the Will of a deceased
shareholder), or has already located a purchaser for his or her Class B Investment Shares, Series 4.
Articles of Incorporation
Prospective purchasers of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, may obtain, on request at the registered office
of the Credit Union, a copy of the certificate of amalgamation forming the Credit Union, and the amendments
to it creating the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4. These documents define its share capital structure,
including the full terms and conditions of the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4.

RISK FACTORS
Providing financial services inherently involves the assumption of risk. On this basis, the Credit Union’s
business strategy, the effective management and acceptance of risk, and its related risk appetite are closely
linked and integral components in business decision making. Business strategy choices serve to determine
overall risk appetite; a new strategic initiative may result in a change to risk appetite (up or down) to the extent
the choice provides the merits of an appropriate risk/return trade-off, the serving of the member’s best interests
and satisfying needs of stakeholders. At the same time, strategic choices are shaped by, and must fit within,
the Credit Union’s risk appetite, which is ultimately determined by balancing the taking of manageable risk,
serving its members and satisfying needs of stakeholders. With this context, risk management and risk appetite
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will be integral in the development of business strategy and ongoing decision making. The Credit Union’s
enterprise risk management policy sets qualitative and quantitative aggregate risk management appetites, as
well as quantitative risk appetite statements in certain areas, and sets out the Credit Union’s enterprise risk
management framework.
The following risk factors should be considered in making a decision to purchase Class B Investment Shares,
Series 4.
Transfer and Redemption Restrictions
There is no market through which the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, may be sold. Further, it is not
expected that any market will develop. These securities may only be transferred to another member of the
Credit Union. Note that such a transfer is not treated as redemption and is therefore not limited as outlined
below. See “Restrictions on Transfer”, on page 19, for a further discussion of transfers of Class B Investment
Shares, Series 4.
The Act prohibits redemption of shares if the Board of the Credit Union has reasonable grounds to believe that
the Credit Union is, or the payment would cause it to be, in contravention of prescribed liquidity and Regulatory
Capital adequacy tests for credit unions.
Redemptions of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, are permitted at the sole and absolute discretion of the
Board and are not permitted during the five years following their Issue Date as defined herein, except when a
shareholder dies or is expelled from membership in the Credit Union. Redemptions are limited in any fiscal
year to 10.0% of the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, outstanding at the end of the previous fiscal year. If
the approval of any redemption by any regulatory body having jurisdiction over the Credit Union is required
by applicable law, redemption will be subject to that approval having been obtained. Consequently, holders of
Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, may not be able to sell or redeem their securities when they wish to do so.
Members who intend to hold Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, within an RRSP or RRIF contract should
carefully review this risk factor before proceeding. The Credit Union will only permit shareholders who
purchase Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, in this offering to hold those shares in a RRIF contract if they
acknowledge in writing that the Credit Union will satisfy the minimum annual payment requirement from the
RRIF by transferring an amount of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, sufficient to satisfy that required
payment in kind from the RRIF into a non-registered account.
Capital Adequacy
The Act requires the Credit Union to maintain a Leverage Ratio and a Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio equal to or
greater than a percentage stated in the Regulations passed pursuant to the Act.
The Credit Union is required to maintain a minimum Leverage Ratio of 4.0%. DUCA’s Board of Directors has
established a minimum Leverage Ratio of 4.75%. The Leverage Ratio of 4.4% was below the Board policy but
above the FSRA minimum requirement at April 30, 2019. The variance to the Board policy resulted from
significant growth in the balance sheet from the successful EMSA campaign.
The Credit Union is required to maintain a Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 8.0%. DUCA’s Board of Directors
has established a minimum Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 10.5%. The Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 11.0%
was above both of these requirements at April 30, 2019.
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For further information regarding the Credit Union’s Regulatory Capital adequacy, see “Capital Adequacy” on
pages 8 and 9.
Payment of Dividends
The Credit Union has no dividend record for the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, because none of these
shares are issued and outstanding. The Credit Union has, however, established a record for the payment of
dividends on its Class A Shares, Series 1, and on its Class B Investment Shares, Series 1, 2, and 3, in its last
five fiscal years, as detailed on page 27.
Past payment of dividends or other distributions in no way indicates the likelihood of future payments of
dividends. The payment of dividends to the holders of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4 is dependent on the
ability of the Credit Union to meet the Regulatory Capital requirements of the Act, and on the availability of
earnings.
Dividends on Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, are taxed as interest and not as dividends, and are therefore
not eligible for the tax treatment given to dividends from taxable Canadian corporations, commonly referred to
as the “dividend tax credit”.
The Board has stated a dividend policy for Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, as outlined on pages 27 and 28
hereof; this policy may be changed at any time, at the discretion of the Board, and the Board may at any time
approve exceptions to this policy. Dividends paid may therefore not be in accordance with this policy.
Credit Risk
The major activity of the Credit Union is the lending of money to members and, as a result, there exists the risk
of loss from uncollectible loans. The lending policies of the Credit Union, the care and attention of staff and
management in applying such policies to loan applications and loans granted, and the security taken in
connection with such applications, will affect the future profitability of the Credit Union and impact on its
ability to pay dividends and redeem Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, when the members wish it to do so.
A discussion of the Credit Union’s accounting policies regarding its loans to its members is found in note 3(d)
to the December 31, 2018 audited financial statements included in this offering statement, at page 15 of
Schedule A.
Discussion of the composition of the Credit Union’s loan portfolio, and its allowance and provision for impaired
loans, appears in notes 6 and 7 to the December 31, 2018 audited financial statements included in this offering
statement, beginning at page 24 of Schedule A hereto, and in notes 5 and 6 to the April 30, 2019 interim
condensed financial statements included in this offering statement, beginning at page 10 of Schedule B hereto.
Market Risk
Market risk emanates from the investment activities of the Credit Union and is represented by the risk of
changes to the market value of these investments and foreign exchange. The market risk management policy
of the Credit Union, approved by its Board, permits the Credit Union to invest in the permitted investments
outlined at page 23, and in the following:
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•
•

Shares in a credit union central or league
Investments in residential mortgages or pools of residential mortgages. This includes insured and
uninsured residential mortgages which are consistent with the Credit Union’s underwriting standards
and its credit risk management policy.

Under conditions set out in the policy, the Credit Union may also invest in the following:
•
•
•
•

Deposits in a brokerage account
High quality dividend paying stocks with an equivalent credit rating of P3 or higher
Mutual funds
Other fixed income investment notes

The policy also imposes limits on the amount which can be invested in any one type of investment or in any
one issuer, and the term for which investments can be made. As of April 30, 2019, the Credit Union complied
with this investment policy.
One of the investments held by the Credit Union is a shareholding in Social Finance Inc. (“SoFi”), which it
acquired as a result of its exit from its involvement in Zenbanx Canada Inc. discussed in greater detail at page
76. SoFi is an online lending platform and was recently ranked by Forbes magazine as the 5th largest “fintech”
company in the United States. This investment of $1.9 million, is treated as “held for trading”, and Board and
management believes the most recent “mark to market” valuation placed on this investment in its December
31, 2018 financial statements is appropriate. It is the Credit Union’s intention to sell this investment when it
can do so for what it regards as an appropriate value.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises from a credit union’s potential inability to meet both expected and unexpected current and
future cash flow and collateral needs causing an adverse effect on its operations or its financial condition. The
Credit Union is required to establish and maintain prudent levels and forms of liquidity that are sufficient to
meet its cash flow needs.
The Credit Union’s liquidity risk management policy requires it to establish a pool of high-quality liquid assets,
which shall not be encumbered. The policy then stresses the cash flows to ensure there is sufficient liquidity to
meet the needs of the credit union over the short and longer time horizon using a number of liquidity
measurements.
The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”) is a liquidity metric that measures the credit union’s stock (holdings)
of unencumbered High-Quality Liquid Assets (“HQLA”) that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of
value, to meet its liquidity needs for a 30-calendar day liquidity stress scenario.
At a minimum, the stock of unencumbered HQLA should enable the institution to survive until day 30 of the
stress scenario, by which time it is assumed that appropriate corrective actions can be taken by management.
The Net Stable Funding Ratio (“NSFR”) is a liquidity metric that will require the Credit Union to maintain a
stable funding profile in relation to the composition of its assets and off-balance sheet activities. A sustainable
funding structure is intended to reduce the likelihood that disruptions to the Credit Union’s regular sources of
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funding will erode its liquidity position in a way that would increase the risk of its failure and potentially lead
to broader systemic stress.
The NSFR aims to limit over-reliance on short-term wholesale funding, encourages better assessment of
funding risk across all on- and off-balance sheet items, and promotes funding stability.
The Net Cumulative Cash Flow Ratio (“NCCFR”). The NCCFR is a liquidity metric that measures the Credit
Union’s survival horizon based on its net cumulative cash flows. It identifies potential future funding
mismatches between contractual inflows and outflows for various time bands over and up to a 12-month time
horizon. It measures the Credit Union’s detailed cash flows, in order to capture the risk posed by funding
mismatches between assets and liabilities, after the application of assumptions around the functioning of assets
and modified liabilities.
The Credit Union also calculates an Internal Liquidity Ratio (“ILR”), which simply compares total
unencumbered liquid assets to the deposits in the Credit Union by its members, and the Credit Union’s
borrowings.
The regulatory limit on LCR is 100.0%, but the Credit Union’s policy requires 125.0%. The regulatory limit
on NSFR is again 100.0%, but the Credit Union’s policy requires 110.0%. The Credit Union’s NCCFR limit
is 100.0% coverage over 12 months, and its ILR limit is 10.0%.
Assets which may be purchased as part of the liquidity portfolio are as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Deposits in a Schedule I or II Bank;
Treasury bills issued by Canadian governments;
Bonds and debentures unconditionally guaranteed by Canadian governments;
Deposits with or acceptances issued by Schedule I or Schedule II Banks with a Dominion Bond Rating
Service rating of R-1 mid or better;
Commercial paper issued by corporations with a Dominion Bond Rating Service rating of R-1 mid or
better;
Deposits in a credit union central or league
Liquidity reserve deposit with Central 1; and
Mortgage-backed securities.

The policy also requires the monitoring of large deposits (defined as 8.0% of total deposits from a single person
and their connected persons).
The Credit Union also uses securitization to assist it in managing its liquidity. Securitization is the process of
pooling assets of a similar type and selling the related cash flows to a third-party investor. The Credit Union’s
securitization policy requires it to calculate its Securitization Coverage Ratio (“SCR”). The SCR is a measure
that aims to ensure that the Credit Union has adequate cash resources to cover short term securitization
maturities. The policy also requires the Credit Union to calculate its Securitization Capital Buffer (“SCB”).
The SCB is a measurement of capital resiliency to cover off-balance sheet securitization exposure. The ratio
measures the effect on the Leverage Ratio on the following 24 months of off-balance sheet securitization
maturing and coming back onto the balance sheet. The Credit Union’s policy limits SCR to 125.0% when the
regulatory limit for that ratio is 100.0%, and limits SCB to 4.75% while the regulatory limit for that ratio is
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4.0%. The policy also limits various types of securitizations, and mandates the calculation of various prescribed
stress tests to ensure the Credit Union is not overly dependent on this funding source.
The Credit Union maintained an average liquidity position of 16.97% in its fiscal year ended December 31,
2018, and of 22.15% in the four months ended April 30, 2019.
DUCA’s credit facilities to support its operations include access to a line of credit of $130.0 million with Central
1, of which $50.0 million is prescribed for the guarantee of payment on third party municipalities, universities,
school boards and hospitals deposits with the Credit Union as agreed to by Central 1. The line of credit is
secured by a general security agreement covering all the assets of the Credit Union.
A line of credit facility is maintained with Fédération des Caisses Desjardins du Québec and Desjardins Capital
Markets (“Desjardins”) up to a maximum of $160.0 million and is secured by a pledge of Mortgage Loans.
The Credit Union has access to a $14.0 million comprehensive credit facility with a major Canadian chartered
bank, which is secured by $10.0 million in bank deposit notes.
The Credit Union entered into an agreement with Mercury Receivables Trust on April 16, 2019 which gives
the Credit Union access to a $100.0 million credit facility which is secured by a pool of $191.0 million in
conventional Mortgage Loans. Central 1 provides a performance guarantee on the drawn amount of the credit
facility funded volume.
On March 4, 2019 the Credit Union entered into The Bond Market Association/International Securities Market
Association 2000 Version Global Master Repurchase Agreement with National Bank Financial Inc. which gives
the Credit Union access to an uncommitted $50.0 million credit facility where the Credit Union can access
borrowing on a short-term basis by pledging mortgage-backed securities that they are holding for liquidity.
As of April 30, 2019, the Credit Union has encumbered $40.0 million of the $50.0 million of the prescribed
guarantee of payment on third party municipalities, universities, school boards and hospitals deposits with the
Credit Union as agreed to by Central 1 as described above.
As of April 30, 2019, the Credit Union has utilized $5.0 million of its available credit facilities.
For further information, see “Senior Debt”, beginning on page 30.
Structural Risk
Structural risk emanates from the asset liability components of the business of the Credit Union and is
represented by interest rate risk, asset-liability mismatch risk and foreign exchange risk
There are two levels of interest rate risk that the Credit Union measures and monitors to meet regulatory
requirements. Specifically, the Credit Union must measure interest rate risk as it relates to short-term earnings
using Earnings at Risk (EaR), and as it relates to long-term earnings using Economic Value at Risk (EVaR).
Earnings at risk measures the impact that short term interest rate change could have on 12-month net interest
income. Economic value at risk measures the impact that longer term interest rate changes could have on the
equity of the Credit Union.
The Credit Union has developed and implemented the following metrics.
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o Earnings at Risk (“EaR”): The Credit Union’s key metric for measuring short-term
interest rate risk is the Earnings at Risk measurement. The EaR is a measure that aims to
ensure that the Credit Union does not have a material risk to earnings over the next 12
months. At a maximum, a limit is set to ensure that forecasted net interest income (“NII”)
would not decrease by more than 7% over the next 12 months. EaR exposure is calculated
based on the variance observed in forecasted Net Interest Income given an immediate
parallel 100 Basis Point shock to interest rates.
o Duration Gap: The duration gap is a measure of the difference in the duration of assets
versus the duration of liabilities. It is a major component in long-term interest rate risk.
The Credit Union has established a limit of +/-6 months for the gap between the duration
of assets and the duration of liabilities.
o Economic Value at Risk (“EVaR”): The Credit Union’s key metric for measuring longterm interest rate risk is the Economic Value at Risk measurement. This metric measures
the exposure the Credit Union has to both rising and falling interest rates and the longterm effects those movements would have on the current market value of equity. The
Credit Union has established a limit which would not allow a change that would decrease
market value of equity by more than 6.0%. EVaR exposure is calculated based on the
variance observed in forecasted Net Interest Income given an immediate parallel 100
Basis Point shock to interest rates.
o Regulatory Parallel Rate Shock Tests: The Credit Union will undertake a stressed
parallel rate shock test to the portfolio with both upward and downward parallel rate
shocks of the yield curve to measure impact on earnings at 50 Basis Points, 100 Basis
Points, and 200 Basis Points shocks. The results of these shocks are reported to the
appropriate Credit Union committee each quarter and are incorporated into the annual
regulatory Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment (“ICAAP”) process.
The Credit Union is permitted to use derivative instruments to manage and control interest rate risk.
The policy also imposes ranges, expressed as percentages of total assets, in which major asset and liability
classes must be maintained. As of April 30, 2019, the Credit Union was in full compliance with these limits.
The Credit Union has retained an outside consultant to provide it with assistance and reporting regarding its
interest rate risk.
As at April 30, 2019, the Credit Union’s Earnings at Risk was ($879,000) for a 100 Basis Points downward
shock in interest rates, and $432,000 for a 100 Basis Points upward shock in interest rates. As at April 30,
2019, the Economic Value at Risk was 1.5%. These exposures are in compliance with the Board’s policy in
this regard.
In the event that the Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risk were to exceed the policy limits described
above, future profitability could become seriously eroded should interest rates move in the direction where the
Credit Union has an exposure, with a resulting negative impact on the ability of the Credit Union to pay
dividends or redeem shares. Management, however, could employ one or more of several techniques to mitigate
the potential risk.
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Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk that, in any operational area of the Credit Union a financial loss will result from
fraud, human error, or bad judgement. Several of the Credit Union’s policies, including the Enterprise Risk
Management Policy, the Credit Risk Management Policy, Vendor Management and Procurement Policy, and
Business Resilience Plan require appropriate and effective internal control policies, segregation of duties,
information systems, accounting and record-keeping, safeguarding of physical assets from loss or
misappropriation, appropriate selection and monitoring of key outside service providers, insurance, duplicates
or back-ups of records, and business continuity and disaster recovery plans (reviewed by various Board
committees and recommended for annual Board review).
Any amalgamation or asset purchase or sale transaction in which the Credit Union becomes involved may
increase the complexity of the Credit Union’s operations.
Regulatory Action
Under the Act, FSRA has the authority to place a credit union under Supervision or Administration should it
believe that there is a potential for that credit union or caisse populaire to encounter financial or management
problems which could affect its financial well-being or which could tend to increase the risk of claims by that
credit union or caisse populaire against the deposit insurance fund.
Reliance on Key Management
The success of the Credit Union’s business strategy is linked to the ability of the Credit Union to retain its
senior management employees. The inability to retain such persons, or replace them with individuals of equal
competence, could adversely affect the Credit Union’s financial performance.
The Credit Union has an employment contract with its Chief Executive Officer that requires him to provide the
Credit Union with notice, longer than that which would be ordinarily required by law, of the termination of his
employment with the Credit Union. No such contracts exist with the Credit Union’s other senior managers.
The Credit Union has created a succession plan for its senior managers.
Geographic, Economic and Competitive Risk
Like every other financial institution, the Credit Union is affected by periods of economic downturn that result
in a lack of consumer confidence, a drop-in demand for loans and mortgages, or a reduction in the level of
savings. The Credit Union is dependent to a significant degree on the economic performance of the
communities that it serves.
The financial services industry continues to be extremely competitive. The major banks have expanded their
traditional core banking business into other financial services, where they now dominate the brokerage and trust
industries. As a result, the sheer size and increasing scope of their diversified operations represent both a
challenge and an opportunity to credit unions. The success of credit unions depends largely on their ability to
differentiate themselves from large banks, and on their ability to provide personal service while providing new
products and services to meet their members’ needs, thereby ensuring to earn sufficient profits to continue to
grow and prosper. The Credit Union offers a full range of products and services.
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Economic growth is anticipated to slow over the forecast horizon, but no recession is anticipated. Economic
uncertainty, particularly related to global trade issues and slowing of the U.S. economy will filter to other areas.
Business confidence will dampen anchoring business investments for labour and capital. Households will
tighten belts given a tougher job market and dampened wage growth. Key sectors such as residential spending,
exports, manufacturing, trade, and transportation and warehousing will face headwinds. Moreover, the
province’s new carbon tax imposed by the federal government on Ontario’s economy will dampen growth as
well until businesses and consumers can adapt to the higher costs associated with this policy. Over the next
three years employment growth will slide from 2.3 per cent in 2018 to 1.7 per cent by 2021. Canada’s April
2019 country’s jobless rate dropped to 5.7 per cent and is hovering near four-decade lows. Employment in
Ontario jumped by 47,000 in April, with job increases in Canada’s largest province at 205,000 over the past
year.
While Ontario’s population continued to expand at a healthy clip in 2018 (1.8 per cent to 14.3 million total
residents) the Toronto Economic Region’s (ER) population growth outpaced the province. Moreover, of the
251,312 net new Ontarians reported in 2018 close to half (49.4 per cent) settled in the Toronto ER mainly
through international migration which includes non-permanent and permanent residents. The gains in this area
more than off-set the movements of people from the Toronto ER to other areas of Ontario. Likely, this flow of
people out of the Toronto ER to other regions was due to homebuyers looking for affordable housing outside
of the Greater Toronto Area. The region’s population will continue to growth mostly due to international
migration. While growth of non-permanent residents will slow down as fewer seasonal workers come to the
region, growth from foreign students and permanent residents will remain strong particularly, as the federal
government looks to boost immigration numbers.

DIVIDEND RECORD AND POLICY
The Credit Union has paid the following dividends with regard to its last five fiscal years:

Fiscal
Year
Ended
December
31, 2018
December
31, 2017
December
31, 2016
December
31, 2015
December
31, 2014

Class B Investment
Shares, Series 1
% of
Amount
Outstanding
(in
Shares thousands)
3.5%
$1,433

Class B Investment
Shares, Series 02
% of
Amount
Outstanding
(in
Shares thousands)
0%
$0

Class B Investment
Shares, Series 3
% of
Amount
Outstanding
(in
Shares thousands)
0%
$0

Class A Shares, Series 1
% of
Outstanding
Shares
2.0%

Amount
(in
thousands)
$787

3.0%

$1,239

0%

$0

0%

$0

2.0%

$822

3.0%

$1,257

0%

$0

0%

$0

2.0%

$857

0%

$0

0%

$0

0%

$0

2.0%

$893

0%

$0

0%

$0

0%

$0

2.0%

$919

No dividends were paid on the Membership Shares.
For a discussion of the priority of the various classes of shares in the payment of dividends, and the restrictions
placed on the Board in the declaration of dividends, see also pages 10, 16, and 21.
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The dividend policy of the Credit Union’s Board for Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, shall be to pay a
dividend or dividends in every year in which there are sufficient profits to do so while still fulfilling all
Regulatory Capital, liquidity, and operational requirements. The dividend rate shall be established by the
Board, in its sole and absolute discretion, based on financial and other considerations prevailing at the time of
the declarations. The Board shall consider whether or not a dividend shall be declared, and at what rate and in
which manner, including whether in the form of additional Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, in cash, or
partly in shares and partly in cash. Fractional shares will not be issued; dividends paid in the form of shares
will be rounded down to the closest whole dollar amount before payment. The Board shall consider this at least
annually, and any declared dividend will be paid following each fiscal year end and before each annual general
meeting of members. There can be no guarantee that a dividend will be paid each year. If the Board declares
a dividend in any year, the Board will declare a dividend of not less than 4.25% for its fiscal years ending on
or before December 31, 2024. For fiscal years ending after that date, the Board has defined the minimum rate
to be the greater of 4.25% and the rate which exceeds by 125 Basis Points the simple average of the yields on
the monthly series of the Government of Canada five-year bonds (CANSIM Identifier V122540) as published
by the Bank of Canada on its website, www.bank-banques-canada.ca during the Credit Union’s fiscal year. This
dividend policy is subject to change or exception at any time, at the Board’s discretion. The dividend, in the
fiscal year Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, sold pursuant to this offering statement are issued, shall be prorated for the number of days after the Issue Date in that fiscal year. This could result in no dividends being
paid on the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, until March 2021, because the Issue Date may be after the end
of the Credit Union’s current fiscal year ending December 31, 2019.
Dividends paid on Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will be taxed as interest and not as dividends, and are
therefore not eligible for the tax treatment given to dividends received from taxable Canadian corporations,
commonly referred to as the “dividend tax credit”.
The dividend policy followed by the Credit Union is at the discretion of the Board and is subject to change or
exception at any time. Dividends paid may therefore not be in accordance with the policy outlined above.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SALE OF SECURITIES
The principal uses of the net proceeds and purpose of this offering will be to enable the Credit Union to add to
its Regulatory Capital to provide for the Credit Union’s future growth, development and stability, while
maintaining a prudent cushion in the amount of Regulatory Capital above regulatory requirements.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
1. The price to members for each Class B Investment Share, Series 4 will be $1.00.
2. There will be no discounts or commissions paid to anyone for the sale of these securities.
3. One hundred percent (100.0%) of the proceeds of the sale of these securities will go to the Credit Union,
which will then be responsible for the payment of the costs associated with this offering statement.
It is intended that the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will be issued on multiple closing dates.
Subscriptions for each closing of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, shall be accepted the offer date for that
offer noted in the table below (the “Offer Date”) until the earlier of (1) the corresponding closing date noted in
the table below (the “Closing Date”); (2) the time that the aggregate amount of subscriptions received for Class
B Investment Shares, Series 4, is equal to the maximum amount of $170,000,000; and (3) the date on which the
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Board, having not received subscriptions for the maximum $170,000,000 Class B Investment Shares, Series 4,
and noting that seven months (due to the extension discussed below) has not yet passed since the date of this
offering statement, resolves to close the offering. The shares subscribed shall be actually issued on the issuance
dates noted in the table below, notwithstanding the fact that, for purposes of calculating the periods of nonredeemability outlined above, and for the purpose of pro-rating any dividend paid in the year the Class B
Investment Shares, Series 4, are issued, the Issue Date shall be defined as the latest date on which Class B
Investment Shares, Series 4, are actually issued pursuant to this offering statement:
Closing No.
1
2
3
4
5
6

Offer Date
Offering Statement Date
24-Aug-19
24-Sep-19
25-Oct-19
23-Nov-19
21-Dec-19

Closing Date
23-Aug-19
23-Sep-19
24-Oct-19
22-Nov-19
20-Dec-19
24-Jan-20

Issuance Date
31-Aug-19
30-Sep-19
31-Oct-19
30-Nov-19
31-Dec-19
31-Jan-20

FSRA, on January 24, 2020, granted an extension to the receipt for this offering statement from January 24,
2020 to February 29, 2020 due to a change in the provider of Mortgage Loan origination, servicing, and
securitization pooling discussed at page 38.
Subscriptions will be accepted on a first come, first served basis, and subscription forms will be marked with
the time and date accepted. The Credit Union will closely monitor subscriptions being received as total
subscriptions approach the maximum. Potential purchasers making subscription requests at that time may not
be allowed to subscribe for the full number or amount of shares they desire, or their subscription request may
be refused. This offering may not be over-subscribed, and subscriptions will not be pro-rated.
If the funds to be used by a subscriber to pay for shares subscribed are on deposit at the Credit Union,
the subscriber will authorize the Credit Union to place these funds “on hold” to guarantee payment of
these shares. If the offering is completed, such hold will be released, and the authorized amount will be
used to pay for the shares for which the member subscribed. If the offering is withdrawn, or if the
decision to buy is reversed by the subscriber (as described on the cover of this offering statement), the
hold on the funds will be released immediately thereafter.
If the funds to be used by a subscriber to pay for shares subscribed are coming from outside the Credit
Union, such funds will be held in Escrow, in accounts to be trusteed by Concentra Trust, until the offering
is completed or withdrawn, or until the subscriber exercises the right to reverse the decision to purchase
the securities (as described on the cover of this offering statement). If the offering is completed, the
proceeds will be released from Escrow and used to pay for the shares for which the member subscribed.
If the offering is withdrawn, or if the subscriber reverses the decision to buy, the proceeds will be
refunded in full, plus interest calculated at a rate equal to the Credit Union’s 30-day term deposit rate,
pro-rated for the number of days the funds were in Escrow, to those who subscribed.
The above-noted terms and conditions regarding holds on subscribers’ deposit accounts and regarding Escrow
accounts are detailed on the Credit Union's subscription form for Class B Investment Shares, Series 4 and on
separate agreements, to be signed by subscribers, authorizing transfers and holds on deposit accounts and/or
placement of proceeds in Escrow accounts. Copies of the subscription form and the forms for authorization of
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a hold on funds in deposit accounts and/or placement of funds in Escrow accounts are printed on pages 103,
104 and 105.
If a member subscribes for more than the Maximum Permissible Holding, the Credit Union will honour the
subscription to the Maximum Permissible Holding. To the extent the subscription exceeds the Maximum
Permissible Holding, for the purposes of the hold and escrow arrangements described above, the Credit Union
will regard the member as having properly withdrawn the over-subscribed portion of the subscription on the
Closing Date, regardless of when the member of the subscription on the Closing Date, regardless of when the
member received the offering statement, and will release the hold on the member’s account regarding the oversubscribed amount.
If fully subscribed, the gross proceeds to be derived by the Credit Union from the sale of the Class B Investment
Shares, Series 4 shall be $170,000,000. The costs of issuing these securities are not expected to exceed
$420,000, and these costs, approximating $310,000 after applicable tax savings, will be deducted from the gross
proceeds in arriving at the amount to be reported as share capital outstanding. The estimated maximum net
proceeds of this offering of securities are $169,690,000.
No Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will be issued until the minimum aggregate subscription amount
received in respect of such shares is equal to at least $10,000,000. Should the minimum subscription amount
of $10,000,000 not be received by a particular Closing Date, then subscriptions for Class B Investment Shares,
Series 4, received will be deferred until the next Closing Date, and the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4,
subscribed for will be issued at the next applicable issuance date outlined above, subject to the minimum
subscription amount of $10,000,000 having been met by the next Closing Date. If the aggregate subscription
amount received by the final Closing Date of February 29, 2020 is less than $10,000,000, then this offering for
Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will be cancelled and withdrawn without shares being issued (in which
case all funds “frozen” or held in Escrow to support subscriptions will be returned to the applicable members
within 30 days thereof, with applicable interest) unless this offering has been renewed with the approval of the
Chief Executive Officer of FSRA.
The Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, will not be sold by underwriters or other dealers in securities. The
minimum subscription per member shall be $1,000 for 1,000 Class B Investment Shares, Series 4. The
maximum subscription per member shall be 2,000,000 shares or the Maximum Permissible Holding, whichever
is lesser).

MARKET FOR THE SECURITIES
There is no market for the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4. These securities may only be transferred
to another member of the Credit Union.

SENIOR DEBT (RANKING AHEAD OF CLASS B INVESTMENT SHARES,
SERIES 4)
DUCA’s credit facilities to support its operations include access to a line of credit of $130.0 million with Central
1, of which $50.0 million is prescribed for the guarantee of payment on third party municipalities, universities,

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
Offering Statement, Class B Investment Shares, Series 4

Page 30

school boards and hospitals deposits with the Credit Union as agreed to by Central 1. The line of credit is
secured by a general security agreement covering all the assets of the Credit Union.
The balance, outstanding on the Central 1 credit facilities of the Credit Union during the four-month period
ended April 30, 2019, and during its fiscal years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 is outlined below.
$ millions
Fiscal
Period
Ended
April
30, 2019
December
31, 2018
December
31, 2017
December
31, 2016
$ millions
Fiscal
Period
Ended
April
30, 2019
December
31, 2018
December
31, 2017
December
31, 2016

Operating Line
Period
Ending
Balance

High
Balance

Term Loan

Low
Balance

Period
Ending
Balance

High
Balance

Low
Balance

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$14.0

$0

$0

$45.0

$0

$0

$11.0

$0

$12.0

$45.0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

Standby Letter of
Credit Line

Financial Guarantee
Line

Capital Market Line

Period
Ending
Balance

High
Balance

Low
Balance

Period
Ending
Balance

High
Balance

Low
Balance

Period
Ending
Balance

High
Balance

Low
Balance

$10.0

$10.0

$10.0

$40.0

$40.0

$0.0

$0

$1.0

$0

$10.0

$12.0

$10.0

$0.0

$0.0

$0

$1.0

$1.0

$0

$13.0

$13.0

$12.0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$12.0

$13.0

$6.0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

A line of credit facility is maintained with Fédération des Caisses Desjardins du Québec and Desjardins Capital
Markets (“Desjardins”) up to a maximum of $160.0 million and is secured by a pledge of residential mortgages.
The balance during the same period on its Desjardins credit facilities are as outlined below:
$ millions
Fiscal Period Ended

April 30, 2019
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2017
December 31, 2016

Canadian-Dollar Operating Line
Period High Balance Low
Ending
Balance
Balance
$0
$0
$0
$0
$60.0
$0
$23.0
$23.0
$0
$0
$0
$0
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The Credit Union has access to a $14.0 million comprehensive credit facility with a major Canadian chartered
bank, which is secured by $10.0 million in bank deposit notes. As of April 30, 2019, this credit facility was
unused.
The Credit Union entered into an agreement with Mercury Receivables Trust on April 16, 2019 which gives
the Credit Union access to a $100.0 million credit facility which is secured by a pool of $191.0 million in
conventional Mortgage Loans. Central 1 provides a performance guarantee on the drawn amount of the credit
facility funded volume. As of April 30, 2019, this credit facility was drawn by $5.0 million.
On March 4, 2019 the Credit Union entered into The Bond Market Association/International Securities Market
Association 2000 Version Global Master Repurchase Agreement with National Bank Financial Inc. which gives
the Credit Union access to an uncommitted $50.0 million credit facility where the Credit Union can access
borrowing on a short-term basis by pledging mortgage-backed securities that they are holding for liquidity. As
of April 30, 2019, this credit facility was unused.
As of April 30, 2019, the Credit Union has encumbered $40.0 million of the $50.0 million of the prescribed
guarantee of payment on third party municipalities, universities, school boards and hospitals deposits with the
Credit Union as agreed to by Central 1 as described above.
Members’ deposits in the Credit Union, as well as its other liabilities, including the securitization liabilities set
out on the financial statements attached to this offering statement as Schedules A and B, rank prior to the Credit
Union’s obligations to the holders of any class or series of its shares, including the Class B Investment Shares,
Series 4.

AUDITORS, REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT
The auditors of the Credit Union are Ernst & Young LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public
Accountants, Ernst & Young Tower, 100 Adelaide Street West, Toronto, ON M5H 0B3 (phone: 416 864 1234,
fax: 416 864 1174, website www.ey.com). The auditor is independent with respect to the Credit Union within the
meaning of the CPA Code of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario.
The registrars and transfer agents for the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4 are designated staff of the Credit
Union.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Board of Directors
The following table sets forth the Board of Directors of the Credit Union:
Name/Municipality of
Residence
Tom Vandeloo
Richmond Hill, Ontario

Principal Occupation
Partner, Accounting Firm

Position/Office
Chair
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Name/Municipality of
Residence
Jeff Hogan
Ajax, Ontario
Cameron Loopstra
Newmarket, Ontario
Marijke Kanters
Richmond Hill, Ontario
Michelle Wassenaar
Toronto, Ontario
Anne-Marie Thomas
Toronto, Ontario
Conrad Willemse
Toronto, Ontario
Steve Dobronyi
Toronto, Ontario
Frans Amelink
Aurora, Ontario

Principal Occupation

Position/Office

Chartered Professional Accountant Director, Human Resources &
Compensation Committee Chair
Marketing Consultant
Director, Credit Committee Chair
Owner/Managing Director,
Bilingual Recruitment Firm
Lawyer/Founder, Method Law
Professional Corporation
Director on 4 Boards

Board Vice-Chair; Audit
Committee Chair
Director, Elections Committee
Chair
Director, Risk Committee Chair

Business Lawyer

Director, Governance Committee
Chair
Director

CEO & Business Leader,
Financial Services
VP Information Technology

Director

Senior Management
The following table sets forth the senior management of the Credit Union:
Name/Municipality of Residence
Doug Conick
Burlington, Ontario
Mark Perkins
Milton, Ontario
Karey Carson
Toronto, Ontario
Karen Todd
Toronto, Ontario
Rizwan Ahmad
Toronto, Ontario
Leonard Dias
Richmond Hill, Ontario
Afzal Hussain
Richmond Hill, Ontario
Keith Taylor
Hamilton, Ontario
Phillip Taylor
Toronto, Ontario
Vinay Venugopal
Maple, Ontario

Position/Title
President and Chief Executive
Officer
Senior Vice President, Commercial
Finance
Senior Vice President, People and
Culture
Senior Vice President, Operations
and Service Delivery
Chief Risk Officer
Chief Financial, Compliance &
Corporate Services Officer
Vice President, Audit
Executive Director, DUCA Impact
Lab
Senior Vice President, Business and
Personal Banking
Senior Vice President, Information
Technology
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Only Mr. Hussain has been employed by the Credit Union for at least the five years preceding the date hereof.
Mr. Conick joined the Credit Union in October 2016. Prior to joining the Credit Union he held a range of
professional and leadership roles at Price Waterhouse Coopers, BMO and RBC and over 15 years at Manulife
Financial, which included the role of President and CEO of Manulife Bank & Trust Canada.
Mr. Perkins has been employed by the Credit Union for 1.2 years and was previously employed at FirstOntario
Credit Union Limited for 7 years, most recently as Vice President Commercial Services. Ms. Carson has been
employed by the Credit Union since August 2017. Prior to joining the Credit Union, Ms. Carson worked at
Travelers Insurance and held senior leadership positions there, including Interim Chief Risk Officer, and Vice
President, Human Resources. Before coming to the Credit Union, Ms. Carson was Chief Operating Officer at
SCM Health Solutions, and worked as a consultant in human resource transformation at the Ontario public
service. Ms. Todd has been employed by the Credit Union for just over four years after doing independent
consulting/contract work for 10 years in the fields of organizational development, business change management
in support of technology implementation projects, leadership development, learning, pay equity, and general
human resources management. Mr. Ahmad has been employed by the Credit Union since July 2017 and was
previously in consulting and academic research. Previous to that, he was employed by RBC in Risk
Management in New York and as Managing Director in Toronto. Mr. Dias has been employed by the Credit
Union for 4.5 years, and was previously employed by HSBC for 21 years, most recently serving as Chief
Financial Officer for HSBC Financial Corporation Limited since 2010. Mr. Keith Taylor has been an employee
of DUCA for just over 4.5 years. Before joining DUCA he was a Director with the Simpact Strategy Group,
with responsibility for the London Benchmarking Group in Canada, advising a group of 46 companies on
corporate community investment of approximately $500.0 million annually. Mr. Phillip Taylor has been
employed by the Credit Union for 1.5 years, and was previously employed by ING Direct/Tangerine for 13
years. Mr. Phillip Taylor held a variety of progressing roles at ING Direct/Tangerine, and most recently served
as its Vice President Service, Sales & Retail Experience. Mr. Venugopal has been employed by the Credit
Union for 1.3 years and was previously employed by Tangerine Bank/ING Direct for 10 years, most recently
as Vice President, Information Technology Strategy and Research & Development.

LAWSUITS AND OTHER MATERIAL OR REGULATORY ACTIONS
As at April 30, 2019, except for actions that may be used to recover delinquent loans where the Credit Union
is the plaintiff, the Credit Union is not aware of any pending or contemplated material legal proceedings to
which it is a party.
The Credit Union is not aware of any regulatory actions pending or contemplated against the Credit Union.

MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES
All loans to the directors, officers and employees of the Credit Union and their spouses and immediate
dependent family members are made in the normal course of business, using standard credit granting criteria.
The loans are made to these individuals on the same terms and conditions as loans are made to the general
membership except as to a rate discount available to full-time and benefit-eligible part-time employees of the
Credit Union pursuant to the Credit Union’s employee mortgage and loan discount policy.
The aggregate value of loans in all categories to restricted parties of the Credit Union, as of April 30, 2019,
amounted to $4.1 million. No allowance was required in respect of these loans.
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As members of the Credit Union, directors, officers and employees of the Credit Union each hold Membership
Shares in the number required to maintain membership in the Credit Union. Accordingly, each director, officer
and employee may subscribe for the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, should any of such persons wish to
do so.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
The following material contracts have been entered into by, or have bound, the Credit Union during the last
three years.
General Security Agreement with Central 1 Credit Union, dated October 1, 2012
The Credit Union has granted to Central 1 a general security interest in all of its assets to secure its obligations
under the credit facility. This security interest does not extend to assets which the Credit Union is holding to
meet its regulatory liquidity requirements. The agreement outlines certain defaults; when a default has
occurred, Central 1 is permitted to withhold further advances and demand repayment of all sums owing.
Master Services Agreement and Schedules with Central 1, dated August 12, 2013
This agreement provides the Credit Union with the ability to offer to its personal and business members Internet
banking services, and to offer the “Deposit Anywhere” remote deposit product to its members. The Credit
Union pays invoices delivered to it by Central 1 for services rendered. The agreement continues indefinitely
until it is terminated in accordance with its terms, and both parties have rights to terminate the agreement for
cause. The Credit Union cannot assign the agreement without Central 1’s consent.
Credit Agreement with Caisse Centrale Desjardins (“Desjardins”) as Administrative Agent and as
Issuing Lender, and other lenders from time to time, dated February 9, 2015
This agreement gives the Credit Union access to a $160.0 million credit facility from Desjardins and other
lenders, secured by certain Mortgage Loans made by the Credit Union to its members (regarding which
Desjardins has priority over Central 1’s interest under its general security agreement discussed above). The
Credit Union may use the facility for its general corporate purposes. The Credit Union pays certain fees for the
maintenance of this credit facility, and interest on sums actually borrowed under the facility. The Credit Union
is also subject to certain financial covenants, with which it fully complies, to maintain this credit facility in
good standing.
Term Sheet with a major Canadian chartered bank, dated January 3, 2006
This agreement provides the Credit Union with the $14.0 million credit facility it has with a major Canadian
chartered bank. All advances until this credit facility are secured subject to specific margin criteria based on
the type of negotiable instrument pledged as collateral.
The Bond Market Association/International Securities Market Association 2000 Version Global Master
Repurchase Agreement with National Bank Financial Inc., dated March 4, 2019
This agreement provides the Credit Union with the opportunity to sell securities and other financial
instruments to National Bank Financial Inc. at a price calculated in accordance with the agreement, with a
contemporaneous agreement by National Bank Financial Inc. to sell equivalent securities or financial
instruments back to the Credit Union on a fixed date or on demand, for a price calculated in accordance with
the agreement. This in effect gives the Credit Union access to a CDN$50.0 million credit facility which it can
utilize for its business purposes.
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Mortgage Loan Co-ownership and Servicing Agreement with Mercury Receivables Trust, dated April
16, 2019
This agreement provides the Credit Union with access to a $100.0 million credit facility, secured by a pool of
$191.0 million in conventional Mortgage Loans. As the Credit Union draws on the credit facility, more of the
pool of Mortgage Loans is allocated to the trust, which then creates ABCP (asset-backed commercial paper)
supported by those Mortgage Loans which the trust then sells to investors.
ISDA Master Agreement and Schedule with Caisse Centrale Desjardins (“Desjardins”), dated June 13,
2013
This agreement enables the Credit Union to enter into derivative contracts with Desjardins. The Credit Union,
as of April 30, 2015, had 46 option contracts in place under this master agreement and schedule, with an
aggregate notional value of $12.8 million, maturing between December 5, 2016 and April 8, 2020. Entering
into these contracts eliminates the market risk to the Credit Union in offering its members the index-linked term
deposit product offered by Desjardins Investments Inc., outlined below.
Financial Services Agreement with Desjardins Investments Inc., dated June 13, 2013
This agreement allows the Credit Union to offer to its members branded index-linked term deposit products
based on those marketed by Desjardins Investments Inc. The market risk of these products is hedged through
derivative contracts entered into pursuant to the ISDA Master Agreement and Schedule discussed above. The
agreement continues indefinitely unless terminated by either party while no sales campaign is ongoing. The
Credit Union pays fees to Desjardins Investments Inc. as required by the agreement. Neither party may assign
this agreement to another person except as permitted by the agreement.
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Fédération des Caisses Desjardins du Québec
and Desjardins Capital Markets, June 29, 2018
This agreement provides the Credit Union with its credit facility with Desjardins. With each borrowing, the
Credit Union has the opportunity to choose the assets securing that advance, which determines the margin
percentage applicable to that loan.
Master Operating Agreement with Qtrade Securities Inc, and Qtrade Asset Management Inc., dated
March 15, 2018
This agreement enables the Credit Union to offer full brokerage, online brokerage, and mutual fund products
to its members, and is exclusive. Registered representatives dually employed by the Credit Union and Qtrade
operate out of premises provided by the Credit Union to offer these products to the members of the Credit
Union. The Credit Union is compensated through the payment of commissions to it by Qtrade. The agreement
has an initial term of 48 months and is perpetual after that until terminated at the end of the initial term or at
any time thereafter on 180 days’ prior written notice. The agreement can be terminated on a shorter notice
period for certain breaches.
The Credit Union is a limited partner in the limited partnership which owns a 50% interest in Aviso Wealth
Inc., which now wholly owns Qtrade Securities Inc. and Qtrade Asset Management Inc.
MBS Program Administration Agreement with Concentra Financial Services Association, dated
September 25, 2014
This agreement permits the Credit Union to securitize certain high-ratio-insured Mortgage Loans it grants to its
members. The Credit Union is both an approved seller and also an approved issuer pursuant to the Canada
Mortgage Bond (“CMB”) program. The Credit Union is required to transfer to the Canada Mortgage and
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Housing Corporation (“CMHC”) all of its right and interest in mortgages it transfers into a mortgage pool. The
Credit Union continues to service those Mortgage Loans, but engages Concentra to assist with the structuring
of mortgage pools, purchasing or making a purchase market for the mortgage-backed securities, and providing
other administrative services. The Credit Union pays fees to Concentra for the services it provides. The
agreement continues, with respect to any mortgage pool, until all the mortgages are paid or discharged, or there
are no mortgage-backed securities outstanding with respect to that mortgage pool. Both parties also have the
right to terminate the agreement for breach.
Agreement with Open Solutions DTS, Inc., February 28, 2019
This agreement pertains to the conversion, implementation, support, training, etc. of the Credit Union’s new
core banking system. This contract continues while any schedule to it remains in force but is terminable for
material breach. The software products exhibit grants the Credit Union a non-exclusive, non-transferable, nonsublicensable, perpetual license to use the core banking system, and provides the Credit Union with
maintenance and support for that system. The initial maintenance agreement has a 10-year term, with automatic
renewals thereafter for 3-year terms.
Master Service Agreement with Celero Solutions Inc., February 4, 2019
This agreement provides the Credit Union with third-party hosting of its new core banking system as well as a
recovery site for that system. It is a perpetual agreement that continues until all schedules are terminated.
Subject to any specific provisions in the schedules, termination without cause requires at least 180 days’ notice
and is subject to termination charges calculated with reference to the number of months remaining in the thencurrent term of the schedule. The agreement is otherwise terminable only on default.
Agreement with 638961 Ontario Inc., carrying on business as Smart Solution, dated July 1, 2011
This agreement provides the Credit Union with the right to use the software it currently uses to process its
members’ financial transactions. The agreement grants the Credit Union a revocable, personal, nontransferable, non-exclusive, renewable license to use the banking system, and also provides the Credit Union
with software and hardware maintenance services. The agreement has an initial term of five years, with an
option to renew the agreement for a further term of five years which the Credit Union can exercise no later than
90 days prior to the expiry of the initial term. The Credit Union is required to pay fees as invoiced; the annual
rate of increase of those fees is restricted by the agreement.
The Credit Union has given verbal notice of its intention to terminate the contract by which it obtains the
software license, maintenance and support for its current core banking system, such verbal notice to be followed
up with written notice of termination effective April 30, 2020.
National Participation Agreement with Central 1 Credit Union, May 15, 2018; Draft Credit Union
Participation Agreement with Central 1
This agreement enables the Credit Union to provide the suite of credit cards offered by Collabria to the Credit
Union’s members and regulates the revenue sharing for those cards and the sharing of the costs to administer
the program.
Mortgage Referral Service Agreement with Rainmaker BDM Services Inc., April 21, 2017
This agreement provides the Credit Union with pre-screened near-prime mortgage applications. Rainmaker
solicits applications from brokers, pre-screens them, uses the Credit Union’s loan origination system to forward
the application, obtains high-ratio insurance for the mortgage, obtains necessary info or documentation for
underwriting, and forwards commitment letter to broker for delivery to mortgagor. For this, Rainmaker earns
a service fee. The agreement is terminable upon 60 days’ prior written notice or on breach.
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Mortgage Underwriting and Servicing Agreement with Paradigm Quest Inc. (“PQI”), June 30, 2016
Pursuant to this agreement, PQI underwrites, administers and services high-ratio insured mortgages originated
by the Credit Union’s mortgage broker channel, in return for fees calculated pursuant to the agreement. The
Credit Union may, but is not required to, refer other mortgages to PQI for underwriting, administration and
servicing. The agreement has a three-year term, with automatic renewals thereafter for one-year terms. The
Credit Union can discontinue PQI’s issuance of mortgage commitments on its behalf on 60 days’ notice. The
Credit Union can also terminate the agreement for breach.
The Credit Union is, however, at the final stage of transitioning this agreement to a new provider. This change
will be formalized and transition will begin within the coming weeks.
The Credit Union expects that the change in providers will result in improved service levels and thereby
significantly increased Mortgage Loan volumes compared to those generated in the Credit Union’s fiscal year
ended December 31, 2019. The expected increase in Mortgage Loan volumes means that the Credit Union has
need of selling the maximum number of Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, offered for sale hereunder. This
need prompted the Credit Union to request the extension discussed on page iii and 1 hereof.
Connection Services Agreement with Threshold Financial Technologies Inc. (now DirectCash
Management Inc., as managing general partner of the DirectCash Canada Limited Partnership, the
DirectCash ATM Management Partnership and the DirectCash ATM Processing Partnership) dated
July 21, 2008
This agreement provides the Credit Union with its connection to shared cash dispensing and point-of-sale
networks. The Credit Union pays fees to Threshold as invoiced. The agreement had an initial term of 7 years,
with automatic renewal for 3-year terms if neither party gives notice to the other of intent not to renew at least
90 days prior to end of then-current term; an amending agreement between the parties dated July 15, 2014, the
agreement now commences on June 1, 2014, the initial term is now five years, and the automatic renewal terms
are now one year. Either party can terminate without cause at the end of the then-current term on no less than
90 days’ notice. The agreement is also terminable for breach.
The parties also entered into an EMV Debit Card Provisioning Services Agreement dated April 1, 2011, which
has a 3-year term which automatically renews for further 3-year terms. This agreement provides the Credit
Union with “chip” debit cards for its members. This agreement is also terminable for breach.
Ficanex Canadian Exchange Licensee Membership Agreement with Ficanex Services Limited
Partnership dated September 20, 2004
This agreement provides the Credit Union with its membership in the Exchange Network, an ABM
network. The Credit Union pays to the limited partnership royalty and transaction fees. The agreement
continues for five years; the parties can, if the Credit Union is not in default, renew the agreement for additional
terms of five years. Ficanex can terminate the agreement immediately if the Credit Union has not corrected a
breach of the agreement within 30 days after being notified of the breach. Ficanex and the Credit Union can
terminate the agreement immediately for certain breaches. Particular rules apply in mergers, depending on the
membership status in the network of the entity with which the Credit Union is merging. The agreement is
governed by the laws of British Columbia.
Various Leases for Branch Premises
The Credit Union has entered into leases with its various landlords to obtain use of the space from which it
operates its branches and its corporate office. These leases commit the Credit Union to annual base rental
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payments for its next five fiscal years as of December 31, 2018 as follows: for its fiscal year ending December
31, 2019, $2.7 million; December 31, 2020, $3.0 million; December 31, 2021, $3.0 million; December 31, 2022,
$2.6 million; and December 31, 2023, $2.1 million. The Credit Union is also required to pay its pro rata share
of certain operating costs of the building in which it leases its branches, as additional rent.
These sums include the Credit Union’s lease of its main branch at 5290 Yonge Street, Toronto from the new
owners of that premises after the agreement of purchase and sale described below closes.
Agreement of Purchase and Sale with DCMS Realty (5290 Yonge) Inc., November 15, 2018
The Credit Union has entered into this agreement of purchase and sale for the building which it owns at 5290
Yonge Street, Toronto for a sale price of $15.5 million. The closing for this transaction is currently planned
for July 31, 2019.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
This Management Discussion & Analysis (“MD&A”) is provided to assist members with interpreting DUCA’s
results of operations and financial condition for the 2016, 2017 and 2018 fiscal years and the four-month interim
period ending April 30, 2019. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements
for the 2016, 2017 and 2018 fiscal years and the unaudited financial statements for the four-month interim
period ending April 30, 2019, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”). Effective January 1, 2018, DUCA adopted a new standard, IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
(“IFRS 9”). Comparative periods have not been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets
and liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognized in retained earnings as at January 1, 2018.
Accordingly, certain prior year figures may not be comparable. All amounts in the MD&A are expressed in
Canadian dollars.
All percentages are annualized where applicable and some numbers may not add due to rounding.
Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This MD&A may include forward-looking statements which by their very nature require management to make
assumptions and involve inherent risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are typically identified
by the words “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate”, “may increase”, “may impact”, and other
similar expressions, or future or conditional verbs such as “will”, “should”, “would” and “could”. Several
important factors, many of which are beyond management’s control, could cause actual future results,
conditions, actions or events to differ materially from the targets, projections, expectations, estimates or
intentions expressed in forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, changes in
general economic conditions in Canada, particularly those in Ontario; legislative or regulatory developments;
changes in accounting standards or policies; and the Credit Union’s success in anticipating and managing the
risks inherent in these factors. Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list is not exhaustive. Undue reliance
should not be placed on forward-looking statements as actual results may differ materially from expectations.
The Credit Union does not undertake to update any forward-looking statements contained in this annual report.
The Credit Union uses several financial measures to assess its performance. Some of these measures are not
calculated in accordance with IFRS, are not defined by IFRS and do not have standardized meanings that would
ensure consistency and comparability between companies using these measures. They are therefore unlikely to
be comparable to similar measures presented by other credit unions and financial institutions and should not be
viewed in isolation from or as a substitute for IFRS results.
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Four Months Ended April 30, 2019
•

Comprehensive income for the four-month period ended April 30, 2019 was $1.1 million compared
with $2.8 million for the four-month period ended April 30, 2018. The current period result was
impacted primarily by the timing of an increase in deposit balances arising from a successful Earn More
Savings Account (“EMSA”) campaign.

•

Income before patronage, tax and other comprehensive income for the four-month period ended
April 30, 2019 was $1.8 million compared with $4.1 million for the four-month period ended April
30, 2018. The current period result was also affected by the timing of an increase in deposit balances
arising from the successful 2019 EMSA campaign.

•

Interest and investment revenue of $41.8 million for the four-month period ended April 30, 2019 was
up 25.0% from the corresponding period in 2018.

• The provision for (recovery of) credit losses was essentially flat compared with a provision of
$0.3 million for the corresponding period in 2018.
• Non-interest expense of $16.8 million was $2.9 million higher, up 21.0% than the comparative
year-ago period.
•

Return on average equity (“ROE”) was 3.1% for the four-month period ended April 30, 2019
compared with 7.4% for the comparative year-ago period. The year-over-year result was influenced
primarily by the timing of an increase in deposits arising from the 2019 EMSA campaign.

• Total assets were $4.1 billion at April 30, 2019 compared with $3.4 billion at the end of 2018, an
increase of 21.0%.
• Member loans increased to $3.0 billion, up 5.0% from $2.9 billion at the end of 2018, primarily
resulting from strong performance in Mortgage Loan growth.
• DUCA adopted IFRS 16 – Leases with no restatement of comparative period results. The Credit
Union recorded a Right-of-Use asset of approximately $3.4 million on the lease of its branches.
• Member deposits increased to $3.2 billion, compared with $2.5 billion at the end of 2018, an
increase of 26.0%. DUCA had a very successful Earn More Savings Account campaign in 2019,
resulting in the significant deposit growth.
• Securitization balances increased to $653.0 million, up 2.0% from $638 million at the end of 2018.
DUCA will continue to fund a certain portion of its Mortgage Loan growth through this channel
as securitization provides stable access to long-term funding at a lower cost.
• Leverage Ratio was 4.4% at April 30, 2019. The regulatory minimum Leverage Ratio requirement
is 4.0%.
• The Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio was 11.0% at April 30, 2019. The regulatory minimum RiskWeighted Assets Ratio requirement is 8.0%.
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The Risk Weighted Assets Ratio is the
ratio of Regulatory Capital divided by
Risk-Weighted Assets, expressed as a
percent. Risk-Weighted Assets is the
sum of the absolute value of assets in
specified categories multiplied by a
corresponding
percent,
varying
between 0% and 100% depending on
the risk attributed to each category.
The Credit Union is required to
maintain a minimum Risk-Weighted
Assets Ratio of 8.0%. DUCA’s Board
has established a minimum RiskWeighted Assets Ratio of 10.5%. The
Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 11.0%
exceeds both of these requirements at
April 30, 2019.

The Leverage Ratio is the ratio of
Regulatory Capital divided by total
assets.
The Credit Union is required to
maintain a minimum leverage ratio of
4.0%. DUCA’s Board of Directors has
established a minimum ratio of 4.75%.
The Leverage Ratio of 4.4% was below
the Board policy but above the DICO
minimum requirement at April 30,
2019. The variance to the Board policy
resulted from significant growth in the
balance sheet from the successful
EMSA campaign.

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
Offering Statement, Class B Investment Shares, Series 4

Page 42

The Liquidity Ratio is calculated as
highly liquid assets divided by deposits
and borrowings, expressed as a
percentage.
In 2018, DUCA’s policy required the
liquidity ratio to be a minimum of 10.0%.
In 2017, the policy limit was a range of
10.0% to 20.0%. Prior to 2017, the policy
limit was a range of 6.0%-12.0%.
The increase in liquidity levels in 2019 is
a result of higher levels of deposits.
DICO requires the Credit Union to
comply with additional liquidity metrics
which are discussed in the financial
statements.

Non-Interest Expense

The Non-Interest Expense as a percent of
average assets is calculated as operating
expenses divided by average assets for
the reporting period.

% of Average Assets

1.4%

1.4%

1.5%

2015

2016

2017

1.3%

2018

1.4%

1.4%

DUCA’s non-interest expense as a
percent of average assets remained flat at
1.4% for the four months ended April 30,
2019 and the fiscal year ended December
31, 2018.

Apr-18 Apr-19
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Cost Efficiency Ratio
90.6%
62.8% 63.3%

2015

2016

68.5% 72.1%

2017

2018

Year ended

75.9%

Apr-18 Apr-19

The Cost Efficiency Ratio (“CER”) (or
expense-to-revenue ratio) is a measure of
productivity. It is calculated as non-interest
expense divided by total revenue,
expressed as a percentage.
DUCA’s CER was 90.6% for the fourmonth period ended April 30, 2019,
compared with 75.9% in the prior- year
comparative period.
Net revenues were up 2.0% and operating
expenses increased by 21.0% as a result of
continued
investments
in
people,
infrastructure and marketing

4 months ended

The Return on Equity (“ROE”) is
calculated as income before taxes and
patronage as a percentage of average
members’ equity.
DUCA’s ROE was 3.1% for the four-month
period ended April 30, 2019, compared
with 7.4% for the prior-year comparative
period.
Net revenues were up 2.0% and operating
expenses increased by 21.0% as a result of
continued
investments
in
people,
infrastructure and marketing

2019 Financial Performance Review
Net Interest Income:
Net interest income is comprised of earnings on assets, such as loans and securities less interest expense
paid on liabilities, such as deposits and securitizations. Net interest margin is the ratio of net interest
income to average earning assets, expressed as a percentage or in Basis Points.
The table that follows summarizes the year-over-year changes in our net interest income, product
portfolio mix and yields for the four-month period ended April 30, 2019 and 2018.
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Apr 2019

($ millions)
Average
Balance
Cash Equivalents and Investments
Personal Loans/LOCs
Residential Mortgages
Commercial Loans/Mortgages
Other

Interest

Apr 2018

Mix

1.89%

376

1.8

12.9%

1.55%

13

0.2

0.35%

5.27%

14

0.2

0.5%

4.70%

2,102

21.7

56.51%

2.95%

1,613

15.1

55.4%

2.78%

864

15.9

23.23%

5.65%

892

16.4

30.6%

5.64%

18

-

0.48%

19

-

0.7%

100.00%

Deposits

2,895

22.0

642

4.7

8

Members' equity
Total liabilities and Members' equity
Net Interest Income

Rate

19.44%

41.8

Total liabilities

Mix

4.0

3,720

Other

Interest

723

Total assets

Borrowings & Securitization

Rate

Average
Balance

3,545
175
3,720

3.36%

2,914

33.5

100.0%

3.49%

77.82%

2.36%

2,170

14.1

74.5%

2.00%

17.26%

2.25%

566

3.7

19.4%

1.95%

-

0.22%

26.7

95.30%

-

4.70%

26.7
15.1

100.00%

10
2.34%

2,746
168

2.23%

2,914

1.14%

-

0.3%

17.8

94.2%

-

5.8%

17.8
15.7

100.0%

1.98%

1.87%
1.62%

Interest and investment income was $41.8 million for the four-month period ended April 30, 2019
compared with $33.5 million for the four-month period ended April 30, 2018. The increase of $8.3
million or 25.0% was primarily a result of higher average interest earning assets, partially offset by
overall lower product yields.
Yields on loans and investments were 3.4% for the four-month period ended April 30, 2019 compared
with 3.5% for the comparative prior-year period Lower commercial loan balances arising from the
removal of certain large commercial credit exposures and efforts to diversify the commercial loan
portfolio, contributed to overall lower yields when compared to the comparative prior-year period.
Interest expense was $26.7 million for the four-month period ended April 30, 2019 compared with $17.8
million for the prior year period. Interest expense costs were 2.4% compared with 2.0% for the prior
year. The increase of 36 Basis Points was largely a result of a higher portion of Earn more Savings
promotions, a competitive deposit market and a higher interest rate environment.
Securitization and borrowing costs were $4.7 million, up $1.0 million or 27.0% due to higher levels of
securitization balances and borrowings during 2018 and higher funding costs. Overall costs increased
from 2.0% to 2.2%.
Overall funding costs increased from 1.9% to 2.2% as a result of the aforementioned items. Overall net
interest income was 1.1% for the four-month period ended April 30, 2019 compared to 1.6% for the fourmonth period ended April 30, 2018.
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Non-Interest Income:
Apr 2018

Apr 2019

($ millions)
Income

Mix

% of average
assets

Income

Mix

% of average
assets

Loan Fees

1.09

31.80%

0.03%

0.71

27.83%

0.01%

Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Investments

1.00

29.18%

0.03%

0.47

18.31%

0.01%

Wealth Management Fees

0.64

18.80%

0.02%

0.68

26.49%

0.01%

Service Fees

0.39

11.38%

0.01%

0.41

16.21%

0.01%

Foreign Exchange Gains and Losses

0.18

5.33%

0.00%

0.19

7.48%

0.00%

Rental Income

0.09

2.64%

0.00%

0.09

3.52%

0.00%

Other (Non-Recurring)

0.03

0.88%

0.00%

0.00

0.16%

0.00%

Total

3.42

100.00%

0.09%

2.56

100.00%

0.03%

Non-interest income, which comprises all revenues other than net interest income increased by $0.9
million or 33.0% to $3.4 million in 2019. Higher commercial loan fees of $0.4 million and a positive
mark-to-market adjustment of $0.5 million on certain investments as a result of market performance in
2019 were the primary drivers.
Provision for Credit Losses:
The Credit Union’s provision for credit losses was approximately $0.0 million for the four-month period
ended April 30, 2019 compared to $0.3 million for the prior year.
90 days and over delinquency was $1.4 million at April 30, 2019 and was essentially flat to the levels at
December 31, 2018.
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Non-Interest Expense:
Apr 2019

($ millions)
Expense

Mix

Apr 2018
% of average
assets

Expense

Mix

% of average
assets

Salaries and benefits

9.15

54.44%

0.25%

7.21

52.08%

0.25%

Occupancy

1.09

6.46%

0.03%

1.05

7.57%

0.04%

Depreciation and amortization

0.63

3.75%

0.02%

0.46

3.32%

0.02%

Deposit insurance

0.71

4.23%

0.02%

0.59

4.24%

0.02%

Directors and committees

0.05

0.31%

0.00%

0.07

0.48%

0.00%

Loss on derivative instruments

0.10

0.58%

0.00%

0.00

0.00%

0.00%

Marketing

1.50

8.91%

0.04%

1.05

7.58%

0.04%

Technology

1.20

7.17%

0.03%

1.24

8.92%

0.04%

Administration

0.75

4.46%

0.02%

0.56

4.01%

0.02%

Third-Party Servicing Fees

0.47

2.77%

0.01%

0.21

1.52%

0.01%

Professional Fees

0.44

2.63%

0.01%

0.52

3.74%

0.02%

Central 1 and Bank Charges

0.40

2.36%

0.01%

0.32

2.34%

0.01%

Donations

0.10

0.57%

0.00%

0.09

0.67%

0.00%

Other

0.23

1.38%

0.01%

0.49

3.53%

0.02%

Total other operating and administrative expenses

5.08

30.23%

0.14%

4.48

32.31%

0.15%

16.81

100.00%

0.45%

13.85

100.00%

0.48%

Other operating and administrative expenses

Total

Total operating expenses for the four-month period ended April 30, 2019 were $16.8 million, up $2.9
million or 21.0% from the prior year comparative period.
The CER was 90.6% compared with 75.9% for the four-month periods ended April 30, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, while the ratio of non-interest expense to average assets improved to 0.4% in the fourmonth period-ended April 30, 2019 compared to 0.5% in 2018. These results reflect: i. the growth in
assets arising from DUCA’s business investments to support growth and better serve a growing
membership base (marketing, people, operational and technology infrastructure), ii. the trend in noninterest expense relative to revenue growth, iii. the impact of the timing of an increase in deposits arising
from the successful 2019 Earn More Savings Account (EMSA) campaign.
Salaries and benefits were $9.2 million, up $1.9 million or 27.0% from the prior year. Overall full-time
equivalent (“FTEs”) employees were 264, up 55 FTEs or 26.0% from the prior year.
Occupancy costs were $1.1 million, up $0.4 million or 4.0% from the prior year. During 2018, DUCA
invested in refurbishing certain branches and leased out additional space for its head office staff.
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Depreciation and amortization expenses were $0.6 million, up $0.2 million from the prior year primarily
as a result of additional spend on computer equipment, branch renovations and the new branch in Mount
Albert.
Marketing costs increased to $1.5 million, up $0.4 or 43.0% from 2018 due to a continued focus on
DUCA’s digital marketing strategy, brand marketing and the Earn More Savings Deposit campaigns.
Financial Condition Review:
Total assets were $4.1 billion at April 30, 2019 compared with $3.4 billion at December 31, 2018.
DUCA’s loans grew $140.0 million or 5.0% during 2019 with loan balance of $3.0 billion at April 30,
2019.
Mortgage Loans increased by $134.0 million or 7.0%. DUCA continued to have good success in
mortgage originations through its mortgage broker channels which accounted for $118.0 million of the
growth. DUCA’s proprietary Mobile Mortgage Specialists channel accounted for $27.0 million of
growth. Certain liquidating portfolios accounted for the balance.
In October 2018, DUCA expanded its mortgage product suite to include near-prime mortgage
originations. DUCA’s near-prime mortgage portfolio increased to $368.0 million at April 30, 2019
compared to $341.0 million at the end of 2018.
Our Commercial Loan balances increased by $5.0 million and was impacted by payouts of maturing
construction loans.
Cash and cash equivalents totalled $275.0 million at April 30, 2019, up from $69.0 million at the end of
2018. Investments totalled $722.0 million at April 30, 2019, up from $381.0 million at the end of 2018.
The increases resulted from deposits generated from the 2019 Earn More Savings promotion in excess
of funds that were deployed in lending activities.
DUCA adopted IFRS 16 – Leases with no restatement of comparative period results. The Credit Union
recorded a Right-of-Use asset of approximately $3.4 million on the lease of its branches.
Wealth assets under management increased to $262.0 million at April 30, 2019 from $223.0 million at
year-end 2018, an increase of 17.0%. Wealth assets include mutual funds, stocks and bonds offered
through an arrangement with Aviso.
Member deposits increased to $3.2 billion at April 30, 2019 compared with $2.5 at the end of 2018. The
increase in member deposits is a result of a successful Earn More Savings campaign in 2019.
Securitization balances increased to $652.0 million, up from $633.0 million at year end 2018. DUCA’s
portion of residential mortgages that have been securitized was 31.0% the end of April 2019 compared
with 32.0% at the end of 2018.
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DUCA’s credit facilities to support its operations include access to a line of credit of $130.0 million with
Central 1, of which $50.0 million is prescribed for the guarantee of payment on third party municipalities,
universities, school boards and hospitals deposits with the Credit Union as agreed to by Central 1. The
line of credit is secured by a general security agreement covering all the assets of the Credit Union.
A line of credit facility is maintained with Fédération des Caisses Desjardins du Québec and Desjardins
Capital Markets (“Desjardins”) up to a maximum of $160.0 million and is secured by a pledge of
residential mortgages.
The Credit Union has access to a $14.0 million comprehensive credit facility with a major Canadian
chartered bank, which is secured by $10.0 million in bank deposit notes.
The Credit Union entered into an agreement with Mercury Receivables Trust on April 16, 2019 which
gives the Credit Union access to a $100.0 million credit facility, secured by a pool of $191.0 million in
conventional Mortgage Loans. Central 1 provides a performance guarantee on the drawn amount of the
credit facility funded volume.
On March 4, 2019 the Credit Union entered into The Bond Market Association/International Securities
Market Association 2000 Version Global Master Repurchase Agreement with National Bank Financial
Inc. which gives the Credit Union access to an uncommitted $50.0 million credit facility where the Credit
Union can access borrowing on a short-term basis by pledging mortgage-backed securities that they are
holding for liquidity.
As of April 30, 2019, the Credit Union has encumbered $40.0 of the $50.0 million of the prescribed
guarantee of payment on third party municipalities, universities, school boards and hospitals deposits
with the Credit Union as agreed to by Central 1 as described above.
As of April 30, 2019, the Credit Union has utilized $5.0 million of its available credit facilities.
Regulatory Capital was $180.0 million at April 30, 2019, down $1.0 million from December 31, 2018 as
a result of dividend payments offset by net earnings.
The Credit Union is required to maintain a minimum Leverage Ratio of 4.0%. The Board has established a
minimum Leverage Ratio of 4.75%. The Leverage Ratio of 4.4% was below the Board policy but above the
FSRA minimum requirement at April 30, 2019. The variance to the Board policy resulted from significant
growth in the balance sheet from the successful EMSA campaign.
The Credit Union is required to maintain a Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 8.0%. The Board has established a
minimum Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 10.5%. The Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 11.0% was above both
of these requirements at April 30, 2019.
Provincial regulations also require at least 50.0% of a credit union’s Regulatory Capital base be comprised
of Tier 1 Regulatory Capital. As at April 30, 2019, DUCA’s Tier 1 Regulatory Capital was in excess of
the minimum requirement.
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Year Ended December 31, 2018
•

Comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $11.0 million compared to
$13.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.

•

Income before patronage, tax and other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31,
2018 was $16.1 million compared to $18.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.

•

Interest and investment revenue of $111.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 was up
by 19.5% year-over-year while net interest income of $49.7 million was essentially flat compared
to the prior year.

•

The provision for (recovery of) credit losses of $(0.3) million was essentially flat year-over-year.

•

Non-interest expense of $40.9 million was $2.1 million higher than the prior year.

•

Return on average equity (“ROE”) was 7.2% for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared
with 7.9% for 2017.

•

Total assets were $3.4 billion at December 31, 2018 compared with $2.8 billion at the end of 2017
and up 21.6% year-over-year.

•

Assets under administration, which include off-balance sheet wealth management assets, were
$3.6 billion compared with $3.0 billion in 2017, up 19.4% year-over-year.

•

Member loans increased to $2.9 billion, up 19.7% from $2.4 billion at the end of 2017, primarily
resulting from strong performance in residential mortgage growth.

•

Member deposits increased to $2.5 billion, up 26.2% from $2.0 billion at the end of 2017. DUCA
had two successful Earn More Savings Account campaigns during 2018.

•

Securitization balances increased to $633.4 million, up 18.0% from $536.8 million at the end of
2017. DUCA will continue to fund a certain portion of its Mortgage Loan growth through this
channel as securitization provides stable access to long-term funding at an attractive cost.

•

DUCA returned $1.2 million to its members in the form of a patronage return. Cumulatively,
since 1998, DUCA has returned over $73.7 million to its members in Class A dividends and
patronage returns. Cumulatively, since 2017, DUCA has paid a total of $2.5 million in Class B
dividends to holders of Class B investment shares.

•

Leverage Ratio was 5.4% at December 31, 2018, compared with 6.3% at the end of 2017. The
regulatory minimum Leverage Ratio requirement is 4.0%.

•

The Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio was 11.8% at December 31, 2018 compared with 12.2% at
December 31, 2017. The regulatory minimum Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio requirement is 8.0%.
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DICO requires a minimum RiskWeighted Assets Ratio of 8.0%.
DUCA’s Board of Directors has
established a minimum RiskWeighted Assets Ratio of 10.5%. The
Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio was
11.8% in 2018 compared with 12.2%
in the prior year. The reduction from
2017 is primarily resulting from
balance-sheet growth.

DICO requires a minimum Leverage
Ratio of 4.0%. DUCA’s Board of
Directors has established a minimum
Leverage Ratio of 4.8% for 2018. The
Leverage Ratio was 5.4% at December
31, 2018 compared with 6.3% in 2017.
The reduction from 2017 was
primarily attributable to asset growth.

The Liquidity Ratio is the ratio of total
unencumbered liquid assets divided by
total deposits and borrowings.
In 2018, DUCA’s policy required the
liquidity ratio to be a minimum of
10.0%. In 2017, the policy limit was a
range of 10.0% to 20.0%. Prior to 2017,
the policy limit was a range of 6.0% to
12.0%.
DICO requires the Credit Union to
comply with additional liquidity metrics.
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The Cost Efficiency Ratio (“CER”) (or
Expense-to-Revenue Ratio) is a
measure of operational efficiency. It is
calculated as non-interest expense
divided by total revenue, expressed as a
percentage.
DUCA’s CER was 72.1% for the year
ended December 31, 2018, up from
68.5% in the prior year. Net interest
income and non-interest income were
essentially flat at $56.7 million while
operating expenses increased by $2.1
million to $40.9 million. The increase in
operating expense reflects focused
investment and spending to support
planned growth and development of the
Credit Union.

The Return on Equity (ROE) is
calculated as net income as a percentage
of average members’ equity.
DUCA’s ROE was 7.2% during 2018
compared to 7.9% in 2017 primarily due
to lower net income in 2018. Overall
revenue was flat while operating expenses
increased $2.1 million due to investments
in people, marketing and technology to
support planned growth and development
of the Credit Union.

2018 Financial Performance Review
Net Interest Income
Net interest income is comprised of earnings on assets, such as loans and securities less interest expense
paid on liabilities, such as deposits and securitizations. Net interest margin is the ratio of net interest
income to average earning assets, expressed as a percentage or in Basis Points.
The table that follows summarizes the year-over-year changes in our net interest income, product
portfolio mix and yields.
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($ millions)

2018
Average
Balance

Cash Equivalents and Investments
Personal Loans
Residential Mortgages
Commercial Loans/Mortgages
Other

Interest

2017
Mix

Rate

Average
Balance

Interest

12.7%

1.8%

362.0

4.5

13.8%

1.4%

13.0

0.6

0.4%

5.0%

11.0

0.5

0.4%

4.3%

1,772.0

52.5

57.6%

2.8%

1,327.0

35.7

50.5%

2.7%

881.0

51.5

28.7%

5.8%

907.0

52.9

34.5%

5.8%

17.0

-

0.6%

20.0

-

0.8%

3,075.0

111.8

100.0%

3.5%

2,627.0

93.6

Deposits

2,293.0

49.7

74.6%

2.1%

1,948.0

600.0

12.4

19.5%

2.0%

502.0

11.0

-

0.3%

62.1

94.4%

-

5.6%

Other
Total liabilities

2,904.0

Members' equity
Total liabilities and Members' equity
Net Interest Income

Rate

7.2

Total assets

Borrowings & Securitization

Mix

392.0

171.0
3,075.0

62.1
49.7

100.0%

15.0
2.1%

2,465.0
162.0

2.0%

2,627.0

1.5%

100.0%

3.6%

36.7

74.2%

1.9%

8.8

19.0%

1.9%

-

0.6%

45.5

93.8%

-

6.2%

45.5
48.1

100.0%

1.9%

1.8%
1.8%

Interest and investment income were $111.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared
with $93.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase of $18.2 million or 19.4% was
primarily a result of higher average interest earning assets, partially offset by overall lower average asset
yields. Average yields on loans and investments were 3.5% for the year ended December 31, 2018
compared with 3.6% for the prior year. Lower commercial loan balances resulting from the management
of certain large commercial credit exposures and efforts to diversify the commercial loan portfolio,
contributed to the overall lower yields compared to the prior year.
Interest expense on deposits was $49.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared with
$36.7 million for the prior year. The interest expense average rate was 2.1% compared with 1.9% for
the prior year. The increase of 20 Basis Points was largely a result of a competitive deposit market and
a rising interest rate environment during the year.
Securitization and borrowing costs were $12.4 million, up $3.6 million or 40.9% due to higher levels of
securitization balances and borrowings during 2018 and higher funding costs. The overall average
funding cost rate of borrowings and securitization increased from 1.9% to 2.0%.
The overall average funding cost rate increased from 1.8% to 2.0% year-over-year, as a result of the
aforementioned items.
The overall net interest income rate was 1.5% for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 1.8%
for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Non-Interest Income
2018

($ millions)
Income

Mix

2017
% of average
assets

Income

Mix

% of average
assets

Loan fees

2.5

35.5%

0.1%

3.5

40.7%

0.1%

Service fees

1.3

18.9%

0.0%

1.4

15.8%

0.1%

Foreign exchange gains and losses

0.3

4.6%

0.0%

0.6

6.5%

0.0%

Wealth Management fees

1.6

22.7%

0.1%

1.8

21.0%

0.1%

Rental Income

0.3

3.9%

0.0%

0.3

3.1%

0.0%

(0.3)

(4.6%)

0.0%

0.5

5.2%

0.0%

Unrealized (losses) gains on investments
Other (non- recurring)

1.3

19.0%

0.0%

0.6

7.7%

0.0%

Total

7.0

100.0%

0.2%

8.7

100.0%

0.3%

Non-interest income, which comprises all revenues other than net interest income decreased by $1.7
million or 19.5% to $7.0 million in 2018.
Lower commercial loan originations and balances resulted in $1.0 million of lower loan fees year-overyear. Wealth fees were lower by $0.2 million as a result of lower assets under management balances.
We also recorded a mark-to-market adjustment on certain investments of $(0.9) million given market
performance during the fourth quarter of 2018.
These were partially offset by higher one-time fees of $0.6 million resulting from the settlement of certain
delinquent commercial loans during 2018, which is included in other (non-recurring) fees.
Provision for Credit Losses
Effective January 1, 2018, DUCA adopted a new standard, IFRS 9: Financial Instruments. Comparative
periods have not been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities
resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognized in retained earnings as at January 1, 2018. Under
IFRS 9, the amount of the provision for Expected Credit Losses (“ECLs”) on Stage 3 impaired loans is
generally consistent with the specific provision under IAS 39 in prior years, and the amount of the
provision for ECLs on Stage 1 and Stage 2 performing loans is generally consistent with the collective
provision under IAS 39. DUCA recorded a transition adjustment of ($1.3) million to the opening retained
earnings balance for 2018.
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($ millions)

2018

2017

Transition adjustment from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

(1.3)

-

Provision for credit losses

(0.3)

(0.4)

Loan write offs, net of recoveries

1.1

0.3

Total gross loans, December 31

2,898.7

2,422.1

Stage 1 ECL allowance

3.8

N/A

Stage 2 ECL allowance

1.8

N/A

Stage 3 ECL allowance

0.8

N/A

Total allowance for expected credit losses, December 31

6.4

N/A

Collective allowance

N/A

7.2

Specific allowance

N/A

2.0

Total allowance for credit losses, December 31

N/A

9.2

The Credit Union’s provision for credit losses was ($0.3) million for the year ended December 31, 2018
compared to ($0.4) million for the prior year.
During 2018, DUCA settled certain Commercial Loans that had specific provisions allocated in prior
years resulting in a net recovery of $0.6 million. DUCA recorded an increase in the provision for credit
losses on performing loans of $0.3 million, primarily as a result of growth in Mortgage Loan balances,
partially offset by lower Commercial Loan balances.
Note 7 to the financial statements has additional disclosures with respect to the allowance for credit
losses, the movement of ECLs, the portfolio rating of loans by Above Standard, Standard and Below
Standard and delinquency aging analysis.
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Non-Interest Expense
2018

($ millions)
Expense
Salaries and benefits

Mix

2017
% of average
assets

Expense

Mix

% of average
assets

22.4

54.7%

1.7%

18.2

46.7%

0.7%

Occupancy

3.5

8.6%

0.1%

2.8

7.3%

0.1%

Depreciation and amortization

1.5

3.7%

0.0%

1.4

3.5%

0.1%

Deposit insurance

1.7

4.2%

0.1%

1.8

4.5%

0.1%

Directors and committees

0.5

1.1%

0.0%

0.4

1.1%

0.0%

Technology

3.6

8.9%

0.1%

2.5

6.5%

0.1%

Marketing

3.0

7.4%

0.1%

2.0

5.2%

0.1%

Professional fees

2.7

6.7%

0.1%

2.3

5.9%

0.1%

Loss on derivative instruments

0.1

0.2%

0.0%

0.0

0.0%

0.0%

Other expenses

1.9

4.5%

0.1%

7.4

19.3%

0.3%

11.3

27.7%

0.4%

14.2

36.6%

0.5%

40.9

100.0%

1.3%

38.8

100.0%

1.5%

Other operating and administrative expenses

Total other operating and administrative expenses

Total

Total non-interest expenses in 2018 were $40.9 million, up $2.1 million or 5.4% from the prior year.
The CER was 72.1% compared to 68.5% for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The increase in the CER was primarily attributable to higher non-interest expense resulting from staffing
costs as DUCA continues to invest in people and infrastructure to better serve members, technology and
marketing costs.
Salaries and benefits were $22.4 million, up $4.2 million or 23.1% from the prior year. Overall full-time
equivalent (“FTE”) employees were 250, up 60 FTEs or 31.6% from the prior year.
Occupancy costs were $3.5 million, up $0.7 million or 25.0% from the prior year. During 2018, DUCA
invested in refurbishing certain branches and leased out additional space for its head office staff.
Depreciation and amortization expenses were $1.5 million, up $0.1 million from the prior year primarily
as a result of additional spend on computer equipment and the new branch in Mount Albert.
Technology costs increased to $3.6 million, up $1.1 million or 44.0% from 2017. During 2018, DUCA
re-negotiated its contract with its banking system service provider resulting in additional fees for
development and incurred higher licensing fees and software development for other applications,
including the Account Opening System and the Loan Origination System.
Marketing costs increased to $3.0 million, up $1.0 million or 50.0% from 2017 due to a continued focus
on DUCA’s digital marketing strategy, brand marketing and the Earn More Savings Deposit campaigns.
In 2017, DUCA established reserves of $2.8 million for certain legal matters. These matters were settled
satisfactorily in DUCA’s favour resulting in the reversal of $2.0 million in 2018 in other expenses.
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Financial Condition Review
Total assets were $3.4 billion at December 31, 2018, compared with $2.8 billion at the end of 2017 and
up 21.6% for the year as a result of higher loan and investment balances.
DUCA’s loan growth during 2018 was $476.7 million, resulting in an increase in loan balances of 19.7%
from 2017’s loan balances of $2.4 billion.
Mortgage Loan balances increased by $529.4 million or 36.9% (2017 - $306.2 million, 27.1%). DUCA
continued to have good success in mortgage originations through its mortgage broker channel. During
2018, net growth in this channel was $391.2 million compared with $285.6 million in 2017.
In October 2017, DUCA expanded its mortgage product suite to include near-prime mortgage
originations. DUCA’s near-prime mortgage portfolio increased to $341.7 million at the end of 2018
compared to $145.7 million in 2017. The near-prime mortgage portfolio grew by $196.0 million in 2018.
To diversify our retail channels, DUCA launched the mobile-mortgage specialist channel in 2018. The
mobile mortgage specialists will meet members at a time and place that is convenient to the member and
are not restricted to doing business at a branch or during branch hours. Loan growth in this channel was
over $50.0 million and DUCA will continue to invest in the channel in 2019.
Our Commercial Loan balances decreased by $51.2 million or 5.3%. The commercial finance team has
been managing down certain large commercial credit exposures and new loan origination has been
rebalanced to be less reliant on large commercial and land transactions.
Total loans in arrears decreased to $36.8 million at the end of 2018 compared with $69.7 million at
December 31, 2017. The decrease was primarily due to the effective management of certain large
commercial credit exposures.
Investments and cash resources totalled $449.8 million at December 31, 2018, up from $334.1 million in
2017. This increase was primarily due to higher cash and investment balances on hand as at December
31, 2018 resulting from the Earn More Savings promotion in place during December 2018.
Member deposits increased to $2.5 billion at December 31, 2018, up 26.2% from 2017. The increase in
member deposits is largely attributable to two successful Earn More Savings campaigns during 2018.
DUCA continued its program of securitizing Mortgage Loans though Canada Mortgage and Housing
Corporation (“CMHC”) National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities (NHA MBS) and Canada
Mortgage Bond (“CMB”) Programs. Securitizing mortgages is an additional funding mechanism and
allows DUCA the opportunity to obtain funding at attractive rates compared to other sources, as well as
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matching the maturity terms of the underlying mortgages. In October 2017, the Department of Finance
(“DoF”) announced new housing rules including a stress test using the Bank of Canada’s 5-year posted
fixed rate for all insured mortgages and maximum amortization of 25 years and maximum property value
of $1.0 million for low-ratio mortgage insurance and no rentals or refinancings. The new rules have
resulted in lower volumes of insured and insurable mortgages, reducing DUCA’s overall securitization
volumes. While securitization balances increased to $633.4 million, up $96.6 million or 18.0% from the
prior year, a smaller portion of our mortgage originations were securitizable because of the changes.
DUCA’s portion of Mortgage Loans that have been securitized was 32.2% the end of 2018 compared
with 37.4% at the end of 2017.
DUCA’s credit facilities to support its operations include an $80.0 million facility with Central 1, a
$125.0 million facility (2017 - $75.0 million) with Desjardins and a $14.0 million facility with a Canadian
bank. These arrangements provide DUCA with additional borrowing facilities and at the same time
enable DUCA to more effectively manage cash flows, liquidity and yield optimization.
DUCA also has a $50.0 million facility with Central 1 for the guarantee of payments on third party
municipalities, universities, school boards and hospital (“MUSH”) deposits with DUCA.
None of the facilities were drawn at December 31, 2018 compared to $34.5 million at December 31,
2017.
Regulatory Capital was $180.9 million at December 31, 2018 up from $173.8 million at December 31,
2017 driven by net income in 2018 and partially offset by share redemptions and Class B dividends.
DUCA’s Leverage Ratio was 5.4% at the end of 2018 compared with 6.3% at the end of 2017 and exceeds
the minimum Leverage Ratio of 4.0% stipulated in the Act.
DUCA’s Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio was 11.8%, down 40 Basis Points from 12.2% at the end of 2017
but higher than the minimum Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 8.0% stipulated in the Act.
Provincial regulations also require at least 50.0% of a credit union’s Regulatory Capital be comprised of
Tier 1 Regulatory Capital. As at December 31, 2018, DUCA’s Tier 1 Regulatory Capital represented
94.7% (2017 – 93.5%) of its total Regulatory Capital, well in excess of the minimum requirement.
Wealth assets under management decreased from $236.7 million at year-end 2017 to $223.3 million at
December 31, 2018. Wealth assets include Mutual Funds, Stocks and Bonds offered through an
arrangement with Qtrade Financial Group (“Qtrade”) as at December 31, 2017.
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On April 3, 2018, Desjardins Group and a partnership comprised of Canada’s five provincial credit union
centrals (the Centrals) and The CUMIS Group entered into an agreement to merge the businesses of their
subsidiaries, Credential Financial Inc., Qtrade Canada Inc. and NEI Investments.
The new entity, Aviso Wealth, is jointly owned by Desjardins and a limited partnership comprised of the
Centrals/CUMIS, with each holding a 50.0% stake. The Centrals represent approximately 300 credit
unions across Canada. CUMIS is owned jointly by Co-operators Life Insurance Company and Central 1
Credit Union.
As a result of the merger, DUCA entered into a new partnership agreement with Aviso Wealth in April
2018.
Dividends
DUCA’s track record of profitability has enabled the payment of patronage, dividends on its Class A
shares and Class B investment shares.
The payment track record for the last five years is as follows:
($ millions)

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

Patronage return

1.2

1.2

1.2

2.1

2.0

Class A shares dividend

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

Class B shares dividend

1.2

1.3

-

-

-

During 2018, the Board declared a patronage return of 2.0% (2017 – 2.0%) consisting of bonus interest
on members’ deposits and loan interest rebates.
On February 28, 2018, the Board declared a dividend of 3.0% on the outstanding amount of the Class B
shares and a dividend of 2.0% on the outstanding amount of Class A shares to the holders of record at
December 31, 2017. The dividends were paid on March 1, 2018.
On February 28, 2019, the Board declared a dividend of 3.5% on the outstanding amount of the Class B
shares and a dividend of 2.0% on the outstanding amount of Class A shares to the holders of record at
December 31, 2018. The dividends were paid on March 1, 2019.
DUCA paid over $73.7 million to its members in Class A dividends and patronage returns since
introducing the profit-sharing Patronage program in 1998. DUCA has paid a total of $2.5 million in Class
B dividends to holders of Class B investment shares since 2017.
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Capital Management
DUCA is committed to a disciplined approach to capital management and maintaining a strong capital
base to support the risks associated with its business activities. At all times, DUCA adheres to capital
regulatory requirements prescribed by the Deposit Insurance Corporation of Ontario (“DICO”).
DUCA’s capital management philosophy is to maintain a prudent cushion of equity to ensure ongoing
economic stability as well as finance new growth opportunities.
DUCA’s capital management framework establishes and assigns the responsibilities related to capital
and sets forth both general and specific policy guidelines related to capital management and the reporting
mechanisms.
DUCA’s Capital Management is a key accountability of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of DUCA.
The Board provides oversight and approval of capital management, including the capital plan included
in the Annual Operating Plan (“AOP”). The Board regularly reviews DUCA’s capital position and key
capital management activities.
DUCA’s capital requirements are provincially regulated and monitored by DICO for both the minimum
regulatory capital and the risk weighted capital approach developed by the Bank for International
Settlements (“BIS”). DICO established a minimum capitalization of 4.0% based as a percentage of assets
and a minimum capitalization of 8.0% based on a ratio of capital to risk-weighted assets. In addition, at
least 50.0% of a credit union’s capital base, for meeting the standard, must consist of primary or Tier 1
capital that includes voting share capital, qualifying investment shares, contributed surplus, retained
earnings, less intangible assets such as goodwill and deferred income tax assets.
At December 31, 2018, DUCA’s Leverage Ratio was 5.4% (2017 – 6.3%), the Risk-Weighted Assets
Ratio was 11.8% (2017 - 12.2%) and Tier 1 Regulatory Capital to total Regulatory Capital was 94.7%
(2017 – 93.5%).
Capital levels are monitored monthly based on our forecasted financial position, on both capital leverage
and risk weighted basis. DUCA’s monitoring and forecasting procedures track the expected growth rate
in both assets and risk-weighted assets relative to earnings to determine if additional capital is required.
These projections also take full account of any future impact of changes in accounting standards.
Risk Management
The Board is accountable for the risk appetite of the Credit Union and for overseeing the Credit Union’s
management of its principal risks. While the Board delegates accountability for the development and
implementation of risk policies and procedures to the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), it retains
responsibility for ensuring that these policies and procedures remain adequate and comprehensive and that
the Credit Union follows them.
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Included in this policy are DUCA’s Risk Appetite Statements (“RAS”) and Enterprise Risk Management
Framework (“ERMF”) which are integral parts of the Credit Union’s overall ability to effectively manage
risks. The RAS and ERMF involve the interaction of risk-related activities including oversight, risk
assessment, risk quantification, monitoring, reporting, escalation, and risk controls.
DUCA’s risk taking activities are undertaken with the understanding that risk taking, and effective risk
management are necessary and integral to achieving strategic objectives and managing business
operations. However, above all, risk taking activities are guided by the Credit Union’s overarching
objective of safeguarding commitments made to its members and stakeholders.
DUCA’s ERMF Policy reflects the following risk philosophy:
•

DUCA’s strategic objectives are established by balancing the requirement to safeguard the
commitments the Credit Union has made to its members and stakeholders, while generating an
appropriate risk-adjusted return for our members;

•

The Risk Management function will be part of the management of the Credit Union with risk
analysis and risk reporting forming part of the regular activities and on-going responsibility of all
those who make decisions;

•

All employees are to base business decisions on an understanding of the risk that will be accepted.
This applies to transactions, products, planning, relationships with members or suppliers and any
other business activities. Risk management is about how DUCA makes decisions and ensures that
all decision makers consider the potential impacts (positive or negative) of those decisions;

•

All business activities will align with our Mission, Vision, Values, Code of Conduct and Policies;

•

Providing financial services inherently involves the assumption of risk. On this basis, DUCA’s
business strategy, the effective management and acceptance of risk, and its related risk appetite
are closely linked and integral components in business decision making;

•

Business strategy choices are evaluated based on appropriate risk/return trade-offs, the serving of
members’ best interests and satisfying needs of stakeholders. At the same time, strategic choices
must fit within the Credit Union’s risk appetite, which also is formulated based on serving member
best interests, satisfying needs of stakeholders, and the appropriate understanding and
management of risks;

•

The organization will maintain a culture that encourages all staff and the Board to be involved in
open, honest, timely and critical discussions of risk;

•

DUCA will develop and use a standard set of tools to assist in the identification, analysis,
evaluation and reporting of risk.

The Credit Union’s Board is accountable for the oversight of risk management that is centred on the
“three lines of defense” model:
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•

1st Line of Defense – DUCA’s first line of defense includes the CEO and business managers.
Businesses are ultimately responsible for the risks they assume and for the day-to-day
management of the risks inherent in the product, activities, processes, and systems for which they
are accountable as well as the execution of risk mitigation practices consistent with risk appetite.
Various committees are in place to oversee the day-to-day management of risk.

•

2nd Line of Defense – DUCA’s second line of defense consists of the Chief Risk Officer and the
Risk Management function. This group provides oversight of risk taking and risk mitigation
activities across the enterprise. The Management Risk and Asset Liability Committee
(“MRALCO”) also provides support to the Executive Leadership Team “(ELT”) for overseeing
enterprise-wide risk taking and risk mitigation activities.

•

3rd Line of Defense - The third line of defense consists of Internal Audit, which provides
independent assurance that controls are effective and appropriate relative to the risks inherent in
the business and that risk mitigation programs and risk oversight functions are effective in
managing risks.

Identification and Management of Key Risks
The identification, assessment and management of risk are critical elements of DUCA’s ERMF program,
both on a day-to-day basis as well as when any new business initiative or activity is undertaken. DUCA
manages these risks as part of its risk management activities through the MRALCO.
Our ERMF defines and categorizes risk as outlined below:

Credit Risk

Operational
Risk

Capital,
Liquidity, and
Market Risk

Strategic Risk

Compliance
Risk

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss when a member or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet the contractual obligations of repayment and arises principally from the loan portfolio. DUCA’s
lending philosophy is established by the Credit Risk Management Policy (“CRMP”). The CRMP
provides direction to management relative to:
•
•
•
•
•

Formulating operational credit policies covering eligible purposes of loans, collateral
requirements, credit assessment, risk rating and reporting, documentary and legal procedures, and
compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements;
Establishing a lending authority structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities;
Authorization limits are delegated to the Management Credit Committee (“MCC”), Chief Risk
Officer and Risk Management personnel;
Reviewing and assessing specific and aggregate credit risk;
Limits in concentrations of exposure to counterparties;
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•

Compliance with agreed exposure limits. Monthly reports are provided to the MCC and to the
Board on the quality of the loan portfolio.

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed human performance, processes or
technology. DUCA is exposed to a broad range of operational risks including talent acquisition, retention,
performance and succession, technology/systems failures, fraud/theft/misappropriation of assets, business
disruption, information/privacy/fiduciary breaches or failed transaction processing. The failure to manage
operational risk can result in direct or indirect financial loss, reputational impact, regulatory censure and
penalties, or failure in the management of other risks.
DUCA manages operational risk through its policies, procedures and internal controls related to human
resources, information technology development and change management and business operations.
Complementing these policies, procedures and internal controls, are teams that focus on the enterprisewide management of specific operational risks such as financial crime, business continuity/disaster
recovery, privacy and confidentiality, vendor management, project management, and information security
and information technology governance. These teams have developed specific programs, policies,
standards and methodologies to support the management of operational risk.
Capital, Liquidity and Market Risk
1. Capital Risk
The Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”) provides a framework for evaluating
and determining the amount of capital required to manage through unexpected losses arising from
adverse economic and operational conditions. Modelling and stress testing, applied to both near- and
longer-term planning, forecasting and strategic objectives, is a key component of the ICAAP. The
ICAAP includes: calculation of required capital levels based on the financial plan for the upcoming
fiscal year, application of stress testing related to key identified risks using sensitivity analysis to
determine capital impacts under different scenarios, assessment of internal capital targets for
reasonableness relative to the regulatory capital requirements and projection of capital levels over
multiple years. The ICAAP is reviewed, approved by the Board, and submitted to DICO annually.
Application of the ICAAP in 2018 confirmed that DUCA’s capital levels are sufficient. The Credit
Union does expect higher levels of asset growth in the future and will proactively manage its capital
to ensure capital sufficiency on an ongoing basis.
2. Liquidity Risk
Liquidity is the ability of a credit union to generate or obtain sufficient cash or its equivalents in a
timely manner at a reasonable price to meet its commitments as they fall due. Liquidity risk arises
from a credit union’s potential inability to meet both expected and unexpected current and future cash
flow and collateral needs without affecting daily operations or its financial condition. A credit union’s
obligations, and the funding sources used to meet them, depend significantly on its business mix,
balance sheet structure, and the cash flow profiles of its on- and off-balance obligations. These include
funding mismatches, market constraints on the ability to convert assets into cash or in accessing
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sources of funds, and contingent liquidity events, such as finding additional funds for undrawn loan
commitments or replacing maturing liabilities.
The Credit Union has implemented the following liquidity metrics.
1. The Credit Union’s key liquidity metric is the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”). The
LCR is a measure that aims to ensure that the credit union has an adequate stock of
unencumbered high-quality liquid assets (“HQLA”) that can be converted into cash at little
or no loss of value, to meet its liquidity needs for a 30-calendar day liquidity stress
scenario.
2. The Net Stable Funding Ratio (“NSFR”) is a standard that will require the credit union to
maintain a stable funding profile in relation to the composition of their assets and offbalance sheet activities.
3. The Net Cumulative Cash Flow (“NCCF”) is a liquidity metric that identifies potential
future funding mismatches between contractual inflows and outflows for various time
bands over and up to a 12-month time horizon. It measures the credit union’s detailed cash
flows to capture the risk posed by funding mismatches between assets and liabilities.
4. Another important metric developed by the Credit Union to measure liquidity daily is a
measurement known as the Internal Liquidity Ratio (“ILR”). The ILR is measured as a
total of unencumbered liquid assets divided by total deposits and borrowings.
The Board has established minimum ratios of 125.0% for the LCR, 110.0% for the NSFR, 100.0%
for the NCCF, and 10.0% for the ILR. LCR, NSFR, NCCF and ILR ratios are monitored and
reported to MRALCO and the Board Risk Committee/Board quarterly.
At December 31, 2018, DUCA was compliant with these requirements.
3. Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in financial market factors, most commonly
through interest rate changes. Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of DUCA’s financial position to
movements in interest rates. It arises from the fact that assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet
instruments mature or re-price at various dates. As interest rates change, net interest income can be
negatively impacted based on the distribution of these maturity and re-pricing dates. We assess our
level of interest rate risk using an income simulation model. Through this model, we run various
scenarios based upon expected interest rate levels and we manage our risk tolerance levels based upon
a 1.0% shock to those rates. The process and procedures surrounding this are governed by a defined
policy, which is approved by the Board.
At December 31, 2018, DUCA was compliant with these requirements.
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Strategic Risk
Strategic risk is the risk that DUCA is unable to identify and adapt to changes in the business environment
and/or is unable to implement appropriate business plans and strategies.
DUCA manages its strategic risk through its strategic planning process. The ELT, led by the CEO is
responsible for developing and recommending strategies and operational plans, which address key
industry, competitive, and consumer trends as well as the Credit Union’s key areas of strength and
limitation. Strategies and plans are developed by the ELT to align with the overarching strategic direction
set by the Board. To set direction and review progress, the Board provides input to, approves, and reviews
annual strategic and operational plans, and evaluates performance toward goals and objectives.
Compliance Risk
Compliance risk is exposure to legal penalties, financial forfeiture and material loss DUCA could incur
when it fails to act in accordance with industry laws and regulations or internal policies.
In many cases, compliance risk results from inadequate controls or issues related to training, due diligence
and human error. Compliance capabilities, processes, practices and training can be a significant challenge
and cost.
While the ELT is responsible for ensuring compliance on issues related to products and services,
transactions, sales and service practices and new and existing business activities, all DUCA employees
are responsible for protecting DUCA’s reputation and ensuring compliance with applicable laws,
regulations, and standards.
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Year Ended December 31, 2017
•

Net income attributable to members was $13.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2017 compared with $13.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. Included in
DUCA’s 2016 consolidated statements are the results of DUCA’s majority-owned
subsidiary, Zenbanx Canada Inc. (“ZBC”). Excluding the results of ZBC, DUCA’s 2017
net income was $12.2 million and up 5.0% from 2016.

•

Excluding the results of ZBC, DUCA posted income of $18.2 million before patronage
and taxes (“IBP&T”) compared with $16.6 million in 2016, an increase of $1.7 million
or 10.0% from the prior year.

•

On November 4, 2016, DUCA restructured its investment in ZBC with ZenBanx
Holdings Inc. (“ZBH”). The change resulted in the elimination of any further DUCA
expenditure of operating costs of ZBC effective November 1, 2016, the wind-up of ZBC
on December 31, 2016, and the termination of ZBH’s support of existing Zenbanx
accounts effective no later than July 14, 2017. By June 30, 2017, all ZBC deposit accounts
were closed.

•

As a result of the wind-up of ZBC, DUCA recognized $4.7 million in tax losses in 2016.
During 2017, DUCA recognized a further $0.8 million of tax losses related to ZBC. The
benefit of these tax losses is included in ZBC’s results in the chart below.

•

Summary of Results –
Millions
DUCA
ZBC
Income before patronage return,
And income taxes and nonControlling interest

DUCA
ZBC
Net Income attributable to members

2017
$18.23
-

2016
$16.57
- 4.15

$ Change
$1.67
4.15

% Change
10%
n/m

$18.23

$12.42

$5.81

47%

2017
$12.16
.81

2016
$11.54
2.19

$Change
$0.62
-1.37

% Change
5%
-63%

$12.97

$13.73

-$0.75

-5%

n/m - not meaningful

•

The cost efficiency ratio (“CER”), excluding ZBC, which is the ratio of operating expenses to
net revenues was 68.6% compared with 63.3% for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. The higher year-over-year CER is due to higher staffing levels and higher operating
and administrative expenses.

•

Return on average equity (“ROE”) (excluding ZBC) was 8.0% for the year ended December 31,
2017 compared with 7.8% for 2016. The return on average equity is a financial ratio that
measures the profitability of the Credit Union in relation to the average members’ equity. This
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financial metric is expressed in the form of a percentage which is equal to net income after tax
divided by the average member’s equity for the year.
•

Total assets were $2.8 billion at December 31, 2017 compared with $2.5 billion at the end of 2016
and up 12.0% year-over-year. Total assets including Qtrade wealth assets were $3.0 billion
compared with $2.7 billion in 2016 and up 13.0% year-over-year.

•

Member loans increased to $2.4 billion compared with $2.1 billion at the end of 2016 and up
17.0% for the year with solid improvement in the growth of Mortgage Loans and continued strong
performance in commercial lending.

•

Member deposits increased to $2.0 billion, up $160.0 million or 9.0% from the December 31,
2016 balance of $1.8 billion.

•

Securitization balances increased to $537.0 million up 25.0% from 2016. DUCA will continue
to fund a certain portion of its Mortgage Loan growth through this channel as securitization
provides stable access to long-term funding.

•

During 2017, DUCA increased its credit facility with Caisse Centrale Desjardins (“Desjardins”)
from $60.0 million to $75.0 million. In addition, DUCA has credit facilities totaling $80.0 million
with Central 1 and $14.0 million with a major Canadian Schedule 1 Bank. At December 31, 2017,
$34.5 million of the total facilities were drawn.

•

DUCA returned $1.2 million to its members in the form of a patronage return. Cumulatively,
since 1995, DUCA has returned over $72.0 million to its members in Class A dividends and
patronage returns.

•

Leverage Ratio was 6.2% at December 31, 2017 compared with 6.6% at the end of 2016. The
regulatory minimum Leverage Ratio requirement is 4.0%.

•

The Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio was 12.2% at December 31, 2017 compared with 12.3% at
December 31, 2016. The regulatory minimum Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio requirement is 8.0%.
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Current and historical performance metrics are depicted in the charts below.
The Risk Weighted Assets Ratio is the ratio of Regulatory Capital divided by risk weighted assets. Risk Weighted Assets is the sum of the absolute value of
assets in specified categories multiplied by a corresponding percent, varying between 0% and 100% depending on the risk attributed to each category.
Regulatory Capital is defined in Note 23 to the financial statements.

DICO requires a minimum RiskWeighted Assets Ratio of 8.0%.
DUCA’s Board of Directors has
established a minimum Risk-Weighted
Assets Ratio of 10.5%. The RiskWeighted Assets Ratio was 12.2% in
2017 compared with 12.3% in the prior
year, a decrease of 5 Basis Points.

DICO requires a minimum
Leverage Ratio of 4.0%. DUCA’s
Board of Directors has established a
minimum Leverage Ratio of 4.5%.
The Leverage Ratio was 6.3% at
December 31, 2017 compared with
6.6% in 2016. The year-over-year
reduction was primarily attributable
to asset growth, partially offset by
higher levels of Regulatory Capital
emanating from 2017 earnings.

The Leverage Ratio is the ratio of Regulatory Capital divided by total assets.
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DUCA’s Board policy requires the
liquidity ratio to be in the range of
10.0%-20.0%. In 2017, liquidity levels
reduced from the prior year due to
higher loan growth.
Prior to 2017, the policy range was
6.0%- 12.0%.

The liquidity ratio is the ratio of highly liquid assets held by DUCA to total deposits and borrowings

Cost Efficiency
Ratio

75.0%

68.6%

70.0%
65.0%

65.2%
61.9%

68.6%
62.8%

63.3%

2015

2016

60.0%
55.0%
50.0%

DUCA’s cost efficiency ratio,
excluding ZBC, was 68.6% for the
year ended December 31, 2017, up
5.3% from the prior year. Net revenues
rose to $56.7 million, up 10.0% from
2016 while operating expenses
increased to $38.9, up $6.2 million or
19.0%.

45.0%
40.0%
35.0%
2012

2013

2014

2017

The Cost Efficiency Ratio (“CER”) is the ratio of total expenses to total net interest income and other income

DUCA’s return on average equity,
excluding ZBC, was 8.0% compared
to 7.7% in 2016 due to improved
financial performance in 2017.

The Return on Average Equity (“ROE”) is the ratio of net income to average members’ equity
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Statement of Financial Position Review
DUCA’s loan growth during 2017 was $355.0 million compared with 2016’s growth of $81.0
million. Loan balances increased 17.0%, led with strong Mortgage Loan growth of $306.0 million
or 27.0% and net Commercial Loan growth of $49.0 million or 5.0%.
In October 2016, DUCA entered into an agreement with Paradigm Quest Inc. (“PQI”) to deliver
mortgage underwriting and servicing for DUCA’s Broker Services channel (“DBS”). Brokers are
now able to leverage PQI’s technology to track the status of deals, fulfil conditions and interact
with PQI’s credit centre to create a seamless mortgage process. During 2017, DUCA experienced
solid growth in this channel with over $285.0 million originated via this platform and net growth
of $220.0 million when factoring in runoff from DUCA’s legacy mortgage broker portfolio.
Also, in October 2016, DUCA expanded its mortgage product suite to include near-prime
mortgage originations. During 2017, over $133.0 million was originated in near-prime
mortgages.
Commercial Loan growth of $49.0 million or 5.0% was lower than 2016’s performance due to a higher
level of loan runoff, primarily maturing construction loans, during 2017.
The gross principal balance of individually impaired loans was $5.0 million at December 31,
2017, down from $5.7 million or 13.0% from 2016.
90 days and over loans in arrears increased to $36.5 million compared with $8.8 million at
December 31, 2016. A Commercial Loan that was delinquent 90 days and over for $24.0 million
was paid off in January 2018 with full recovery of principal, interest and fees. Excluding this
loan, 90 days and over loans in arrears was $12.5 million.
Investments and cash resources maturing within three months totalled $334.0 million at
December 31, 2017, down from $391.0 million in 2016. This decrease was primarily due to
higher cash needs to support loan growth and lower levels of mortgage securitizations in 2017.
During 2017, DUCA continued its program of securitizing residential mortgages though Canada
Mortgage and Housing Corporation (“CMHC”,) National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed
Securities (NHA MBS), and Canada Mortgage Bond (“CMB”) Programs. Securitizing mortgages
is an additional funding mechanism and allows DUCA the opportunity to borrow funds at lower
rates than term deposits as well as matching the maturity terms of the underlying mortgages. In
October 2016, the Department of Finance (“DoF”) announced new housing rules including a
stress test using the Bank of Canada’s 5-year posted fixed rate for all insured mortgages and
maximum amortization of 25 years and maximum property value of $1 million for low-ratio
mortgage insurance and no rentals or refinancings. The new rules have resulted in lower volumes
of insured Mortgage Loans, reducing DUCA’s overall securitization volumes. While
securitization balances increased to $537.0 million, up $107.0 million or 25.0% from the prior
year, a smaller portion of our Mortgage Loan originations were securitizable because of the
changes. DUCA’s portion of Mortgage Loans that have been securitized remained flat at 38.0%
for both 2017 and 2016.
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Member deposits increased to $2.0 billion at December 31, 2017, up 9.0% from 2016. Excluding
broker originated deposits and ZBC Deposit Accounts, member deposits grew 16.0% in 2017.
Regulatory Capital increased from $165.0 million at December 31, 2016 to $174.0 million at
December 31, 2017 driven by net earnings in 2017.
DUCA’s Leverage Ratio was 6.2% at the end of 2017 compared with 6.6% at the end of 2016
and exceeds the minimum Leverage Ratio of 4.0% stipulated in the Act.
DUCA’s Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio was 12.2%, down 5 Basis Points from 12.3% at the end of
2016 but higher than the minimum of 8.0% stipulated in the Act.
Provincial regulations also require at least 50.0% of a credit union’s capital base be comprised of
Tier 1 capital. As at December 31, 2017, DUCA’s Tier 1 capital represented 94% of its total
Regulatory Capital, well in excess of the minimum requirement.
DUCA’s Leverage Ratio and Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio exceed the requirements of the Act.
Wealth assets under management increased from $196 million at year-end 2016 to $237 million
at December 31, 2017. Wealth assets include Mutual Funds, Stocks and Bonds offered through
an arrangement with Qtrade Financial Group (“Qtrade”).
Statement of Comprehensive Income Review Net Interest
Income:
Net interest income is largely comprised of the difference, or spread, between the interest income
generated on our loan and investment portfolios and the interest expense incurred on both our
deposit base and other funding sources.
The table that follows summarizes the year-over-year changes in our net interest income, product
portfolio mix and yields.
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($ millions)

2017
Average
Balance

Cash Equivalents and Investments
Personal Loans/LOCs

$
11

Residential Mortgages
Commercial Loans/Mortgages

1,327
907

Other

20

Total assets

$

Deposits
Borrowings & Securitization

$
1,948
502

Other

15

Total liabilities

Total liabilities and members' equity
Net Interest Income

$

Interest
$
0.5

3.8

36.4
52.9
2,627

$

Members' equity

362

Mix

Rate

13.78%
0.42%

1.20%
4.35%

$
3

50.51%
34.53%

2.75%
5.76%

1,176
845

0.76%

336

Interest
$
0.2

3.3

Mix

Rate

14.12%
0.13%

1.11%
5.31%

34.5
48.9

49.43%
35.52%

2.87%
5.73%

19

-

0.80%

$

93.6

100.00%

3.56%

$ 2,379

$

86.9

100.00%

3.62%

$
8.8

36.7

74.15%
19.11%

1.90%
1.94%

$ 1,830
382

$
7.1

35.4

76.92%
16.06%

1.91%
1.99%

-

0.57%

17

-

2,465
162
2,627

2016
Average
Balance

$

$

45.5
45.5

$

93.83%
6.17%
100.00%

1.89% $ 2,229

1.78%

48.1

$

0.71%
42.5

150

-

$ 2,379

$

42.5

$

44.4

93.69%

1.91%

6.31%
100.00%

1.79%

Interest and investment income was $93.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017
compared with $87.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase of $6.6 million
or 8.0% was primarily a result of higher average interest earning assets, partially offset by lower
product yields.
Interest expense increased to $45.5 million, up $2.9 million or 6.9% from the prior year. Interest
expense on deposits increased $1.3 million or 4.0% from the prior year due to higher levels of
deposits, partially offset by lower deposit funding cost. Broker deposits reduced from $261.0
million at the end of 2016 to $180.0 million at the end of 2017, a 31.0% reduction year over year.
Securitization and borrowing costs were $8.8 million, up $1.7 million or 24.0% due to higher
levels of securitization balances and borrowings during 2017. Overall costs reduced from 2.0%
to 1.9%.
Overall net interest margin was 1.8% for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 1.8%
for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Other Income:
Other income was $8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, up $1.3 million or 17.0%
from the prior year.
Wealth balances grew 21.0% to $237.0 million and resulted in higher fee revenue in 2017. Loan
fees increased due to higher commercial loan activity in 2017 when compared to 2016. Foreign
exchange income increased because of higher volume of member related foreign exchange activity
during 2017.
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2017

2016

Income

Mix

3.52

% of
average
assets
0.13%

($ millions)

Loan fees

$

40.69%

% of
Income
Mix
average
assets
0.13%
$
3.10 41.95%

Service fees

1.37

15.84%

0.05%

1.51

20.43%

0.06%

Foreign exchange gains and losses

0.56

6.47%

0.02%

0.15

2.03%

0.01%

Wealth Management fees

1.82

21.04%

0.07%

1.37

18.54%

0.06%

Rental Income

0.27

3.12%

0.01%

0.36

4.87%

0.02%

Unrealized gains on investments

0.45

5.20%

0.02%

0.03

0.41%

0.00%

Other (non- recurring)

0.66

7.63%

0.03%

0.71

9.61%

0.03%

Total before ZBC

$

Zenbanx Canada
Total

$

8.65
0.00
8.65

100.00%
0.00%
100.00%

0.33% $
0.00% 0.16
0.33%

$

7.23 97.83%
2.17%
7.39 100.00%

0.30%
0.01%
0.31%

Provision for Credit Losses:
DUCA’s loan loss provision is determined in accordance with an established policy. Management
reviews the loan allowance position with a focus on Watch List accounts, impairment levels and
expected net credit losses.
DUCA’s loan loss provision is comprised of specific and collective provisions. The collective
provision is based on an established methodology using quantitative models. Specific provisions
are based on management’s review and assessment of losses on individually impaired loans based
on the best information available at the time of the assessment.
The commercial credit risk-rating model is based on a comprehensive assessment of the
borrower’s risk of default, through measurement of industry, business, management and financial
risk factors, along with the risk of loss given default based on an assessment of security
composition and relative historical recovery experience.
Overall credit quality improved during 2017 with the impaired loan balances reducing from $5.7
million in 2016 to $5.0 million in 2017.
However, 90 days and over delinquent loans increased from $8.9 million in 2016 to $36.5 million
in 2017 primarily because of one $24.0 million delinquent Commercial Loan. The Commercial
Loan was paid off in January 2018 with full recovery of principal, interest and fees. Excluding
this Commercial Loan, 90 days and over delinquency was $12.5 million. The Credit Union
believes the level of specific reserves is adequate to cover probable losses in the impaired loan
portfolio.
The Credit Union’s provision for credit losses was ($0.4) million for the year ended December 31,
2017 compared to $2.4 million for the prior year. During 2017, the Credit Union reallocated
approximately $2.8 million in specific loan losses to legal accruals in operating expenses as the
nature of the provisions shifted from collectability to legal claims. Excluding the reclassification,
the provision for credit losses were at the same levels in 2017 and 2016.
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The collective allowance was $7.1 million at December 31, 2017, down $0.4 million from the
prior year. The commercial mix of business shifted from 45.0% of total loans in 2016 to 40.0%
of total loans in 2017 resulting in overall reduced collective provisions.
(thousands of Canadian dollars )

2017

2016

Total loans, December 31

$2,422,069

$2,066,848

Provision for credit losses

-417

2,363

Loan write offs (net of recoveries)

322

881

Collective allowance

7,143

7,509

Specific allowance

2,047

2,420

Total allowance for impaired loans, December 31

$

9,190

$

9,929

Collective allowance as a percent of total loans

0.29%

0.36%

In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued the final version of
IFRS 9 which supersedes the current International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 39, Financial
Instruments, Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”) standard. IFRS 9 addresses (1)
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities; (2) impairment of financial
assets, and (3) hedge accounting. The standard has a mandatory effective date for the Credit
Union’s annual reporting period beginning on January 1, 2018. IFRS 9 will be applied for the
2018 annual fiscal period, without restatement of prior period comparatives.
The impairment model changes from an incurred loss model as the basis for measuring
impairment of financial assets to an expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. This could result in
earlier recognition of losses, because of moving to the ECL model, and will impact the Credit
Union’s estimate of allowances on loans receivable. There is a significant amount of judgment
involved in determining the ECL estimate and it is expected to be more volatile under IFRS 9 and
the incorporation of forward-looking information. The Credit Union continues to complete its
work over the calculation of the financial impact of this standard and related testing and validation
of its ECL methodology, including criteria for a significant increase in credit risk and the
incorporation of forward-looking information. Concurrently, internal controls, policies and
information systems are being updated.
Financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model under which they are
managed and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The implementation
of the new classification and measurement requirements is expected to result in the Credit
Union’s member loans continuing to be classified at amortized cost. Applying the new
classification and measurement requirements is not expected to have a significant impact on the
Credit Union’s member’s equity.
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Operating Expenses:
2017

($ millions)
Expense

46.66%

% of
Expense
average
assets
0.69%
$
16.23

43.89%

% of
average
assets
0.68%

Mix

Mix

Salaries and employee benefits

$

Occupancy

2.82

7.25%

0.11%

2.82

7.63%

0.12%

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

1.36

3.50%

0.05%

2.69

7.27%

0.11%

Technology

2.51

6.45%

0.10%

2.24

6.06%

0.09%

Professional fees

2.32

5.96%

0.09%

2.44

6.60%

0.10%

Marketing

2.02

5.19%

0.08%

1.62

4.38%

0.07%

Deposit insurance

1.76

4.52%

0.07%

1.38

3.73%

0.06%

Other expenses

7.96

20.46%

0.30%

3.25

8.79%

0.14%

88.35%

1.37%

11.65%

0.18%

100.00%

1.55%

Total before ZBC

$

ZBC
Total

18.15

2016

$

38.90

100.00%

0.00

0.00%

38.90

100.00%

1.48% $

32.67

0.00% 4.31
1.48%

$

36.98

Total operating expenses in 2017 were $38.9 million, up $1.9 million or 5.0% from the prior year.
Included in DUCA’s 2016 consolidated results are operating expenses of ZBC.
DUCA’s operating expenses in 2017 were $38.9 million and up $6.2 million or 19.0% from the
prior year, excluding ZBC in 2016. Included in DUCA’s 2017 operating expenses is $2.8 million
in legal accruals that was previously accounted for in the provision for loan losses. Excluding the
reclassification in 2017 and ZBC in 2016, operating expenses increased $3.4 million or 10.0%.
The CER was 68.6% compared with 63.3% (excluding ZBC expenses of $4.3 million for 2016)
for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The increase in the CER was
primarily attributable to higher staffing costs as DUCA continues its strategy to invest in people
and infrastructure to better serve members as well as higher legal accruals resulting from certain
commercial loan credit files that are in legal status.
Salaries and benefits were $18.1 million, up $1.9 million or 12.0% from the prior year. Overall
full-time equivalent (“FTE”) employees was 189, up 17 FTEs from the prior year as the Credit
Union continues its investment in people to better serve its members.
Depreciation and amortization expenses were $1.3 million, down $1.4 million from the prior
year. During 2016, the Credit Union undertook a review of its fixed assets and decided that certain
assets no longer had useful remaining lives and accordingly were fully depreciated in 2016.
Technology costs increased to $2.5 million, up $0.3 million or 12.0% from 2016 due to costs
associated with licensing fees and software development during 2017.
Marketing costs increased to $2.0 million and 25.0% higher than 2016 due to a focus on DUCA’s
digital marketing strategy and a stronger effort to improve the brand recognition of DUCA.
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Deposit insurance costs were higher due to higher levels of insured deposits and higher premium
levels.
Dividends
DUCA’s track record of profitability has enabled the payment of dividends on its investment shares.
DUCA has declared and paid a dividend on Class A series of these shares since inception.
DUCA pays its members a patronage dividend. The patronage dividend for 2017 and 2016 was
2% and paid in Class A shares. The patronage dividend is 2% of member interest paid or received
(up to a maximum of $1,000).
DUCA paid over $72 million to its members since introducing the patronage program in 1995.
The payment track record for the last five years is illustrated in the table below.
(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2017 2016

2015

2014

2013

Patronage return

1,179 1,164

1,173

2,141

2,005

891

919

940

Class A shares dividend
Class B shares dividend

- 857
1,257

On February 28, 2018, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of 3.0% on the Class B shares
and a dividend of 2.0% on the Class A shares payable March 1, 2018.
In prior years, the Class A dividend was declared in December of each year and payable on January
1 of the following year. The Class A dividend rate was 2.0% in 2016.
Zenbanx Canada Inc.
On November 4, 2016, DUCA and ZBH executed new agreements (the “New Agreements”) to
restructure the arrangements between them. Effective November 1, 2016, ZBH was responsible
for all costs associated with the operation of the Zenbanx account program at DUCA. Upon
receipt of regulatory approval on December 15, 2016, DUCA purchased all ZBH’s shares in ZBC
for $1. The completion of this purchase made ZBC a wholly-owned subsidiary of DUCA.
On December 31, 2016, DUCA wound up ZBC. As a result of the wind-up, DUCA has
recognized tax losses of $0.8 million and $4.7 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively, which
management expects to be able to utilize in the coming periods.
The Credit Union has incurred a cumulative after-tax loss of $6.9 million in ZBC when factoring
the anticipated recovery of these tax losses.
On February 1, 2017, ZBH announced a merger with Social Finance Inc. (“SoFi”). SoFi, founded
in 2011, is a San Francisco-based company that intends to leverage ZBH's technology to
complement their existing business and product offering. DUCA holds a common share
investment in SoFi valued at $2.1 million.
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Capital Management
DUCA is committed to a disciplined approach to capital management and maintaining a strong
capital base to support the risks associated with its business activities. At all times, DUCA
adheres to capital regulatory requirements prescribed by the Deposit Insurance Corporation of
Ontario (“DICO”).
DUCA’s capital management philosophy is to maintain a prudent cushion of equity to ensure
ongoing economic stability as well as finance new growth opportunities.
DUCA’s capital management framework establishes and assigns the responsibilities related to
capital and sets forth both general and specific policy guidelines related to capital management
and the reporting mechanisms.
DUCA’s capital management is a key accountability of the Board. The Board provides oversight
and approval of capital management, including the capital plan included in the Annual Operating
Plan (“AOP”). The Board regularly reviews DUCA’s capital position and key capital
management activities.
DUCA’s Regulatory Capital requirements are provincially regulated and monitored by DICO for
both the minimum regulatory capital and the risk weighted capital approach developed by the
Bank for International Settlements (“BIS”). DICO established a minimum Leverage Ratio of
4.0% and a minimum Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 8.0%. In addition, at least 50% of a credit
union’s Regulatory Capital must consist of primary or Tier 1 Regulatory Capital that includes
voting share capital, qualifying investment shares, contributed surplus, retained earnings, less
intangible assets such as goodwill and deferred income tax assets.
At December 31, 2017, DUCA’s Leverage Ratio was 6.25%, the Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio
was 12.23% and the Tier 1 Regulatory Capital to total Regulatory Capital was 94%.
Regulatory Capital levels are monitored monthly based on our forecasted financial position, on
both capital leverage and risk weighted basis. DUCA’s monitoring and forecasting procedures
track the expected growth rate in both assets and risk-weighted assets relative to earnings to
determine if additional Regulatory Capital is required. These projections also take full account
of any future impact of changes in accounting standards.
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Risk Management
The Board is accountable for the risk appetite of the Credit Union and for overseeing the Credit
Union’s management of its principal risks. While the Board delegates accountability for the
development and implementation of risk policies and procedures to the Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO”), it retains responsibility for ensuring that these policies and procedures remain
adequate and comprehensive and that the Credit Union follows them.
Included in this policy are DUCA’s Risk Appetite Statements (“RAS”) and Enterprise Risk
Management Framework (“ERMF”) which are integral parts of the Credit Union’s overall ability
to effectively manage risks. The RAS and ERMF involve the interaction of risk-related activities
including oversight, risk assessment, risk quantification, monitoring, reporting, escalation, and
risk controls.
DUCA’s risk taking activities are undertaken with the understanding that risk taking, and
effective risk management are necessary and integral to achieving strategic objectives and
managing business operations. However, above all, risk taking activities are guided by the Credit
Union’s overarching objective of safeguarding commitments made to its members and
stakeholders.
DUCA’s ERMF Policy reflects the following risk philosophy:
•

DUCA’s strategic objectives are established by balancing the requirement to safeguard
the commitments the Credit Union has made to its members and stakeholders, while
generating an appropriate risk-adjusted return for our members;

•

The risk management function will be part of the management of the Credit Union with risk
analysis and risk reporting forming part of the regular activities and on-going responsibility
of all those who make decisions;

•

All employees are to base business decisions on an understanding of the risk that will be
accepted. This applies to transactions, products, planning, relationships with members or
suppliers and any other business activities. Risk management is about how DUCA makes
decisions and ensures that all decision makers consider the potential impacts (positive or
negative) of those decisions;

•

All business activities will align with our mission, vision, values, codes of conduct and
policies;

•

Providing financial services inherently involves the assumption of risk. On this basis,
DUCA’s business strategy, the effective management and acceptance of risk, and its
related risk appetite are closely linked and integral components in business decision
making. Business strategy choices serve to determine overall risk appetite; a new strategic
initiative may result in a change to risk appetite (up or down) to the extent the choice
provides the merits of an appropriate risk/return trade-off, the serving of members’ best
interests and satisfying needs of stakeholders. At the same time, strategic choices are
shaped by, and must fit within, the Credit Union’s risk appetite, which is ultimately
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determined by balancing the taking of manageable risk, serving its members and satisfying
needs of stakeholders. Within this context, risk management and risk appetite will be
integral in the development of business strategy and ongoing decision making
•

The organization will maintain a culture that encourages all staff and the Board to be involved in
open, honest, timely and critical discussions of risk;

•

DUCA will develop and use a standard set of tools to assist in the identification, analysis, evaluation
and reporting of risk.

•

The Credit Union’s Board is accountable for the oversight of risk management that is centered on

the “three lines of defense” model:
•

1st Line of Defense – DUCA’s first line of defense includes the CEO and business managers.
Businesses are ultimately responsible for the risks they assume and for the day-to-day management
of the risks inherent in the product, activities, processes, and systems for which they are
accountable as well as the execution of risk mitigation practices consistent with risk appetite and
tolerance. Various committees are in place to oversee the day-to-day management of risk.

•

2nd Line of Defense – DUCA’s second line of defense consists of the Chief Risk Officer and the
Risk Management function. This group provides oversight of risk taking and risk mitigation
activities across the enterprise. The Management Risk and Asset Liability Committee
(“MRALCO”) also provides support to the Executive Leadership Team “(ELT”) for overseeing
enterprise-wide risk taking and risk mitigation activities.

•

3rd Line of Defense - The third line of defense consists of Internal Audit, which provides independent
assurance that controls are effective and appropriate relative to the risks inherent in the business
and that risk mitigation programs and risk oversight functions are effective in managing risks.

Identification and Management of Key Risks
The identification, assessment and management of risk are critical elements of DUCA’s ERMF
program, both on a day-to-day basis as well as when any new business initiative or activity is
undertaken. DUCA manages these risks as part of its risk management activities through the
MRALCO.
Our ERMF defines and categorizes risk as outlined below:

Credit Risk

Operational
Risk

Capital, Liquidity,
and Market Risk

Strategic Risk

Compliance Risk

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss when a member or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet the contractual obligations of repayment and arises principally from the loan
portfolio.
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DUCA’s lending philosophy is established by the Credit Risk Management Policy (“CRMP”).
The CRMP provides direction to management relative to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Formulating operational credit policies covering eligible purposes of loans, collateral
requirements, credit assessment, risk rating and reporting, documentary and legal procedures,
and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements;
Establishing a lending authority structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities
Authorization limits are delegated to the Management Credit Committee (“MCC”), Chief
Risk Officer and Risk Management personnel.
Reviewing and assessing specific and aggregate credit risk
Limits in concentrations of exposure to counterparties
Compliance with agreed exposure limits. Regular reports are provided to the MCC
and quarterly to the Board Risk Committee on the quality of the loan portfolio

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed human performance,
processes or technology. DUCA is exposed to a broad range of operational risks including
talent acquisition, retention, performance and succession, technology/systems failures,
fraud/theft/ misappropriation of assets, business disruption, information/privacy/fiduciary
breaches or failed transaction processing. The failure to manage operational risk can result
in direct or indirect financial loss, reputational impact, regulatory censure and penalties, or
failure in the management of other risks.
DUCA manages operational risk through its policies, procedures and internal controls related
to human resources, information technology development and change management and
business operations. Complementing these policies, procedures and internal controls are
teams that focus on the enterprise-wide management of specific operational risks such as
financial crime, business continuity/disaster recovery, privacy and confidentiality, vendor
management, project management, and information security and information technology
governance. These teams have developed specific programs, policies, standards and
methodologies to support the management of operational risk.
Capital, Liquidity and Market Risk
1.

Capital Risk

The Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”) provides a framework for
evaluating and determining the amount of capital required to manage through unexpected
losses arising from adverse economic and operational conditions. Modelling and stress
testing, applied to both near- and longer-term planning, forecasting and strategic objectives,
is a key component of the ICAAP. The ICAAP includes calculation of required capital levels
based on the financial plan for the upcoming fiscal year, application of stress testing related
to key identified risks using sensitivity analysis to determine capital impacts under different
scenarios, assessment of internal capital targets for reasonableness relative to the regulatory
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capital requirements and projection of capital levels forward over multiple years and
assessment against regulatory and internal capital requirements.
The ICAAP is submitted to DICO annually.
Application of the ICAAP in 2017 confirmed that DUCA’s capital levels are sufficient. The
Credit Union does expect higher levels of asset growth in the future and as such, a share raise
may be required in 2019/2020.
2.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity is the ability of a credit union to generate or obtain sufficient cash or its equivalents
in a timely manner at a reasonable price to meet its commitments as they fall due. Liquidity
risk arises from a credit union’s potential inability to meet both expected and unexpected
current and future cash flow and collateral needs without affecting daily operations or its
financial condition. A credit union’s obligations, and the funding sources used to meet them,
depend significantly on its business mix, balance sheet structure, and the cash flow profiles of
its on- and off-balance obligations. These include funding mismatches, market constraints on
the ability to convert assets into cash or in accessing sources of funds, and contingent liquidity
events, such as finding additional funds for undrawn loan commitments or replacing maturing
liabilities.
The Credit Union has implemented the following liquidity metrics.
i.

The Credit Union’s key liquidity metric is the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”). The LCR is a
measure that aims to ensure that the credit union has an adequate stock of unencumbered highquality liquid assets (“HQLA”) that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value, to meet
its liquidity needs for a 30-calendar day liquidity stress scenario.

ii.

The Net Stable Funding Ratio (“NSFR”) is a standard that will require the credit union to maintain
a stable funding profile in relation to the composition of their assets and off-balance sheet
activities.

iii.

The Net Cumulative Cash Flow Ratio (“NCCFR”) is a liquidity metric that identifies potential
future funding mismatches between contractual inflows and outflows for various time bands over
and up to a 12-month time horizon. It measures the credit union’s detailed cash flows to capture
the risk posed by funding mismatches between assets and liabilities.

iv.

Another important metric developed by the Credit Union to measure liquidity daily is a
measurement known as the Internal Liquidity Ratio (“ILR”).

The Board has established minimum ratios of 125.0% for the LCR, 110.0% for NSFR and
NCCFR and 10.0%-20.0% for the ILR. LCR, NSFR, NCCFR and ILR ratios are monitored
and reported to MRALCO and the Board Risk Committee/Board quarterly.
At December 31, 2017, DUCA was compliant with these requirements.
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3.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in financial market factors, most
commonly through interest rate changes. Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of DUCA’s
financial position to movements in interest rates. It arises from the fact that assets, liabilities
and off-balance sheet instruments mature or re-price at various dates. As interest rates
change, net interest income can be negatively impacted based on the distribution of these
maturity and re-pricing dates. We assess our level of interest rate risk using an income
simulation model. Through this model, we run various scenarios based upon expected
interest rate levels and we manage our risk tolerance levels based upon a 1% shock to those
rates. The process and procedures surrounding this are governed by a defined policy, which
is approved by the Board.
At December 31, 2017, DUCA was compliant with these requirements.

Strategic Risk
Strategic risk is the risk that DUCA is unable to identify and adapt to changes in the business
environment and/or is unable to implement appropriate business plans and strategies.
DUCA manages its strategic risk through its strategic planning process. The ELT, led by the
CEO is responsible for developing and recommending strategies and operational plans which address
key industry, competitive, and consumer trends as well as the Credit Union’s key areas of strength
and limitation. Strategies and plans are developed by the ELT to align with the overarching strategic
direction set by the Board. To set direction and review progress, the Board provides input to,
approves, and reviews annual strategic and operational plans, and evaluates performance toward goals
and objectives.
Compliance Risk
Compliance risk is exposure to legal penalties, financial forfeiture and material loss DUCA
could incur when it fails to act in accordance with industry laws and regulations or internal
policies.
In many cases, compliance risk results from inadequate controls or issues related to training,
due diligence and human error. Compliance capabilities, processes, practices and training
can be a significant challenge and cost.
While the ELT is responsible for ensuring compliance on issues related to products and
services, transactions, sales and services practices and new and existing business activities,
all DUCA employees are responsible for protecting DUCA’s reputation and ensuring
compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and standards.

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
Offering Statement, Class B Investment Shares, Series 4
Page 82

Year Ended December 31, 2016
•

Net income attributable to members was $13.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016
compared to $2.0 for the year ended December 31, 2015. Included in DUCA’s consolidated
results are the results of DUCA’s majority-owned subsidiary, Zenbanx Canada Inc. (“ZBC”)

•

On November 4, 2016, DUCA restructured its investment in ZBC with its partner, ZenBanx
Holdings Inc. (“ZBH”). This change has resulted in the elimination of any further DUCA
expenditure of operating costs of ZBC effective November 1, 2016, the wind-up of ZBC on
December 31, 2016, and the planned termination of DUCA’s support of existing Zenbanx
accounts effective no later than July 14, 2017.

•

DUCA’s consolidated results reflect its 60.0% portion of ZBC totaling net income of $2.2
million and a net operating loss of $7.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and
2015, respectively. As a result of the aforementioned wind-up, DUCA recognized $4.7 million
in tax losses in 2016, which resulted in the reported net income of $2.2 million for ZBC.

•

Summary of Results – Net Income

millions

2016

2015

$ Change

% Change

DUCA
ZBC

$

11.5
2.2

$

9.7 $
(7.7)

1.8
9.9

19%
nm

Net Income

$

13.7

$

2.0 $

11.7

nm

nm - not meaningful

•

The cost efficiency ratio (“CER”), which is the ratio of operating expenses to net revenues
(excluding ZBC) was 63.0% for the year ended December 31, 2016, essentially flat to the prior
year

•

Return on average equity (“ROE”) (excluding ZBC) was 7.8% for the year ended December
31, 2016 compared with 9.5% for 2015. The year-over-year ROE reduction was largely driven
by higher levels of Regulatory Capital as a result of the successful Class B share offering in
December 2015

•

Total assets were $2.5 billion at December 31, 2016, up 8.0% from 2015

•

Member loans increased to $2.1 billion, up 4.0% from the prior year with improved
performance in delinquency when compared to 2015

•
•

Member deposits increased to $1.8 billion, up 4.0% from the prior year
DUCA continued to diversify its funding sources increasing its securitization balances from
$330.0 million at the end of 2015 to $432.0 million at December 31, 2016. In addition, DUCA
increased its credit facility with Desjardins from $60.0 million at December 31, 2016 to $75.0
million on January 20, 2017.
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•

DUCA returned $2.0 million to its members in the form of Class A dividends and a patronage return.
Cumulatively, since 1995, DUCA has returned over $70 million to its members in Class A dividends
and patronage returns.

•

Leverage Ratio was 6.7% at December 31, 2016 and essentially flat to the prior year. The regulatory
minimum Leverage Ratio requirement is 4.0%.

•

The Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio was 12.3% at 31 December 2016 compared with 12.6% at December
31, 2015. The regulatory minimum Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio is 8.0%.

Current and historical performance metrics are depicted in the charts below. ZBC has been excluded to facilitate
year-over-year comparisons.

DICO requires a minimum RiskWeighted Assets Ratio of 8.0%.
DUCA’s Board of Directors has
established a minimum Risk-Weighted
Assets Ratio of 10.5%. The RiskWeighted Assets Ratio reduced slightly
in 2016 when compared to 2015 as 2016
net earnings were able to support the
growth in the balance sheet. The
increase in 2015 was due to the Class B
capital raise of $41m.
The Risk Weighted Assets Ratio is the ratio of Regulatory Capital divided by Risk-Weighted Assets. Risk-Weighted Assets is the sum of the absolute value
of assets in specified categories multiplied by a corresponding percent, varying between 0% and 100% depending on the risk attributed to each category.
Regulatory Capital is defined in Note 23 to the financial statements

DICO requires a minimum Leverage
Ratio of 4.0%. DUCA’s Board of
Directors has established a minimum
Leverage Ratio of 4.5%. The Leverage
Ratio remained essentially flat in 2016
when compared to 2015 as 2016 net
earnings were able to support the
growth in the balance sheet. The
increase in 2015 was due to the Class B
capital raise of $41m.

The Leverage Ratio is the ratio of Regulatory Capital divided by total assets
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DUCA’s Board policy requires the
liquidity ratio to be in the range of 6.0%12.0%. The ratio at the end of 2016 was
16.0% and higher than the target range
established by the Board. Management
has implemented plans to bring liquidity
levels in line with Board policy. Liquidity
at February 28, 2017 was 13.0% due to
loan growth.

The liquidity ratio is the ratio of highly liquid assets held by DUCA to total deposits and borrowings

DUCA’s cost efficiency ratio, excluding
ZBC, was 63.0% for the year ended
December 31, 2016 and essentially flat to
2015. Net revenues rose to $51.8 million,
up 10.0% from 2015 while operating
expenses increased to $32.7, up $3.2
million or 11.0%

The Cost Efficiency Ratio (“CER”) is the ratio of total expenses to total net interest income and other income

DUCA’s return on average equity,
excluding ZBC, was 7.8% compared to
9.5% in 2015. Notwithstanding higher
year-over-year net income, the ROE was
lower as a result of higher capital levels
resulting from the successful Class B share
raise

The Return on Average Equity (“ROE”) is the ratio of net income to average members’ equity
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Statement of Financial Position Review
DUCA’s loan growth during 2016 was $81.0 million, compared with 2015’s growth of $270.0
million, or 4.0%, led by Commercial Loan growth of $76.0 million (2015 - $168.0 million) and
Mortgage Loan growth of $5.0 million (2015 - $102.0 million). Included in Mortgage Loan growth
is $38.0 million of Mortgage Loans purchased from another credit union during 2016.
Lower Mortgage Loan growth was primarily due to the re-positioning of DUCA’s Residential
Mortgage Broker business (“DBS”) during 2016. In October 2016, DUCA entered into an agreement
with Paradigm Quest Inc. (PQI”) to deliver mortgage underwriting and servicing for DBS. Brokers
who work with DUCA are now able to leverage PQI’s technology to track the status of deals, fulfill
conditions and interact with PQI’s credit centre to create a seamless mortgage process.
Commercial Loan growth of $76.0 million or 9.0% was healthy but lower than 2015’s performance
due to a higher level of loan runoff, primarily maturing construction loans, during 2016.
The gross principal balance of individually impaired loans was $5.7 million at December 31, 2016,
down 53.0% from 2015. DUCA also had good success in reducing the portfolio of loans past due 90
days with the portfolio reducing from $21.9 million in 2015 to $8.9 million in 2016, a reduction of
over 60.0%, primarily as a result of the liquidation of two properties.
Investments and cash resources maturing within three months totalled $363.0 million at December
31, 2016, up from $251.0 million in 2015. This increase was primarily due to Mortgage Loan
securitizations and lower loan growth.
In order to diversify DUCA’s funding sources, the program of securitizing Mortgage Loans was
continued. In December 2014, DUCA undertook the first Mortgage Loan securitization in its history
and DUCA has continued this program during 2016. Securitizing Mortgage Loans is an additional
funding mechanism and allows DUCA the opportunity to borrow funds at lower rates than term
deposits as well as matching the maturity terms of the underlying Mortgage Loans. Securitization
balances increased to $432.0 million, up $102.0 million or 31.0% from the prior year.
Member deposits increased to $1.8 billion at December 31, 2016, up 4.0% from 2015. Included in member
deposits are broker originated deposits totalling $261.0 million at December 31, 2016, down $66.0 million
in 2016. Excluding broker deposits, member deposits grew 10.0%.
DUCA has three credit facilities to support its operations; an $80.0 million facility with Central 1, a
$60.0 million facility with Caisse Centrale Desjardins (“Desjardins”) and a $14.0 million facility with
a Canadian bank. These arrangements provide DUCA with additional borrowing facilities and at the
same time enables DUCA to more effectively manage borrowing needs, liquidity and optimizing
yields. All of the facilities were unused at December 31, 2016. The Desjardins facility was increased
to $75.0 million on January 20, 2017.
Regulatory Capital increased from $152.0 million at December 31, 2015 to $165.0 million at
December 31, 2016 driven primarily by net earnings in 2016. DUCA’s Leverage Ratio and RiskWeighted Assets Ratio exceed the requirements of the Act. DUCA’s Leverage Ratio was 7.0% at
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the end of 2016, essentially flat to 2015, and exceeds the minimum of 4.0% stipulated in the Act.
DUCA’s Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio was 12.0%, down from 13.0% at the end of 2015 but higher
than the minimum of 8.0% stipulated in the Act. Provincial regulations also require at least 50% of
a credit union’s Regulatory Capital be comprised of Tier 1 Regulatory Capital. As at December 31,
2016, DUCA’s Tier 1 Regulatory Capital represented 93% of its total Regulatory Capital, well in
excess of the minimum requirement.
Wealth assets under management increased from $143.0 million at year-end 2015 to $200.0 million
at December 31, 2016. Wealth assets include mutual funds, stocks and bonds offered through an
arrangement with Qtrade.
Statement of Comprehensive Income Review
Net Interest Income:
Net interest income is largely comprised of the difference, or spread, between the interest income
generated on DUCA’s loan and investment portfolios and the interest expense incurred on both the
deposit base and other funding sources.
The table that follows summarizes the year-over-year changes in DUCA’s net interest income,
product portfolio mix and yields.
($ millions)

2016
Average
Balance

Cash Equivalents and Investments

$

Personal Loans/LOCs
Residential Mortgages
Commercial Loans/Mortgages
Other

Interest

336

$

2015
Mix
14.12%

3

0.2

0.13%

5.31%

1,176

34.5

49.43%

845

48.9

35.52%

19

-

0.80%

Total assets

$

2,379

$

86.9

100.00%

Deposits

$

1,830.0

$

35.4
7.1

Borrowings & Securitization

382

Other

17

Total liabilities

$

Members' equity
Total liabilities and Members' equity
Net Interest Income

2,229
150

$

Rate

3.3

2,379

6.31%

44.4

0.2

0.14%

5.39%

2.87%

1,125

35.8

54.11%

2.98%

5.73%

721

39.5

34.68%

5.42%

18

-

0.87%

1.91%

93.69%

100.00%

Rate

3

1.99%

$

Mix
10.20%

16.06%

-

Interest
1.8

76.92%

42.5

$

212

2,079

0.71%

42.5

1.11% $

3.62% $

-

$

Average
Balance

$

77.3

100.00%

3.59%

1,716

36.0

82.54%

1.97%

222

4.7

10.68%

2.21%

16
1.91%

1,954
125

1.79% $

0.86%

2,079

-

0.77%

40.7

93.99%

-

6.01%

$

40.7

$

36.6

100.00%

1.98%

1.86%

Interest and investment income was $86.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared
to $77.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The increase of $9.6 million or 12.0% was
primarily a result of higher average interest earning assets. The low interest rate environment and a
competitive market continues to impact net interest margin spreads.
Interest expense increased to $42.5 million, up $1.8 million or 4.4% from the prior year. Interest
expense on deposits reduced $0.6 million or 2.0% from the prior year as DUCA’s funding needs
shifted to Mortgage Loan securitization, as a more cost effective channel for funding 5-year Mortgage
Loans. In addition, DUCA continued to reduce its dependency on broker originated deposits resulting
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in overall reduced funding costs. Broker deposits reduced from $326.0 million at the end of 2015 to
$261.0 million at the end of 2016, a 20.0% reduction year over year.
Net interest margin was 1.8% for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to 1.7% for the year
ended December 31, 2015.
Other Income:
Other income was $7.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, down $3.2 million or 30.0%
from the prior year. Included in other income were non-recurring fee income items of $0.7 million
and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Excluding the
aforementioned items, other income reduced $2.8 million in 2016 largely a result of lower loan fees
associated with Commercial Loans and lower foreign exchange income, partially offset by higher
wealth management fees. Commercial loan new volume was $287.0 million in 2016 compared to
$358.0 million in 2015.
2016

($ millions)
Income

Mix

2015
% of average
assets

Income

Mix

% of average
assets

Loan fees

2.10

28.4%

0.09%

3.84

36.2%

0.18%

Service fees

2.54

34.4%

0.11%

3.06

28.9%

0.15%

Foreign exchange gains and losses

0.15

2.0%

0.01%

1.02

9.6%

0.05%

Wealth Management fees

1.37

18.5%

0.06%

1.09

10.3%

0.05%

Rental Income

0.36

4.9%

0.02%

0.26

2.5%

0.01%

Other (non- recurring)

0.71

9.6%

0.03%

1.13

10.7%

0.05%

Total before ZBC

7.23

97.8%

0.30%

10.40

98.1%

0.50%

ZBC

0.16

2.2%

0.01%

0.20

1.9%

0.01%

Total

7.39

100.0%

0.31%

10.60

100.0%

0.51%
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Provision for Credit Losses:
(thousands of Canadian dollars )

2016

2015

Total loans, December 31

$2,066,848

$1,985,529

Provision for credit losses

2,363

2,899

881

362

Loan write offs (net of recoveries)
Collective allowance

$

Specific allowance
Total allowance for impaired loans, December 31
Collective allowance as a percent of total loans

7,509

$

2,420
$

9,929
0.36%

4,960
3,487

$

8,447
0.25%

DUCA’s loan loss provision is determined in accordance with established policy. Management
reviews the loan allowance position with a focus on updated forecasts for watch list accounts,
impairment levels and expected net credit losses.
DUCA’s loan loss provision is comprised of specific and collective provisions. The collective
provision is based on an established methodology using quantitative models. Specific provisions are
based on management’s review and assessment of losses on individually impaired loans based on the
best information available at the time of the assessment.
The commercial credit risk-rating model is based on a comprehensive assessment of the borrower’s
risk of default, through measurement of industry, business, management and financial risk factors,
along with the risk of loss given default based on an assessment of security composition and relative
historical recovery experience.
The Credit Union’s provision for credit losses was $2.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2016 compared to $2.9 million for the prior year. The reduction in 2016 was primarily a result of
lower loan growth in 2016 when compared to the prior year as well as improved delinquency
performance.
The collective allowance was $7.5 million at December 31, 2016, up $2.5 million from the prior year
and was 36 Basis Points, up from 25 Basis Points from the previous year-end.
The specific allowance was $2.4 million at December 31, 2016, down $1.1 million from the prior
year, primarily as a result of the sale of one impaired loan during 2016.
Overall credit quality improved during 2016 with the impaired loan balances reducing from $12.3
million in 2015 to $5.7 million in 2016. The Credit Union believes the level of specific reserves is
adequate to cover probable losses in the impaired loan portfolio.
In addition, 90 days and over delinquent loans reduced from $21.9 million in 2015 to $8.9 million in
2016 primarily due to the settlement of two large commercial loans during 2016.
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Operating Expenses:
2016

($ millions)
Expense
Salaries and employee benefits

$

Mix

2015
% of average
assets

Expense

Mix

% of average
assets

16.23

43.89%

0.68%

15.13

35.67%

0.73%

Occupancy

2.82

7.63%

0.12%

2.64

6.22%

0.13%

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

2.69

7.27%

0.11%

1.41

3.32%

0.07%

Technology

2.24

6.06%

0.09%

1.70

4.01%

0.08%

Marketing

1.62

4.38%

0.07%

1.27

2.99%

0.06%

Deposit insurance

1.38

3.73%

0.06%

1.49

3.51%

0.07%

Other expenses

5.69

15.39%

0.24%

5.87

13.84%

0.28%

Total before ZBC

32.67

88.35%

1.37%

29.51

69.57%

1.42%

4.31

11.65%

0.18%

12.91

30.43%

0.62%

36.98

100.00%

1.55%

42.42

100.00%

2.04%

ZBC
Total

$

Total operating expenses were $37.0 million, down $5.4 million or 13.0% from the prior year.
Included in DUCA’s consolidated results are operating expenses of its subsidiary, ZBC.
ZBC expenses were $4.3 million and down $8.6 million or 67.0% from the prior year. ZBC expenses
reduced from the prior year as a result of lower marketing, development and personnel expenses. In
addition, effective November 1, 2016, DUCA was no longer responsible for the operating costs of the
Zenbanx account.
DUCA’s operating expenses, excluding ZBC, was $32.7 million and up $3.2 million or 11.0% from
the prior year. The CER (excluding ZBC expenses of $4.3 million and $12.9 million for the years
ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively) was 63.0% for the year ended December 31, 2016
essentially flat to the prior year.
Salaries and benefits were $16.2 million, up $1.1 million or 7.0% from the prior year. Overall fulltime equivalent (“FTE”) employees was 172, relatively unchanged from the prior year. Also, included
in salaries and benefits are one-time costs associated with the reduction in staffing in certain areas of
the business.
Depreciation and amortization expenses were $2.7 million, up $1.3 million or 91.0% from the prior
year. The Credit Union undertook a review of its fixed assets and made a determination that certain
assets no longer had useful remaining lives and accordingly were fully depreciated in 2016.
Technology costs increased to $2.2 million, up $0.5 million or 32.0% from 2015. DUCA has been
deploying certain technology with respect to its loan origination system (“LOS”), customer
relationship management system (“CRM”), general ledger system, HR and core banking systems over
the past year and a half. This activity and related software license fees account for the majority of the
increase.
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Included in other operating expenses are professional fees totaling $2.4 million, up $1.2 million and
essentially doubled from the prior year. The majority of the increase is related to one-time legal,
consulting and tax services associated with the restructure of ZBC as well as consulting services on
specific engagements undertaken by the Credit Union.
Dividends:
DUCA’s track record of profitability has enabled the payment of dividends on its investment shares.
DUCA has declared and paid a dividend on Class A series of these shares since inception, with market
leading rates for these types of investments. The dividend rate paid on the Class A shares was 2.0%
for 2016.
DUCA pays its members a patronage dividend. The patronage dividend is a 2% payment in the form
of Class A shares on interest paid or received (up to a maximum of $1,000).
DUCA has paid over $70 million to its members since introducing the patronage program in 1995.
The payment track record is illustrated in the table below for the last five years.
(thousands)
Patronage return
Class A shares dividend

2016
$

2015

1,164
857

$

2014

1,173

$

2013

2,141

891

919

$

2012

2,005 $
940

2,082
938

Zenbanx Canada Inc.
In 2015, we launched our mobile banking subsidiary, ZBC. ZBC was 60% owned by DUCA and 40%
owned by ZenBanx Holding Ltd. (“ZBH”). Since ZBC was a majority owned and controlled by
DUCA, ZBC results have been fully consolidated in DUCA’s financial statements.
The ZenBanx account is a secure bank account, regulated by DICO, that can hold up to five different
currencies at once, and interest is earned just like a savings account. The ZenBanx account provides
flexibility to convert one currency to another when convenient or whenever money is needed. Members
can send funds in any of the currencies supported to anywhere in the world, all from their mobile
device.
Zenbanx incurred losses of $4.1 million, $12.7 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December
31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. DUCA’s 60% share of the cumulative total of $20.7 million,
was $12.4 million.
The Board made a determination at the end of 2015 that the amount of funding ZBC required going
forward would continue to have a material negative impact on DUCA’s profitability. Accordingly,
DUCA commenced negotiations with ZBH to find other alternatives for its investment in ZBC during
2016.
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On September 30, 2016, DUCA advised ZBH of its intent to terminate, effective July 14, 2017, the
existing contractual arrangements between DUCA, ZBC and ZBH. July 14, 2017 is the earliest
permitted termination date under these agreements. DUCA and ZBH will continue to support the
Zenbanx Account until July 14, 2017.
On November 4, 2016, DUCA and ZBH executed new agreements (the “New Agreements”) to
restructure the arrangements between them. Effective November 1, 2016, ZBH is responsible for all
costs associated with the operation of the Zenbanx account program at DUCA. DUCA will only be
responsible for the net interest margin on the Zenbanx accounts. Upon receipt of regulatory approval
on December 15, 2016, DUCA purchased all of ZBH’s shares in ZBC for $1. The completion of this
purchase made ZBC a wholly-owned subsidiary of DUCA.
On December 31, 2016, DUCA wound up ZBC. As a result of the wind-up, DUCA has recognized
tax losses of $4,675, which management expects to be able to utilize in the coming periods. The Credit
Union has incurred a cumulative after-tax loss of $7.8 million in ZBC when factoring the anticipated
recovery of these tax losses.
On February 1, 2017, ZBH announced a merger with Social Finance Inc. (“SoFi”). SoFi, founded in
2011, is a San Francisco-based company that intends to leverage ZBH's technology to complement
their existing business and product offering, and seeks to continue growing and supporting Zenbanx
accounts internationally. Following the merger of SoFi with ZBH, DUCA will hold a common share
investment in the merged entity valued at USD 2.0 million (CDN $2.7 million).
Capital Management
DUCA is committed to a disciplined approach to capital management and maintaining a strong
Regulatory Capital base to support the risks associated with its business activities. At all times, DUCA
adheres to Regulatory Capital regulatory requirements prescribed by DICO.
DUCA’s capital management philosophy is to maintain a prudent cushion of equity to ensure ongoing
economic stability as well as finance new growth opportunities.
DUCA’s Regulatory Capital management framework establishes and assigns the responsibilities
related to Regulatory Capital and sets forth both general and specific policy guidelines related to
Regulatory Capital management and the reporting mechanisms.
DUCA’s Regulatory Capital management is a key accountability of the Board. The Board provides
oversight and approval of capital management, including the capital plan included in the Annual
Operating Plan (“AOP”). The Board regularly reviews DUCA’s Regulatory Capital position and key
Regulatory Capital management activities.
DUCA’s Regulatory Capital requirements are provincially regulated and monitored by DICO for both
the minimum regulatory capital and the risk weighted capital approach developed by the Bank for
International Settlements (“BIS”). DICO established a minimum Leverage Ratiop of 4.0% and a
minimum Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio of 8.0%. In addition, at least 50% of a credit union’s Regulatory
Capital, for the purpose of meeting the standard, must consist of primary or Tier 1 Regulatory Capital
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that includes voting share capital, qualifying investment shares, contributed surplus, retained earnings,
less intangible assets such as goodwill and deferred income tax assets.
At December 31, 2016, DUCA’s Leverage Ratio was 7%, the Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio was 12%
and its Tier 1 Regulatory Capital to total Regulatory Capital was 93%.
Regulatory Capital levels are monitored monthly based on our forecasted financial position, on both
capital leverage and risk weighted basis. On both measures, current Regulatory Capital levels are well
in excess of regulatory minimums. DUCA’s monitoring and forecasting procedures track the expected
growth rate in both assets and risk-weighted assets relative to earnings to determine if additional
Regulatory Capital is required.
These projections also take full account of any future impact of changes in accounting standards.
Risk Management
Introduction:
The Board is accountable for the risk appetite of the Credit Union and for overseeing the Credit
Union’s management of its principal risks. While the Board delegates accountability for the
development and implementation of risk policies and procedures to the Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO”), it retains responsibility for ensuring these policies and procedures remain adequate and
comprehensive and the Credit Union is in compliance with them.
DUCA’s risk taking activities are undertaken with the understanding that risk taking and effective risk
management are necessary and integral to achieving strategic objectives and managing business
operations. However, above all, risk taking activities are guided by the Credit Union’s overarching
objective of safeguarding commitments made to its members and stakeholders.
Included in DUCA’s risk management structure is a Risk Appetite Statement (“RAS”) and Enterprise
Risk Management Framework (“ERMF”) which are integral parts of the Credit Union’s overall ability
to effectively manage risks. The RAS and ERMF involve the interaction of risk-related activities
including oversight, risk assessment, risk quantification, monitoring, reporting, escalation, and risk
controls.
The RAS serves to inform and establish the basis of a system of key risk indicators and also acts to
better align overall strategy and capital with stated risk tolerances. The risk appetite statement reflects
the aggregate level and type of risk that DUCA is willing to assume in order to achieve its business
objectives. For example; the absolute maximum variability of earnings and capital at risk the Credit
Union is prepared to assume in pursuit of its strategic objectives. The appetite also takes into account
the Credit Union’s short and long-term strategic, capital, and financial plans.
Identification and Management of Key Risks:
The identification, assessment and management of risk are critical elements of DUCA’s Enterprise
risk management program, both on a day-to- day basis as well as when any new business initiative or
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activity is undertaken. DUCA manages these risks as part of its risk management activities. Risks
include, but are not limited to, the following:

Credit
Market
Liquidity

Strategic
Reputation
Operational

Credit Risk:
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss when a member or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet the contractual obligations of repayment, and arises principally from the loan
portfolio. DUCA’s lending philosophy is established by the Credit Risk Management Policy. The
Credit Risk Management Policy provides direction to management relative to:
•

Formulating operational credit policies covering eligible purposes of loans, collateral
requirements, credit assessment, risk rating and reporting, documentary and legal procedures,
and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements;

•

Establishing a lending authority structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities.
Authorization limits are delegated to the Management Investment Committee

•

Reviewing and assessing specific and aggregate credit risk. The Credit department assesses
and approves

•

Where applicable, all credit exposures in excess of delegated limits;

•

Limits in concentrations of exposure to counterparties;

•

Compliance with agreed exposure limits. Regular reports are provided to the Investment
Committee on the credit quality of the portfolio

Market Risk:
Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in financial market factors, most commonly
through interest rate changes. Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of DUCA’s financial position to
movements in interest rates. It arises from the fact that assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet
instruments mature or re-price at various dates. As interest rates change, net interest income can be
negatively impacted based on the distribution of these maturity and re-pricing dates. We assess our
level of interest rate risk through the use of an income simulation model. Through this model, we run
various scenarios based upon expected interest rate levels and we manage our risk tolerance levels
based upon a 1.0% shock to those rates. The process and procedures surrounding this are governed
by a defined policy, which is approved by the Board.
Liquidity Risk:
Liquidity risk arises in the course of managing our assets and liabilities. It is the risk that DUCA is
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unable to meet its financial obligations in a timely manner and at reasonable prices. Liquidity levels,
prescribed by the Act, state that a Class 2 credit union (a credit union with total assets greater than
or equal to $50 million) shall establish and maintain prudent levels and forms of liquidity that are
sufficient to meet its cash flow needs, including depositor withdrawals and other obligations as they
come due. DUCA’s internal liquidity management policy requires liquidity levels between 6.0%
and 12.0% of deposits and borrowings as well as ensuring that DUCA has both adequate capacity
and diversity of external funding sources available. DUCA’s external funding sources consist of
credit and contingency credit facilities through Central 1, a Canadian bank and Desjardins as well as
access to wholesale broker funding.
Strategic Risk:
Strategic risk is the risk that DUCA is unable to identify and adapt to changes in the business
environment and/or is unable to implement appropriate business plans and strategies.
DUCA manages its strategic risk through its strategic planning process. The Executive Leadership
Team, led by the CEO is responsible for developing and recommending strategies and operational
plans which address key industry, competitive, and consumer trends as well as the Credit Union’s
key areas of strength and limitation. Strategies and plans are developed by the Executive Leadership
Team in order to align with the overarching strategic direction set by the Board. In order to set
direction and review progress, the Board provides input to, approves, and reviews annual strategic
and operational plans, and evaluates performance toward goals and objectives.
Reputation Risk:
Reputation risk is the risk that DUCA’s reputation, brand or corporate image is impacted resulting in
DUCA not being able it to achieve its vision, mission and goals. This risk may arise if unethical
business practices damage DUCA’s reputation and expose it to losses in members, revenue and the
ability to compete.
DUCA manages reputation risk primarily through its Code of Conduct policy, which outlines
expectations for conduct of employees and by continuous monitoring of external media and member
complaints. Additionally, member satisfaction surveys provide management with the ability to identify
issues or concerns that have or may lead to reputational impacts. While the Senior Management Team
is responsible for ensuring any reputational risk issues related to products and services, transactions,
sales and services practices and new and existing business activities are considered, all DUCA
employees are responsible for protecting DUCA’s reputation.
Operational Risk:
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed human performance, processes
or technology. DUCA is exposed to a broad range of operational risks including talent acquisition,
retention, performance and succession, technology/systems failures, fraud/theft/ misappropriation of
assets, business disruption, information/ privacy/fiduciary breaches or failed transaction processing.
The failure to manage operational risk can result in direct or indirect financial loss, reputational impact,
regulatory censure and penalties, or failure in the management of other risks.
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DUCA manages operational risk through extensive policies, procedures and internal controls related
to human resources, information technology development and change management and business
operations. Complementing these policies, procedures and internal controls are teams that focus on the
enterprise-wide management of specific operational risks such as financial crime, business
continuity/disaster recovery, privacy and confidentiality, vendor management, project management,
and information security and information technology governance. These teams have developed specific
programs, policies, standards and methodologies to support the management of operational risk.

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
Offering Statement, Class B Investment Shares, Series 4
Page 96

The following table presents financial performance indicators for the four-month period ended April 30, 2019, and for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. These figures are based on the interim condensed financial statements for the
four-month period, and on the audited financial statements as at each fiscal year-end. (Figures provided as Basis Points (“bp”)
are calculated on the basis of average assets held during the fiscal period calculated using a simple average of the opening and
closing total asset balance.)
Financial Performance Indicators
Profitability
Total assets ($000’s)
Total average assets ($000’s)
Net income ($000’s)
Net income (bp)
Net interest income (bp)
Non-interest income (bp)
Provision for (recovery of) credit losses
(bp)
Non-interest expense (bp)
Patronage return (bp)
Provision for (recovery of) income
taxes (bp)
Other comprehensive income (bp)
Compliance with Capital Requirements
Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio
requirement (% of risk-weighted
Assets)
Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio (% of RiskWeighted Assets)
Leverage Ratio requirement (% of total
assets)
Leverage Ratio (% of total assets)
Loan Composition
Total gross loans outstanding ($000’s)
Mortgage Loans (% of gross loans
outstanding)
Personal Loans (% of gross loans
outstanding)
Commercial Loans (% of gross loans
outstanding)
Loan Quality
Allowance for impaired loans (% of
gross loans outstanding)
Other Factors
Total Members’ deposits ($000’s)
Average liquidity (% of member
deposits + borrowing)
Asset growth (% change)
Total Regulatory Capital ($000’s)
Regulatory Capital growth (% change)

Four Months Ended
April 30, 2019
$4,069,723
3,670,192
1,066

Year Ended
December 31, 2018

Year Ended
December 31, 2017

$3,374,013
3,134,137
10,996

Year Ended
December 31, 2016

$2,775,578
2,579,448
12,974

$2,476,334
2,394,261
13,727

9*

35

50

57

124*
28*
0*

159
22
-1

186
34
-2

185
31
10

137*
6*
2*

131
4
11

151
5
16

154
5
-3

2*

-1

0

7

8.0%

8.0%

8.0%

8.0%

10.97%

11.82%

12.23%

12.28%

4%

4%

4%

4%

4.43%

5.36%

6.26%

6.65%

$3,039,289
69.06%

$2,898,733
67.78%

$2,422,069
59.27%

$2,066,848
54.64%

0.44%

0.42%

0.56%

0.67%

30.50%

31.80%

40.17%

44.69%

0.21%

0.22%

0.38%

0.48%

$3,205,217
22.15%

$2,539,215
16.97%

$2,012,223
16.39%

$1,852,987
16.80%

21%
$180,281
-0.34%

22%
$180,889
4.09%

12%
$173,776
5.45%

8%
$164,791
8.76%

*Annualized
Further analysis is presented in the audited financial statements that are attached hereto as Schedule A, and
the interim condensed financial statements attached hereto as Schedule B.
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Management is responsible for the preparation, presentation and consistency of the financial statements. This
responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles consistent with generally accepted
accounting principles in Canada. The preparation of the financial statements necessarily involves the use of
estimates and approximations which are made using careful judgment. Management is responsible for
maintaining a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability of
financial information and to ensure assets under the control of the Credit Union are safeguarded and accurate
records are maintained.
The Audit Committee of the Board meets periodically with management and the external auditors to review
the internal accounting controls and the quality of the financial reporting process. The committee reviews
the financial statements and the management letter with management and the external auditors, and reports
to the Board on its findings prior to the Board’s approval of the audited financial statements. The
committee then ensures that appropriate and timely action is taken to address any identified exposures in
the management letter. The Audit Committee’s role is discussed further at page 5 and 6. The internal and
external auditors have full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee with and without the presence of
management.
The Board is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for financial reporting and
meets at least quarterly to review and approve management’s financial reports.
The Deposit Insurance Corporation of Ontario conducts a periodic examination of the financial conditions
and affairs of the Credit Union. The examination includes a review of the Credit Union’s compliance with
the provisions of the Act.
Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditors, have audited the 2018 year-end financial statements attached
hereto as Schedule A in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and their report is
shown as part of those statements.

Doug Conick
President and Chief Executive Officer

Leonard Dias
Chief Financial, Compliance & Corporate
Services Officer
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EV

Building a better
working world

Ernst & Young LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
Ernst & Young Tower
100 Adelaide Street West
Toronto, ON, MSH 083

Tel: 416 864 1234
Fax: 416 864 117 4
www.ey.com

A UDITOR'S CONSENT
To the Board of Directors of DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
We consent to the use of our report to the Members of DUCA Financial Services Credit Union

Ltd. (the "Credit Union" or "DUCA") on the statement of financial position as at December 31,

2018, and the statements of income and other comprehensive income, changes in members'

equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting

policies and other explanatory information in the offering statement of the Credit Union dated
July 29, 2019, relating to the issue and sale of DUCA Class B Series 4 Investment Shares

Offering Statement. Our report is dated February 28, 2019.

Chartered Profeuional Accountants
Licensed Pubic Accountants

Toronto, Ontario
July 29, 2019
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STATEMENT OF OTHER MATERIAL FACTS
There are no other material facts relating to the issues of securities in this offering statement which have not
been suitably disclosed herein.
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BOARD RESOLUTION
June 13, 2019
"The Board of Directors of DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. approves the
issue of Series 4, Class B Special Shares (Class B Investment Shares, Series 4), subject
to the Articles of Incorporation of DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. as
amended, and as described in the Offering Statement to be dated July 29, 2019."
I certify the above to be a true copy of a resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of
DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. at their meeting of June 13, 2019.

s7

\c:C. ,

½ >,.
,,J),Q.,v--,
Sarah Parkinson, Corporate Secretary
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CERTIFICATE
Fonn 1
Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires Act, 1994
CERTIFICATE OF DISCLOSURE
(Subsection 77 (4) of the Act)
The foregoing, constitutes full, true am/ plain tlisclosure of all materil1l f<1cts relating
to the securities offered by this Offering Statement as require</ by Part V of the Cre<lit
Unions and Caisses Populaires Act, 1994, am/ the regulations thereunder.
Dated at Toronto, Ontario, July 29, 2019

�s:.�.
Doug Conick, President and Chief Executive Officer

Tom Vandeloo, Chair of the Board
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Subscription Form
Please accept my subscription for (_______) (number of shares)
Class B Investment Shares, Series 4 (at $ 1.00 per share) of DUCA
Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
_______________________________________________________
Name (as it should appear on share certificate/shareholders' register)

________________________
Social Insurance Number

_______________________________________________________
Joint Subscriber (if any)

________________________
Social Insurance Number

_______________________________________________________
Street Address
Apt. #

__________________________
Account #

________________________________________________________
City
Province Postal Code
Source of Funds: (check as many as apply)


$__________

is already on deposit at the Credit Union. I have signed a separate authorization form to put these
funds on hold until this offering is completed or withdrawn.



$__________

is coming from outside the Credit Union. I have signed a separate authorization form to place these
funds in Escrow until this offering is completed or withdrawn.



$__________

Type of Share Ownership:
of the shares being subscribed are to be put into my RRSP or RRIF at the Credit Union.



$__________

of the shares being subscribed are to be put into my TFSA at the Credit Union.



$___________

of the shares are to be held by me outside any RRSP(s)/RRIF(s) or TFSAs I may have.

By signing this form, I/we hereby acknowledge that I am a member / we are members of the Credit Union, I/we have
received and read in its entirety a copy of the offering statement dated July 29, 2019 for the Credit Union’s Class B
Investment Shares, Series 4, serial number ____________, including the audited financial statements attached hereto as
Schedule A and the interim condensed financial statements attached hereto as Schedule B, and that I/we have noted in
particular the Description of Securities Being Offered as set out on pages 16 to 19 and the Risk Factors starting on page
19. I/we also understand that the securities being purchased are NOT deposits and are NOT insured by the Deposit
Insurance Corporation of Ontario, and that dividends on these securities are NOT guaranteed. I/We have considered
whether or not I/we should obtain independent advice on the suitability of this investment to my/our particular financial
situation and have either obtained such advice or determined that I/we do not require such advice. I/We understand that
I/we may reverse my/our decision to purchase the securities if I/we provide notice in writing, or by facsimile, or by e-mail
in combination with a telephone call, to the person from whom I/we purchase the security, within two days, excluding
weekends and holidays, of having signed a subscription form.
______________________________________________________________________________________
Member’s Signature
Date
Time (a.m./p.m.)
______________________________________________________________________________________
Joint Subscriber’s Signature
Date
Time (a. m./p.m.)
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
________________________________________________________________________
Date and Time
Accepted by: ___________________________________________________________________
Employee’s Signature
Branch #
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AUTHORIZATION TO PLACE FUNDS ON HOLD
Name of Member:
Date:
I/We have subscribed today to buy a total of ____________ Class B Investment Shares, Series
4, of DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. (the “Credit Union”). By signing this form
below, I/we hereby authorize the Credit Union to place these funds on hold to guarantee payment
for these shares.
This hold will be released only in one of the following three manners:
1. Upon the offering being closed, the Credit Union will release the hold and then debit the
accounts to pay for the shares on the Issue Date.
2. If the offering is withdrawn or cancelled for any reason, the Credit Union will release the
hold immediately.
3. If I/we exercise my/our right to reverse my decision to purchase these shares within two
days, excluding weekends and holidays, following receipt of a copy of the offering statement,
dated July 29, 2019, for the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, the Credit Union will release
the hold on funds immediately upon being informed of such reversal.
4. If I have subscribed for more than the Maximum Permissible Holding, the Credit Union will
release the hold and then debit the accounts to pay for the Maximum Permissible Holding on
the Issue Date.

The Credit Union account(s) and dollar amounts(s)
(are):
Branch #
Acc’t #
Type
Branch #
Acc’t #
Type
Branch #
Acc’t #
Type
Branch #
Acc’t #
Type
Branch #
Acc’t #
Type
Branch #
Acc’t #
Type

to be placed on hold under this agreement is

Sub #
Sub #
Sub #
Sub #
Sub #
Sub #

$
$
$
$
$
$

(Credit Union Witness)

(Credit Union Member/Share Subscriber)

(Credit Union Witness)

(Joint Subscriber)
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AUTHORIZATION TO PLACE FUNDS IN ESCROW
Name of Member:
Date: ___________
I/We have subscribed today to buy a total of ___________________ Class B Investment Shares, Series 4,
of DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. (the “Credit Union”). By signing this form below, I/we
hereby authorize the Credit Union to place the funds specified below, as soon as such funds are made payable
to the Credit Union, into an Escrow account, to be trusteed by Concentra Trust, to guarantee payment for
these shares.
These funds will be released from Escrow only in one of the following four manners:
1. Upon the offering being closed, Concentra Trust will release the funds from Escrow to the Credit Union
to pay for the shares on the Issue Date.
2. If the offering is withdrawn or cancelled for any reason, Concentra Trust will immediately release the
non-RRSP funds from Escrow and pay them to me/us, together with interest calculated at the Credit
Union’s 30-day term deposit rate, prorated for the number of days such funds were in Escrow.
3. If I/we exercise my/our right to reverse my decision to purchase these shares within two days,
excluding weekends and holidays, following receipt of a copy of the offering statement, dated July 29,
2019, for the Class B Investment Shares, Series 4, Concentra Trust will immediately release the nonRRSP funds from Escrow and pay them to me/us, together with interest calculated at the Credit Union’s
30-day term deposit rate, prorated for the number of days such funds were in Escrow.
4. If all or part of such funds which are used to purchase shares are identified as being part of a Registered
Retirement Savings Plan (RRSP) contract, the RRSP funds will be transferred directly into an RRSP
contract held in Escrow at the Credit Union under the control of Concentra Trust. If not used to pay
for shares under the terms outlined above, the RRSP funds will stay in such RRSP contract until I have
given Concentra Trust direction as to their disposition.
If my subscription exceeds the Maximum Permissible Holding, Concentra Trust will release the
funds from Escrow to pay for the Maximum Permissible Holding on the Issue Date, and deal with
any excess funds as required by section 3 or 4 hereof, whichever is applicable, as if I had withdrawn
my over-subscription within two days of having received the offering statement for Class B
Investment Shares, Series 4.

The source(s) of funds and dollar amount(s) to be placed in Escrow under this agreement is (are):
Source

$

Source

$

______________________________________
(Credit Union Witness)

____________________________________
(Credit Union Member/Share Subscriber)

(Credit Union Witness)

Joint Subscriber (if any)
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DUCA Financial Services
Credit Union Ltd.
Financial Statements
December 31, 2018

Independent auditor’s report
To the Members of
DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. (the Credit Union), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018, and the statement of income and
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Credit Union as at December 31, 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
Other matter
The financial statements of the Credit Union for the year ended December 31, 2017 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on February 28, 2018.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Credit Union in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Responsibilities of management and the audit committee of the board of directors for the financial
statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
IFRSs, and for such internal control as Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the Credit Union’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless Management either intends to liquidate the Credit Union or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial reporting
process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

–2–

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

•

•
•

•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Credit Union’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by Management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Credit Union to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

Toronto, Canada
February 28, 2019

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Statements of Financial Position
As at December 31
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]
Note

2018
$

2017
$

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Members’ loans
Other assets
Fixed assets
Deferred tax asset
Goodwill
Total assets

4
5
6,7
9
11
13
24

69,038
380,807
2,908,529
1,560
12,401
—
1,678
3,374,013

86,743
247,378
2,423,336
2,800
11,168
2,475
1,678
2,775,578

12
8
23

2,558,880
629,981
—
5,936
589
332
280
1,386
1,187
3,198,571

2,027,463
535,709
34,500
7,983
69
415
—
1,179
1,222
2,608,540

79,963
95,841
(362)
175,442
3,374,013

82,023
85,066
(51)
167,038
2,775,578

Liabilities and Members’ equity
Liabilities
Members’ deposits
Securitization liabilities
Borrowings
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Income taxes payable
Deferred tax liability
Patronage return and dividend payable
Members’ shares
Total liabilities
Members’ equity
Members’ shares
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total Members’ equity
Total liabilities and Members’ equity

14
13
13
15
16

16

See accompanying notes
Approved by the Board:

Director

Director
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Statements of Income and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]
Note

Interest income
Interest on Members’ loans
Investment income

Interest expense
Interest on Members’ deposits
Borrowings and securitizations
Net interest income
Non-interest income
Total revenue

17

Recovery of credit losses

7

Non-interest expense
Salaries and benefits
Occupancy
Depreciation and amortization
Deposit insurance
Directors and committees
Loss on derivative instruments
Other operating and administrative
Income before the undernoted
Patronage return
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income for the year
Change in unrealized losses on the effective portion of cash
flow hedges
Comprehensive income for the year, net of income taxes

11

14
18

16
13

14

2018
$

2017
$

104,660
7,212
111,872

89,613
3,978
93,591

49,698
12,429
62,127
49,745
6,988
56,733

36,745
8,786
45,531
48,060
8,650
56,710

(320)

(417)

22,397
3,540
1,527
1,711
453
97
11,205
40,930
16,123
1,386
14,737
3,430
11,307

18,150
2,815
1,359
1,755
410
—
14,338
38,827
18,300
1,179
17,121
4,096
13,025

(311)
10,996

(51)
12,974

See accompanying notes

4

—
40,331

—
39,632

See accompanying notes

—
—
—
(334)

—
—
1,705
(3,431)

Net income for the year
Dividends to Members, net of tax
Issue of shares
Redemption of shares
Losses on derivatives designated as cash flow
hedges arising during the year
Balance, December 31, 2018
16

40,665

—

—
40,665

—
41,358
—

41,263
—
—
—
(598)

Class B shares
$

42,993
—
—
1,712
(3,347)

Class A shares
$

41,358

7

16

Note

Restated Balance, January 1, 2018

Adjustment for initial application of IFRS 9

Balance, December 31, 2016
Net income for the year
Dividends to Members
Issue of shares
Redemption of shares
Losses on derivatives designated as cash flow
hedges arising during the year
Balance, December 31, 2017

[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

Statements of Changes in Members’ Equity

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

—

—
95,841

11,307
(1,515)
—
—

11,307
(1,515)
1,705
(3,765)
(311)
175,442

(311)
(362)

168,021

983

(51)
167,038

157,554
13,025
(1,257)
1,712
(3,945)

Total Members’
equity
$

—
—
—
—

(51)

983
86,049

(51)
(51)

—
—
—
—
—

—
85,066

73,298
13,025
(1,257)
—
—

Retained
earnings
$

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
loss, net of tax
$

5

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31

[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

Note

2018

2017

$

$

Operating activities
11,307

13,025

11

1,527

1,359

Recovery of credit losses on Members’ loans

7

(320)

(417)

Current income taxes

13

370

782

Deferred income taxes

13

3,060

3,314

Unrealized losses on interest rate swap agreements

14

97

—

Patronage return

16

1,386

1,179

Increase in accrued interest receivable

(122)

(1,568)

Decrease in income taxes paid

(453)

(2,216)

Net income
Add (deduct) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortization

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

1,239

(1,438)

Increase to Members’ loans

6,7

(483,414)

(360,468)

Increase to Members’ deposits

12

527,021

159,344

Decrease (increase) in other assets

Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase in securitization liabilities

8

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities

4,395

(547)

(2,046)

1,228

94,272

101,150

158,319

(85,273)

(34,500)

34,500

1,705

1,712

Financing activities
Net change in borrowings
Issuance of Class A shares
Redemption of Membership shares
Redemption of Class A shares
Redemption of Class B shares
Patronage return paid
Dividend on Class B shares
Cash (used in) provided by financing activities

(35)

(185)

(3,431)

(3,347)

(334)

(598)

(2,001)

(2,022)

(1,239)

(1,257)

(39,835)

28,803

8,081

Investing activities
Net change in investments

5

(133,429)

Purchase of fixed assets

11

(2,760)

(90)

(136,189)

7,991

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(17,705)

(48,479)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

86,743

135,222

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

69,038

86,743

Cash (used in) provided by investing activities

See accompanying notes

6

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

December 31, 2018

1. Corporate information
DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. [the “Credit Union” or “DUCA”] is incorporated under the Credit Unions
and Caisses Populaires Act, 1994 [the “Act”] of Ontario and is a Member of the Deposit Insurance Corporation of
Ontario [“DICO”] and Central 1 Credit Union [“Central 1”].
The Credit Union is primarily involved in providing a full range of retail and commercial services to its Members in
Ontario. The activities of the Credit Union are regulated by DICO. The Credit Union has 16 branches in Ontario.

2. Basis of presentation
[a] Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared by Management in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards [“IFRS”], as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board [“IASB”].
These financial statements have been authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 28, 2019.
[b] Use of judgment and estimates
Management has exercised judgment in the process of applying the Credit Union’s accounting policies.
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires Management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the statement of financial position date and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
year. Key areas where Management has made estimates include allowance for credit losses, fair values and
impairment of financial instruments, goodwill and intangible assets, income taxes, deferred income taxes and
useful lives of fixed assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Management has applied judgments
in the classification of financial instruments within the financial statements.
[c] Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following items that are
measured at fair value:
•
•

Derivative financial instruments; and
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss [“FVTPL”].

[d] Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Credit Union’s functional currency.
Financial information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousands, except where
otherwise indicated.
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

December 31, 2018

3. Significant accounting policies
[a] Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, and for the purpose of the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand.
[b] Financial instruments, policy applicable from January 1, 2018
[i]

Recognition and initial measurement

The Credit Union initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits and mortgage securitization liabilities on the
date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments are recognized on the trade date, which is the
date on which the Credit Union becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.
[ii] Classification
[1] Financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income [“FVOCI”] or FVTPL.
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as measured at FVTPL:
•
•

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows;
and
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as
measured at FVTPL:
•
•

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Credit Union may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income [“OCI”]. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis.
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

December 31, 2018

In addition, on initial recognition, the Credit Union may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets
the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
[a] Business model assessment
The Credit Union assesses the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level
because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to Management. The
information considered includes:
•
•
•
•
•

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice;
how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Credit Union’s Management;
the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed;
how managers of the business are compensated; and
the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations
about future sales activity.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value
basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to
collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
[b] Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Credit Union
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains
a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not
meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Credit Union considers:
•
•
•
•
•

contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
leverage features;
prepayment and extension terms;
terms that limit the Credit Union’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset
arrangements); and
features that modify consideration of the time value of money – e.g. periodical reset of interest rates.

[c] Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Credit
Union changes its business model for managing financial assets. There were no changes to any of the Credit
Union business models during the current year.
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

December 31, 2018

[2] Financial liabilities
The Credit Union classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as
measured at amortized cost or FVTPL.
Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at FVTPL are those that are designated by Management upon
initial recognition, assets part of a portfolio managed on a fair value basis and assets whose cash flows do not
represent payments that are solely payments of principal and interest. Financial assets and financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit
and loss. Interest earned or incurred on instruments designated at FVTPL is accrued in interest income or interest
expense, respectively, using the EIR. Dividend income from equity instruments measured at FVTPL is recorded in
profit or loss as other operating income when the right to the payment has been established.
[iii] Derecognition
[1] Financial assets
The Credit Union derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Credit Union neither
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying
amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including
any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognized in OCI is recognized in profit or loss.
In transactions in which the Credit Union neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Credit Union continues to recognize the
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the
value of the transferred asset.
The Credit Union periodically enters into asset transfer agreements with third parties including securitization of
residential mortgages into special purpose entities, such as programs sponsored by Canada Mortgage Housing
Corporation [“CMHC”] that issue bonds to third party investors. This includes securitization of insured residential
mortgages by participating in the National Housing Act [“NHA”] mortgage-backed securities [“MBS”] program and
Canada Bond program [“CMB”]. Through the program, the Credit Union issues securities backed by residential
mortgages that are insured against borrowers’ default. All securitization transactions are reviewed and assessed
based on the above-noted derecognition criteria. In instances where the Credit Union’s securitizations do not
qualify for derecognition based on the above criteria, the Credit Union does not derecognize the transferred
financial assets but records a secured borrowing with respect to any consideration received.
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

December 31, 2018

[2] Financial liabilities
The Credit Union derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or
expire.
[iv] Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities
[1] Financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Credit Union evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified
asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash
flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is
derecognized, and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value.
If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortized cost are not substantially different, then the modification
does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Credit Union recalculates the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset and recognizes the amount arising from adjusting the gross carrying amount as a
modification gain or loss in profit or loss. If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the
borrower, then the gain or loss is presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as
interest income.
[2] Financial liabilities
The Credit Union derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified
liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized
at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial
liability with modified terms is recognized in profit or loss.
[v] Fair value measurement (IFRS 13)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous
market to which the Credit Union has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance
risk. For assets and liabilities carried at fair value, the Credit Union measures such value using the procedures set
out below, irrespective of whether these assets and liabilities are carried at fair value as a result of an election.
When available, the Credit Union uses quoted market prices to determine fair value and classifies such items as
Level 1. In some cases where a market price is not available, the Credit Union uses quoted prices for similar
instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active and
model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active
markets to calculate fair value, in which case the items are classified as Level 2.
If quoted market prices are not available, fair value is based upon internally developed valuation techniques that
use, where possible, current market-based or independently sourced market parameters, such as interest rates,
currency rates, option volatilities, etc. Items valued using such internally generated valuation techniques are
classified as Level 2 or Level 3 depending on the observability of significant inputs to the model.
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

December 31, 2018

Treasury bills, bank deposits, bankers’ acceptances, government bonds, Central 1 deposits, other bonds and
deposit notes are classified as held-to-maturity and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that
are directly attributable to their acquisition. Subsequently, they are carried at amortized cost using the effective
interest method less any provision for impairment.
Equity instruments and certain bonds are designated at FVTPL and are recognized at fair value at their acquisition.
Subsequently, they are carried at fair value, unless they do not have a quoted market price in an active market
and fair value is not reliably measured, in which case they are carried at cost. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to their acquisition are expensed through net income.
Purchases and sales of equity instruments are recognized on the settlement date with any change in fair value
between trade date and settlement date being recognized in net income.
The Credit Union manages interest rate risk through interest rate swaps. These derivatives are carried at fair value
and are reported as assets when they have a positive fair value and as liabilities when they have a negative fair
value, in both cases shown on the statement of financial position. As the interest rate swap agreements are
classified as FVTPL, changes in fair value of the interest rate swaps are reflected immediately in net income.
As part of its interest rate risk Management process, the Credit Union utilized bond forwards to maintain its interest
exposure on forecasted debt issuances associated with securitization activity. These hedging relationships are
designated as cash flow hedges. Realized gains (losses) on these derivatives are deferred and amortized in
accordance with the effective interest rate method along with the debt originated.
The Credit Union manages the risk of foreign currency fluctuation using forward contracts. These derivatives are
carried at fair value and are reported as assets where they have a positive fair value and as liabilities where they
have a negative fair value, in both cases, shown on the statement of financial position. As the forward rate
agreements are classified as FVTPL, changes in fair value of the forward rate agreements are reflected
immediately in net income.
[vi] Impairment
IFRS 9 replaces the incurred loss approach in IAS 39 with a forward-looking expected credit loss [“ECL”] approach.
The Credit Union recognizes ECL allowances on the following financial instruments that are not measured at
FVTPL:
•
•

financial assets that are debt instruments (loans and advances and certain investment securities); and
loan commitments issued.

The Credit Union measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL or 12-month ECL. 12-month ECL
is the portion of ECL that results from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months
after the reporting date.
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The impairment model measures ECL using a three-stage approach as described below:
•
•
•

Stage 1: When a financial asset has not shown a significant increase in credit risk [“SICR”] since origination,
the Credit Union records a 12-month ECL. Interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount.
Stage 2: When a financial asset has shown a SICR since origination, the Credit Union records a lifetime ECL.
Interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount.
Stage 3: When a financial asset is credit-impaired, the Credit Union records a lifetime ECL. Interest income
is calculated on the gross carrying amount net of impairment allowance.
[a] Measurement of ECL
IFRS 9 requires consideration of past events, current market conditions and reasonable supportable
information about future economic conditions in determining whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and in calculating the amount of expected losses. The standard also requires future economic
conditions be based on an unbiased, probability-weighted assessment of possible future outcomes. In
considering the lifetime of an instrument, IFRS 9 generally requires the use of the contractual period, including
pre-payment, extension and other options.
[b] Significant increase in credit risk
The determination of a significant increase in credit risk considers many different factors and will vary by
product and risk segment. The main factors considered in making this determination are relative changes in
probability-weighted probability of default since origination and certain other criteria such as 30-day past due
and watchlist status.
[c] Expected life
For instruments in Stage 2 or Stage 3, loss allowances reflect expected credit losses over the expected
remaining lifetime of the instrument. For most instruments, the expected life is limited to the remaining
contractual life.
[d] Forward looking information
The Credit Union incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk
of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. The Credit
Union formulates a ‘base case’ view of the future direction of relevant economic variables as well as a
representative range of other possible forecast scenarios. This process involves developing two more
additional economic scenarios and considering the relative probabilities of each outcome. External information
includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and Bank of Canada, forecasts by
large Canadian banks and financial institutions and other selected private-sector and academic forecasters.
The base case represents a most-likely outcome and is aligned with information used by the Credit Union for
other purposes such as strategic planning and budgeting.
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[e] Restructured financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a
new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial
asset should be derecognized, and ECL is measured as follows:
•

•

[f]

If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash
flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the
existing asset; and
If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value
of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its
derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset
that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original
effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.
Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Credit Union assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost and debt
financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
•
•
•
•
•

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer, including delinquency;
a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Credit Union on terms that the Credit Union would not
consider otherwise;
it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or
the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered to
be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced
significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment.
[g] Write-off
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Credit Union determines that the borrower does not have assets
or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.
However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply
with the Credit Union’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
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[viii] Designation of fair value through profit or loss
[1] Financial assets
At initial recognition, the Credit Union has designated certain financial assets as at FVTPL because this designation
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch, that would otherwise arise.
Before January 1, 2018, the Credit Union also designated certain financial assets as at FVTPL because the assets
were managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis.
[2] Financial liabilities
The Credit Union has designated certain financial liabilities as at FVTPL in either of the following circumstances:
•
•

the liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis; or
the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

[c] Derivatives held for risk Management
Derivatives held for risk Management purposes are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position
and reported as assets where they have a positive fair value and as liabilities where they have a negative fair
value.
Derivatives held for risk Management purposes are designated as either cash flow hedges, fair value hedges
economic hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting. The Credit Union has employed only cash flow hedges.
Cash flow hedges are utilized to hedge the variability in cash flows associated with floating rate debt liabilities by
converting them to fixed rate debt liabilities.
[d] Members’ loans
All Members’ loans are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market and have been classified as measured at amortized cost.
Members’ loans are initially measured at fair value, net of loan origination fees and inclusive of transaction costs
incurred and subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method [net of an allowance
for credit losses].
Deferred revenue consists primarily of commitment fee revenue received on commercial loans and is recognized
using the effective interest rate method.
[e] Securitized loans and securitization liabilities
The Credit Union periodically securitizes mortgages and sells the securities to CMHC’s sponsored entities.
Mortgage loan securitization is part of the Credit Union’s liquidity and funding strategy. In the absence of sales of
retained interests, most transfers of pools of mortgages under the current programs do not result in derecognition
of the mortgages from the Credit Union’s statement of financial position. As such, these transactions result in the
recognition of securitization liabilities when cash is received from the securitization entities. Such mortgages are
recognized as securitized residential mortgages and continue to be accounted for as loans, as described above.
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The securitization liabilities are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Interest
expense is allocated over the expected term of the borrowing by applying the effective interest rate to the carrying
amount of the liability. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash outflows
over the expected life of the liability. Transaction costs and premiums or discounts are applied to the carrying
amount of the liability.
[f] Fixed assets
Fixed assets are initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization and any accumulated impairment (losses), with the exception of land, which is not depreciated.
Asset

Basis

Rate

Buildings
Computer hardware
Equipment, furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

Straight-line
Straight-line
Straight-line
Straight-line

20 years
3 - 5 years
5 years
Term of lease

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjusted, if necessary.
[g] Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are subject to impairment tests whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is written down accordingly.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is carried
out on the asset’s cash-generating unit [“CGU”], which is the lowest group of assets in which the asset belongs for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows. The Credit Union has one CGU for which impairment testing is
performed.
[h] Income taxes
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in net
income, except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity.
Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable income or
loss for the current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years. Current income
taxes are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. This amount
is determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its
tax base, except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary
differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination
and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
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Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is
restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available that allows the deferred
tax asset to be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
The amount of the deferred tax asset or liability is measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities. This amount is determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the year-end date and are expected to apply when the liabilities (assets) are settled
(recovered).
[i]

Members’ deposits

All Members’ deposits are initially measured at fair value, net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the
issuance of the instrument, and have been classified as financial liabilities.
Members’ deposits are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method.
[j]

Pension plan

The Credit Union accrues its obligations under the supplementary executive retirement plan [“SERP”] and the
related costs, net of plan assets, and has adopted the following policies:
the cost of the SERP is valued using the projected benefit method based on service and Management’s best
estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary escalation and retirement ages of employees; and
[ii] for the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, those assets are valued at fair value.

[i]

The Credit Union also has a defined contribution pension plan. Contributions to this plan are expensed as incurred.
[k] Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Credit Union has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the
liability.
[l]

Members’ shares

Members’ shares issued by the Credit Union are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the
definition of a financial liability or financial asset.
Shares that contain redemption features subject to the Credit Union maintaining adequate regulatory capital are
accounted for using the requirements of International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee [“IFRIC”] 2,
Members’ Shares in Cooperative Entities and Similar Instruments [“IFRIC 2”].
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[m] Patronage return
Patronage returns are recognized in the statement of income and other comprehensive income when declared
payable by the Board of Directors.
[n] Revenue recognition
Revenue from the provision of services to Members is recognized when earned, specifically when amounts are
fixed or can be determined and the ability to collect is reasonably assured.
[o] Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over the total acquisition date fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.
The carrying amounts of the Credit Union’s intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
each year at the same time.
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset.
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of the CGU are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other intangible assets, impairment losses
recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or
no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment
loss had been recognized.
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[p] Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency accounts are translated into Canadian dollars as follows:
At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign currency is translated
into Canadian dollars by the use of the exchange rate in effect at that date. At the year-end date, monetary assets
and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the year-end date and
the related translation differences are recognized in net income. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured at historical cost are translated into Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the date of
the initial transaction and are not subsequently restated. Nonmonetary assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value or a revalued amount are translated into Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the
date the value is determined and the related translation differences are recognized in net income.
[q] Changes in accounting policies
The Credit Union adopted the following new standards and interpretations effective January 1, 2018:
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments [“IFRS 9”]:
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, which supersedes the current International Accounting
Standard [“IAS”] 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement [“IAS 39”]. IFRS 9 addresses [1]
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities; [2] impairment of financial assets, and [3] hedge
accounting.
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied prospectively.
•

•

Comparative periods have not been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognized in retained earnings allowance for
expected credit losses as at January 1, 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 does not reflect
the requirements of IFRS 9 and therefore is not comparable to the information presented for 2018 under
IFRS 9.
The following assessments have been made based on the facts and circumstances that existed at the date
of initial application:
•
The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held.
•
The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets and financial
liabilities as measured at FVTPL.
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The following table shows the original measurement categories in accordance with IAS 39 and the new
measurement categories under IFRS 9 for the Credit Union’s financial assets and financial liabilities as at
January 1, 2018.

Note
Financial assets

Original
classification under
IAS 39

New
classification
under IFRS 9

Carrying amount as
at December 31, 2017
under IAS 39
$

Carrying amount as
at January 1, 2018
under IFRS 9
$

Cash and cash equivalents

4

Loans and
receivables

Amortized cost

86,743

86,743

Investments

5

FVTPL

FVTPL

19,225

19,225

Investments

5

Held-to-maturity
investment
securities
Loans and
receivables

Amortized cost
228,154

228,154

2,423,336

2,424,674

2,757,458

2,758,796

Members’ Loans

6,7

Amortized cost

Total financial assets

Financial Liabilities
Members’ deposits

12

Amortized cost

Amortized cost

2,027,463

2,027,463

Securitization liabilities

8

Amortized cost

Amortized cost

535,709

535,709

Borrowings
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities

24

Amortized cost

Amortized cost

34,500

34,500

Amortized cost

Amortized cost

7,983

7,983

Derivative financial instruments
Patronage return and dividend
payable

14

FVTPL

FVTPL

69

69

15

Amortized cost

Amortized cost

1,179

1,179

Members’ shares

16

Amortized cost

Amortized cost

1,222

1,222

2,608,125

2,608,125

Total financial liabilities
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The following table is a comparison of impairment allowances determined in accordance with IAS 39, to the
corresponding impairment allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 as at January 1, 2018.
IAS 39 as at December 31, 2017
Collectively
Individually
assessed
assessed
Total
$
$
$
Residential
mortgages
Commercial
loans
Personal
loans
Total
allowance
for credit
losses

497

—

497

6,497

2,047

8,544

149

—

7,143

2,047

Transition
adjustment
$

538

IFRS 9 as at January 1, 2018
Stage 1
$

Stage 2
$

Stage 3
$

Total
$

668

292

75

1,035

(1,866)

2,784

1,194

2,700

6,678

149

(10)

62

52

25

139

9,190

(1,338)

3,514

1,538

2,800

7,852

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers [“IFRS 15”]:
The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to recognizing
revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to
determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and judgmental thresholds have
been introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized. The new standard applies to
contracts with customers. It does not apply to insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease contracts, which
fall in the scope of other IFRSs. The Credit Union is required to adopt IFRS 15 in its financial statements for the
annual period beginning on January 1, 2018. The Credit Union has assessed the impact of the changing standard
on its operations and does not expect material changes to any of its revenue recognition treatment as a result of
adopting the new standard.
[t] Future changes in accounting policies
The following are upcoming changes to IFRS that may impact the Credit Union:
IFRS 16, Leases [“IFRS 16”]
The standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities
for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required
to recognize a right-ofuse asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing
its obligation to make lease payments. The Credit Union intends to adopt IFRS 16 in its financial statements for the
annual period beginning on January 1, 2019. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has not yet been
determined.
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4. Cash and cash equivalents
2018

2017

26,832

42,237

3,500
38,706
42,206
69,038

17,420
27,086
44,506
86,743

$

Cash
Cash resources where maturities are within three months:
Deposits and bankers’ acceptances:
Schedule 1 banks
Central 1

$

The Credit Union has pledged $3,500 of deposits and bankers’ acceptances with BMO Nesbitt Burns to
secure its comprehensive credit facility.
Interest rates on deposits and bankers’ acceptances range from 0.78% to 2.38% (2017 – 0.64% to 1.65%).

5. Investments
The following table provides information on the Credit Union’s investments. The maximum exposure to credit
risk would be the fair value as detailed below:

Investment securities measured at FVTPL
Investment securities measured at amortized cost
Held-to-maturity investment securities

2018
$

2017
$

25,684
355,123
—
380,807

19,225
—
228,153
247,378

The Credit Union has pledged $6,500 of deposits and bankers’ acceptances with BMO Nesbitt Burns to secure its
comprehensive credit facility.
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Investment securities measured at FVTPL:

Shares of Social Finance Inc. [“SoFi”]
Preferred shares and dividend bearing equities
Central 1 Class A shares
Central 1 Class F shares
Other

2018
$

2017
$

1,900
11,764
1,084
10,927
9
25,684

2,100
8,050
9,048
—
27
19,225

Investment securities measured at amortized cost:
2018
$
Central 1 Liquidity Reserve Deposit
Treasury bills, bank deposits and bankers’ acceptances
Central 1 discount deposits
NHA mortgage-backed securities

188,858
7,779
35,593
122,893
355,123

Held-to-maturity investment securities:
2017
$
Central 1 Liquidity Reserve Deposit
Treasury bills, bank deposits and bankers’ acceptances
Central 1 discount deposits
NHA mortgage-backed securities

153,917
9,565
23,040
41,631
228,153

The Central 1 shares include Classes A and F, and are required as a condition of membership and are redeemable
upon withdrawal of membership or at the discretion of the Board of Directors of Central 1. In addition, the member
credit unions are subject to additional capital calls at the discretion of the Board of Directors of Central 1.
Class A Central 1 shares are subject to an annual rebalancing mechanism and are issued and redeemable at par
value of $100 (2017 - $100). There is no separately quoted market value for these shares; however, fair value is
determined to be equivalent to the par value due to the fact that transactions occur at par value on a regular and
recurring basis.
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Central 1 Class F shares are carried at cost, which is considered to be the best representation of fair value given
the wide range of possible fair value measurements. These shares are not subject to annual rebalancing. There is
no active market for these shares, as they are issued only as a condition of membership in Central 1, and the fair
value cannot be reliably measured until such time as a transaction occurs. The fair value of Class F shares cannot
be measured reliably as the timing of redemption of these shares cannot be determined; therefore, the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant and the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be reasonably
assessed. Therefore, they are recorded at cost.
The Credit Union is not intending to dispose of any Central 1 shares as the services supplied by Central 1 are
relevant to the day-to-day activities of the Credit Union. Dividends on these shares are at the discretion of the
Board of Directors of Central 1.

6. Members’ loans
2018
$

Residential mortgages
Uninsured
Insured by CMHC
Insured by Genworth or Canada Guaranty Corp.
Personal loans
Commercial loans
Unamortized mortgage fees
Deferred loan revenue
Accrued interest receivable
Allowance for credit losses
Net Members’ loans

1,228,547
116,842
619,560
1,964,949
12,073
921,711
2,898,733
13,155
(1,712)
4,769
(6,416)
2,908,529

2017
$

824,944
72,662
537,986
1,435,592
13,576
972,901
2,422,069
8,085
(2,276)
4,648
(9,190)
2,423,336

[a] Terms and conditions
Member loans can have either a variable or fixed rate of interest and they generally mature within five years.
Variable rate loans are based on a prime rate formula, ranging from prime minus 1.00% to prime plus 5.25%. The
rate is determined by the type of security offered and the Member’s creditworthiness. The Credit Union’s prime
rate at December 31, 2018 was 3.95%.
The interest rate offered on fixed rate loans being advanced at December 31, 2018 ranges from 3.89% to 18.00%.
The rate offered to a Member varies with the type of security offered and the Member’s creditworthiness.
Residential mortgages are loans and lines of credit secured by residential property and are generally repayable
monthly with either blended payments of principal and interest or interest only.
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Personal loans consist of term loans and lines of credit that are not secured by real estate and, as such, have
various repayment terms. Some of the personal loans are secured by wage assignments and personal property or
investments.
Commercial loans consist primarily of term loans, operating lines of credit, co-ops and non-owner-occupied
mortgages to individuals, partnerships and corporations, and have various repayment terms. They are secured by
various types of collateral, including mortgages on real property, general security agreements, and charges on
specific equipment, investments and personal guarantees.
[b] Average yields to maturity
Loans bear interest at both variable and fixed rates with the following yields at December 31:
Principal
$

Variable rate
Fixed rate due less than 1 year
Fixed rate due between 1 and 5 years

2018
Average yield

590,846
409,855
1,898,032
2,898,733

%

Principal

5.50
4.11
3.54

$

2017
Average yield

654,810
237,970
1,529,289
2,422,069

%

4.48
3.95
3.59

[c] Concentration of risk
The Credit Union has no exposure to groupings of individual loans, which concentrate risk and create exposure,
as no individual or related groups of Member loans exceed 10% of Member loans outstanding. All Member loans
are with Members whose assets are in Ontario, except for syndicated loans totaling $9,763 and Nil as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
[d] Credit risk
The determination of impairment losses and allowances moves from an incurred loss model whereby credit losses
are recognized when a defined event occurs under IAS 39, to an ECL model under IFRS 9 where provisions are
taken upon the initial recognition of the financial asset, based on expectations of potential credit losses at the time
of initial recognition.
IFRS 9 introduces a three-stage approach to impairment to financial assets that are performing at the date of
origination or purchase as follows:
Stage 1: A credit loss allowance is recognized at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
Stage 2: A credit loss allowance is recognized at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
This requires the computation of ECL based on lifetime probability of default that represents the probability of
default occurring over the remaining lifetime of the financial asset. The credit loss allowance is higher in this stage
because of an increase in credit risk and the impact of a longer time horizon being considered compared to 12
months in Stage 1.
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Stage 3: A credit loss allowance is recognized based at an amount equal to a lifetime ECL, reflecting a probability
of default of 100%. The treatment of loans in Stage 3 remains substantially the same as the treatment of impaired
loans under IAS 39.
The determination of a significant increase in credit risk considers many different factors and will vary by product
and risk segment. The main factors considered in making this determination are relative changes in probabilityweighted probability of default since origination and certain other criteria such as 30-day past due and watchlist
status. The allowance for assets in Stage 2 will be higher than for those in Stage 1 as a result of the longer time
horizon associated with this stage. Stage 3 requires the recognition of lifetime losses for all credit-impaired assets.
IFRS 9 requires consideration of past events, current market conditions and reasonable supportable information
about future economic conditions, in determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
in calculating the amount of expected losses. The standard also requires future economic conditions be based on
an unbiased, probability-weighted assessment of possible future outcomes. In considering the lifetime of an
instrument, IFRS 9 generally requires the use of the contractual period, including pre-payment, extension and other
options.
Commercial risk rating
Risk rating involves the categorization of individual credit facilities based on credit analysis and both economic and
market conditions, into a series of graded categories based on risk. A primary function of a risk rating model is to
assist in the underwriting of new loans and assessment of existing loans. As well, risk ratings assist Management
in predicting changes in portfolio quality and the subsequent financial impact. Risk rating can lead to earlier
response to potential deteriorating trends and a wider choice of corrective action to decrease exposure to
unexpected loan losses. Finally, risk ratings are useful for loan pricing and overseeing the commercial loan portfolio
exposure within acceptable levels of risk as established in policy.
The Credit Union uses a 10-point risk rating model to measure and manage its exposure on its commercial loan
portfolio. The 10-point rating scale ranges from Substantially Risk Free (1) to Unacceptable/Impaired Risk (10). A
risk rating of 6 or below is deemed to be acceptable risk for new loans.
Retail risk rating
The Credit Union uses the “Equifax Beacon score” as one benchmark to manage the risk of the retail portfolio.
Equifax is a global information solution company that provides credit scores. A credit score is one measure on how
likely a person is to repay a loan. DUCA’s risk rating ranges across three bands: above standard, standard and
below standard. For Members who have Beacon scores below standard, DUCA has lending programs that assist
Members who are in need of credit, notwithstanding the Beacon score. These loans are priced accordingly based
on risk profile.
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7. Allowance for credit losses
The following table presents the carrying amount of loans by portfolio and the balance of their respective ECL
allowance as at December 31, 2018:
Stage 1
Gross
carrying
ECL
amount
allowance
$

Residential
mortgages
Commercial
loans
Personal
loans
Total

$

Stage 2
Gross
carrying
ECL
amount
Allowance
$

$

Stage 3
Gross
carrying
ECL
amount
allowance
$

$

Total
Gross
carrying
ECL
amount
allowance
$

$

1,913,994

1,036

50,412

322

543

36

1,964,949

1,394

832,836

2,664

83,040

1,447

5,835

779

921,711

4,890

11,585
2,758,415

60
3,760

441
133,893

47
1,816

47
6,425

25
840

12,073
2,898,733

132
6,416
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The following table shows the continuity of the IFRS 9 ECL allowance for all portfolios:

Stage 1
$

Stage 2
$

2018

Stage 3
$

Total
$

Residential mortgages
Balance, December 31, 2017 (IAS 39)
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9
Balance, January 1, 2018 (IFRS 9)
New loans originated
Financial assets derecognized
Net remeasurement
Transfers to Stage 1 ECL
Transfers to Stage 2 ECL
Transfers to Stage 3 ECL
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses
Write-offs
Recoveries on loans previously written off
Balance, December 31, 2018 (IFRS 9)

—
—
668
587
(101)
(194)
103
(27)
—
368
—
—
1,036

—
—
292
148
(110)
68
(103)
27
—
30
—
—
322

—
—
75
36
(76)
—
—
—
—
(40)
—
1
36

497
538
1,035
771
(287)
(126)
—
—
—
358
—
1
1,394

Commercial loans
Balance, December 31, 2017 (IAS 39)
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9
Balance, January 1, 2018 (IFRS 9)
New loans originated
Financial assets derecognized
Net remeasurement
Transfers to Stage 1 ECL
Transfers to Stage 2 ECL
Transfers to Stage 3 ECL
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses
Write-offs
Recoveries on loans previously written off
Balance, December 31, 2018 (IFRS 9)

—
—
2,784
289
(376)
(354)
417
(86)
(10)
(120)
—
—
2,664

—
—
1,194
303
(460)
559
(215)
86
(20)
253
—
—
1,447

—
—
2,700
—
—
(690)
(202)
—
30
(862)
(1,059)
—
779

8,544
(1,866)
6,678
592
(836)
(485)
—
—
—
(729)
(1,059)
—
4,890
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Stage 1
$
Personal loans
Balance, December 31, 2017 (IAS 39)
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9
Balance, January 1, 2018 (IFRS 9)
New loans originated
Financial assets derecognized
Net remeasurement
Transfers to Stage 1 ECL
Transfers to Stage 2 ECL
Transfers to Stage 3 ECL
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses
Write-offs
Recoveries on loans previously written off
Balance, December 31, 2018 (IFRS 9)
Total ECL allowance

Stage 2
$

—
—
62
18
(13)
(7)
3
(3)
—
(2)
—
—
60
3,760

2018

Stage 3
$

—
—
52
1
(5)
—
(3)
21
(19)
(5)
—
—
47
1,816

Total
$

—
—
25
—
(25)
82
—
(18)
19
58
(82)
24
25
840

149
(10)
139
19
(43)
75
—
—
—
51
(82)
24
132
6,416

The following table sets out the Credit Union’s credit risk exposure for all loans carried at amortized cost as at
December 31, 2018. Stage 1 represents those performing loans carried with a 12-month ECL, Stage 2 represents
those performing loans carried with a lifetime ECL, and Stage 3 represents those loans with a lifetime ECL that
are credit impaired.
Stage 1
$

Residential
Above standard
Standard
Below standard
Commercial
Above standard
Standard
Below standard
Personal
Above standard
Standard
Below standard

Stage 2
$

Stage 3

Total

$

$

1,321,625
528,998
63,371
1,913,994

1,926
18,754
29,732
50,412

—
346
197
543

1,323,551
548,098
93,300
1,964,949

165,822
666,087
927
832,836

230
2,893
79,917
83,040

—
9
5,826
5,835

166,052
668,989
86,670
921,711

6,817
4,427
341
11,585
2,758,415

16
168
257
441
133,893

1
35
11
47
6,425

6,834
4,630
609
12,073
2,898,733
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As at December 31, 2018, 90% of outstanding loans are risk rated 6 or lower (2017 – 96%) based on the Credit
Union’s model.
The following table shows the continuity of the Credit Union’s allowance for credit losses under IAS 39 as at
December 31, 2017:
Residential
$

Balance, January 1, 2017
Loans written off
Recoveries on loans previously written off
Provision for credit losses
Balance, December 31, 2017

Personal
$

316
(12)
5
188
497

Commercial
$

117
(250)
15
267
149

Total
$

9,496
(80)
—
(872)
8,544

9,929
(342)
20
(417)
9,190

The following table shows the Credit Union’s gross loan balances by security type:

Secured by
real estate
$

Residential
Commercial
Personal
Total

$

1,435,592
922,868
—
2,358,460

2018

Unsecured

$

1,964,949
875,329
—
2,840,278

Secured by
real estate

Residential
Commercial
Personal
Total

Secured by
other
collateral

$

—
44,124
4,547
48,671

Secured by
other
collateral

—
2,258
7,526
9,784

Total gross
loans
$

1,964,949
921,711
12,073
2,898,733

2017

$

—
46,592
5,559
52,151

Unsecured
$

—
3,441
8,017
11,458

Total gross
loans
$

1,435,592
972,901
13,576
2,422,069
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The following table shows the key economic variables the Credit Union uses to estimate its allowance on
performing loans during the forecast period. The values shown represent the end-of-period average values for the
first 12 months and then the average value for the remaining forecast period of 4 years.

Canadian GDP yearover-year growth
Canadian
unemployment rate
National Housing
Price Index growth

Benign scenario
Base scenario
Adverse scenario
Average value
Average value
Average value
over the
over the
over the
remaining
remaining
remaining
Average value
Average value
Average value
forecast
forecast
forecast
over the next
over the next
over the next
12 months
period
12 months
period
12 months
period
1.4

—

1.7

1.7

(2.6)

(0.2)

3.9

3.8

5.7

5.5

7.9

7.8

1.3

3.0

0.7

1.5

(8.8)

(0.1)

Analysis of individual loans that are past due based on age is shown below:

Commercial
$

Less than 30 days
30 – 89 days
90 – 179 days
180 – 365 days
Over 365 days
Total loans in arrears
Total loans not in arrears
Balance, December 31, 2018

8,540
1,835
68
1,006
175
11,624
910,087
921,711

Commercial
$

Less than 30 days
30 – 89 days
90 – 179 days
180 – 365 days
Over 365 days
Total loans in arrears
Total loans not in arrears
Balance, December 31, 2017

12,772
3,027
25,029
5,082
4,533
50,443
922,458
972,901

Residential

2018

$

Personal
$

20,778
3,858
197
—
—
24,833
1,940,116
1,964,949

Residential

2017

$

14,071
2,649
1,622
—
214
18,556
1,417,036
1,435,592

251
25
48
—
—
324
11,749
12,073

Personal
$

597
46
27
21
—
691
12,885
13,576

Total
$

29,569
5,718
313
1,006
175
36,781
2,861,952
2,898,733

Total
$

27,440
5,722
26,678
5,103
4,747
69,690
2,352,379
2,422,069
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8. Securitization activity
As a requirement of the NHA MBS and CMB programs, the Credit Union assigns to CMHC all its interest in
securitized mortgage pools. If the Credit Union fails to make timely payment under an NHA MBS or CMB security,
CMHC may enforce the assignment of the mortgages included in all the mortgage pools backing the mortgagebacked securities issued.
The following table summarizes DUCA’s securitization activity:
2018

2017

185,266
183,385
637,834
633,401

186,153
184,571
539,907
536,844

$

Amount securitized
Net cash proceeds received
Outstanding balances of securitized mortgages
Outstanding balance of mortgage-backed securities

$

The average yield on mortgage-backed securities pools was 1.78% (2017 – 1.53%). The outstanding balance of
mortgage-backed securities is net of fees.

9. Other assets
2018

2017

442
1,118

269
391
2,140
2,800

$

Prepaid expenses
Other assets
Other receivables

—

1,560

$

10. Pension plan
The Credit Union has a defined contribution pension plan and a SERP for senior executives, under which costs
and obligations are determined using the projected benefit method of actuarial valuation prorated on service.
On December 31, 2012, the SERP was closed to new Members. Included in other assets, is a net pension amount
of $102 relating to the SERP.
The Credit Union contributes a percentage of employee salaries to the defined contribution plan. The amount of
the expense for the year was $622 (2017 – $531).
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11. Fixed assets

Land
$

Buildings
$

Leasehold
improvements
$

Computer
hardware
$

Equipment,
furniture
and fixtures
$

Total
$

Cost
Balance, December 31,
2017
Additions
Balance, December 31,
2018

739
190

10,625
408

3,108
1,022

6,558
392

8,148
748

29,178
2,760

929

11,033

4,130

6,950

8,896

31,938

Accumulated
depreciation and
amortization
Balance, December 31,
2017
Depreciation and
amortization
Balance, December 31,
2018

—

3,276

2,198

5,670

6,866

18,010

—

355

237

460

475

1,527

—

3,631

2,435

6,130

7,341

19,537

929

7,402

1,695

820

1,555

12,401

Net book value
December 31, 2018
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Land
$

Buildings
$

Leasehold
improvements
$

Computer
hardware
$

Equipment,
furniture
and fixtures
$

Total
$

Cost
Balance, December 31,
2016
Additions
Balance, December 31,
2017

739
—

10,625
—

3,108
—

6,469
89

8,148
—

29,089
89

739

10,625

3,108

6,558

8,148

29,178

Accumulated
depreciation and
amortization
Balance, December 31,
2016
Depreciation and
amortization
Balance, December 31,
2017

—

2,931

2,028

5,226

6,467

16,652

—

345

170

444

399

1,358

—

3,276

2,198

5,670

6,866

18,010

739

7,349

910

888

1,282

11,168

Net book value
December 31, 2017

12. Members’ deposits
2018
$

Demand deposit accounts
Term deposits
Registered deposits
Foreign currency accounts
Accrued interest payable
Unamortized broker fees

626,281
1,296,297
594,023
22,614
2,539,215
20,877
(1,212)
2,558,880

2017
$

627,479
801,803
536,589
46,352
2,012,223
16,481
(1,241)
2,027,463

[a] Terms and conditions
Demand deposit accounts include chequing accounts, savings accounts, and daily interest accounts, and are due
on demand and bear interest at a variable rate up to 1.60% at December 31, 2018.
Term deposits bear fixed rates of interest for terms of up to seven years. Interest can be paid annually, semiannually, monthly or upon maturity. The interest rates offered on term deposits issued on December 31, 2018
range from 0.25% to 3.15%.
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The registered retirement savings plans accounts can be fixed or variable rate. The fixed rate accounts have terms
and rates similar to the term deposit accounts described above. The variable rate accounts bear interest at rates
of 1.60% at December 31, 2018. Registered retirement income funds consist of both fixed and variable rate
products with terms and conditions similar to those of the registered retirement savings plans accounts described
above. Members may make withdrawals from a registered retirement income fund account on a monthly, semiannual, or annual basis. The regular withdrawal amounts vary according to individual needs and statutory
requirements. The tax-free savings accounts can be fixed or variable rate with terms and conditions similar to those
of the registered retirement savings plans accounts described above.
Foreign currency accounts include accounts from all of the above balances.
[b] Average yields to maturity
Member deposits bear interest at both variable and fixed rates with the following yields at:
Principal
$

Variable rate
Fixed rate due less than one year
Fixed rate due between one and five years

722,700
805,697
1,010,818
2,539,215

2018 yield
%

1.09
2.67
2.86

Principal
$

760,658
596,599
654,966
2,012,223

2017 yield
%

0.80
2.28
2.55

[c] Concentration of risk
The Credit Union does not have an exposure to groupings of individual deposits that concentrate risk as no
individual or related groups of Member deposits exceed 8% of Member deposits.
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13. Income taxes
The significant components of the deferred tax assets of the Credit Union are as follows:
Balance,
January 1,
2018
$
Allowance for credit losses
Broker fees
Fixed assets
Deferred revenue
Non-capital losses
available for carry
forward
Cash flow hedges
Corporate Minimum Tax
Credit
Other

Allowance for credit losses
Broker fees
Fixed assets
Deferred revenue
Non-capital losses
available for carry
forward
Other accrued expenses
Other

1,948
(2,472)
(385)
603
2,814
—
—
(33)
2,475

IFRS 9
adoption
$
(355)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(355)

Statement of
income
$

Retained
earnings
$

Balance,
December 31,
2018
$

OCI
$

(492)
(1,334)
114
(149)

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

(1,983)
—

546
—

—
112

785
—
(3,059)

—
—
546

—
—
112

1,101
(3,806)
(271)
454
1,377
112
785
(33)
(281)

Balance,
January 1,
2017
$

IFRS 9
adoption
$

2,014
(1,525)
(467)
933

—
—
—
—

(66)
(947)
82
(330)

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

1,948
(2,472)
(385)
603

4,675
175
(33)
5,772

—
—
—
—

(1,861)
(175)
—
(3,297)

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

2,814
—
(33)
2,475

Statement of
income
$

Retained
earnings
$

Balance,
December 31,
2017
$

OCI
$

During 2018, the Credit Union utilized $4,300 of non-capital losses carried forward from the combination with
Zenbanx Canada Inc. The deferred tax benefit had previously been recorded in respect of the remaining noncapital losses of $5,200. The non-capital losses will expire in 2035.
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The significant components of tax expense included in net income are composed of:
2018

2017

332
38
370

422
360
782

3,483
(423)
3,060
3,430

3,356
(42)
3,314
4,096

$

Current tax expense:
Based on current year’s taxable income
Adjustments for prior year
Deferred tax expense:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Adjustments for prior year
Total income tax expense

$

The difference between tax expense for the year and the expected income taxes based on the statutory tax
rate of 26.5% (2017 – 26.5%) is as follows:
2018

2017

14,737

17,121

$

Income before income taxes
Expected taxes based on the statutory rate
Non-capital losses on which deferred tax assets are recognized
Over (under) provision in prior years
Distribution to Members
Other
Total income tax expense

3,905
—
(385)
—
(90)
3,430

$

4,537
(813)
301
(333)
404
4,096

14. Derivative financial instruments
The Credit Union has entered into bond forward contracts to hedge the Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate
fluctuations in the mortgage pipeline between the time the mortgage rate is committed and the time that the
mortgages are securitized under the CMB. As at December 31, 2018, the Credit Union had entered into contracts
for a notional total of $20,000 (2017 – $40,000). The market value of this hedge was $(492) (2017 – $(69)). The
gain/loss on the hedge will be amortized over the life of the CMB.
The Credit Union has provided mortgage rate commitments to borrowers for purchases closing in 18 months. The
mortgage commitments are being hedged with a forward interest rate swap. As at December 31, 2018, the Credit
Union had entered into contracts for a notional total of $5,000 (2017 – Nil). The market value of this hedge was
$(97) (2017 – Nil).
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15. Patronage return and dividend payable
During the year, the Board of Directors declared a patronage return of 2% (2017 – 2%) consisting of bonus interest
on Members’ deposits and loan interest rebates.
On February 28, 2018, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of 3% on the outstanding amount of the Class
B shares and a dividend of 2% on the outstanding amount of Class A shares to the holders of record at
December 31, 2017. The dividends were paid on March 1, 2018.

16. Members’ shares
Number of
shares
#

Authorized
Unlimited
Membership
shares
Investment
shares:
Unlimited
Class A shares
Unlimited
Class B shares

2018
Equity

Liability

$

$

Number of
shares
#

2017
Equity

Liability

$

$

1,187

—

1,187

1,222

—

1,222

39,632

39,632

—

41,358

41,358

—

40,963

40,331
79,963

—
1,187

41,296

40,665
82,023

—
1,222

Membership shares, Class A and Class B investment shares are recognized as a liability, equity or compound
instrument based on the terms and in accordance with IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRIC 2. If
they are classified as equity, they are recognized at cost. If they are classified as liability, they are initially recognized
at fair value, net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the instrument, and subsequently
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
Terms and conditions
[a] Membership shares
As a condition of Membership, which is required to use the services of the Credit Union, each Member is required
to hold one Membership share, which has a par value of $1. These Membership shares are redeemable at par
only when a Membership is withdrawn.
Funds invested by Members in Membership shares are not insured by the DICO. The withdrawal of Membership
shares is subject to the Credit Union maintaining adequate regulatory capital (Note 22), as is the payment of any
dividends on these shares. Membership shares that are available for redemption are classified as a liability. Any
difference between the total Membership shares and the liability amount is classified as equity.
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[b] Class A shares
An unlimited number of Class A non-cumulative, non-voting, non-participating bonus shares that are redeemable
at the sole and absolute discretion of the Credit Union, up to a limit of 10% of the Class each year, at full face value
at any time upon the death of the holder and ranging from 50% of face value in the second year after issue with
annual increments in redemption value to 100% of face value in the seventh and subsequent years. The Credit
Union may redeem the full amount of the shares at any point after five years from their date of issue. The par value
of a Class A share is $1.
Patronage returns are at the discretion of the Board of Directors unless a constructive obligation exists for
distribution.
[c] Class B investment shares
The Class B investment shares are not redeemable for five years after the date of their issuance. The holders of
Class B investment shares may, at any time after the respective non-redeemable period, make a request in writing
to the Board of Directors of the Credit Union to redeem their Class B investment shares. Approval of such request
is the sole and absolute discretion of the Board of Directors. In no case shall total redemptions approved in any
fiscal year exceed 10% of the total Class B investment shares outstanding at the end of the previous fiscal year.
The Credit Union may at any time redeem the full amount of the shares outstanding after the non-redeemable term
has ended at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The par value of a Class B share is $1.

17. Non-interest income
2018

2017

2,476
1,315
321
1,593
270
1,335
(322)
6,988

3,520
1,363
563
1,822
270
660
452
8,650

$

Loan fees
Service fees
Foreign exchange gains and losses
Wealth Management fees
Rental income
Other
Unrealized (losses) gains on investments

$
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18. Other operating and administrative expenses
2018

2017

2,745
3,643
3,011
1,991
968
400
(1,966)
413
11,205

2,321
2,509
2,016
1,848
927
386
2,800
1,531
14,338

$

Professional fees
Technology
Marketing
Administration
Central 1 and bank charges
Donations
Legal accruals
Other

$

19. Related party transactions
The Act requires disclosure of the five highest paid officers and employees of the Credit Union where total
remuneration paid during the year exceeds $150,000. Bonuses reported below are with respect to the prior year. The
names, positions and remuneration paid during 2018 of those officers and employees are as follows:
2018

Name

Doug Conick

Len Dias
Phillip Taylor
Karen Todd
Rizwan Ahmad

Title

President and Chief
Executive Officer
Chief Financial,
Compliance and
Corporate Services
Officer
SVP – Business and
Personal Banking
SVP – Operations and
Service Delivery
Chief Risk Officer

Salary
$

Bonus
$

Pension and
other postretirement
benefits
$

398

248

40

27

713

253

147

25

12

437

223

95

22

3

343

200
218

86
49

20
22

6
1

312
290

Other
$

Total
$

Mr. Taylor joined DUCA on September 11, 2017. Mr. Ahmad joined DUCA on July 4, 2017.
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2017

Name

Doug Conick

Len Dias
Lydia Way
Karen Todd
Francis Sajéd

Title

President and Chief
Executive Officer
Chief Financial,
Compliance and
Corporate Services
Officer
VP – Retail Banking
VP – Operations and
Service Delivery
Chief Lending Officer

Salary
$

Bonus
$

Pension and
other postretirement
benefits
$

Other
$

Total
$

390

30

39

27

486

246

153

25

12

436

71

68

9

171

319

191
123

73
112

19
14

3
37

286
286

Mr. Conick joined DUCA in November 2, 2016. Ms. Way left DUCA’s employment on May 1, 2017. Mr. Sajéd left
DUCA’s employment on July 12, 2017.
The Credit Union has accrued staff bonuses of $2,600 (2017 – $2,100) for services rendered during the year ended
December 31, 2018. The allocation of these bonuses among staff is yet to be determined. The Credit Union entered
into the following transactions with key Management personnel, which are defined by DICO as those persons
having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Credit Union, including
directors and Management.
2018

2017

Loans to key Management personnel:
Aggregate value of loans advanced
Interest received on loans advanced
Total value of lines of credit advanced
Interest received on lines of credit advanced
Unused value of lines of credit

3,178
39
55
3
476

2,339
36
343
6
187

Deposits from key Management personnel:
Aggregate value of term and savings deposits
Total interest paid on term and savings deposits

3,161
48

3,373
18

$

$

The Credit Union’s policy for lending to key Management personnel is that the loans are approved and deposits
accepted on the same terms and conditions that apply to Members for each class of loan or deposit with the
exception of a policy approved by the Board of Directors, permitting a 2% interest rate discount on loans and
residential first mortgages granted to officers who are employees of the Credit Union.
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20. Financial instrument classification and fair value
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values noted above of on-balance sheet
financial instruments, which should be read in conjunction with the fair value measurement basis described in the
significant accounting policy in Note 3(b)(vi):
[a] Fair value through profit or loss
When available, the Credit Union uses quoted market prices to determine the fair value of trading and availablefor-sale securities; such items are classified as Level 1. Examples include government securities, equity
investments, and other listed investments. For other securities, the Credit Union generally determines fair value
utilizing valuation techniques. Fair value estimates from internal valuation techniques are verified where possible,
to prices obtained from independent sources. Securities priced using such methods are generally classified as
Level 2. Level 3 securities are priced at cost as there is no observable market data.
[b] Loans
The estimated fair values of loans are arrived at by discounting the expected future cash flows of the loans at
market rates for loans with similar terms of credit risk. Loans are classified as Level 3.
[c] Deposits
The fair values of deposits payable on demand, payable after notice and floating rate deposits are assumed to equal
their carrying values. The estimated fair values for fixed rate term deposits are valued using the discounted cash
flows discounted using market rates currently offered for deposits with similar terms and risks. Such deposit
liabilities are classified as Level 2.
[d] Derivative assets and liabilities
The estimated fair values of derivative instruments are determined through valuation models on the derivative
notional amounts, maturity dates and rates. Such instruments are classified as Level 2.
[e] Other assets and liabilities
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities
are assumed to approximate their book values, due to their short term nature.
Fair value measurements can be classified in a hierarchy in order to discern the significance of Management
assumptions and the ability to observe inputs incorporated into the measurements, as follows:
Level 1 – Fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities using the last bid price;
Level 2 – Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices);
and
Level 3 – Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset or liability is categorized is determined on the
basis of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are classified in their entirety into only one of the three levels.
The following table summarizes the classification of the Credit Union’s investments held and reported on the
statement of financial position at December 31:
2018
Level 1

Level 2

$

Equity investments:
Shares of SoFi
Preferred shares and dividend bearing equities
Central 1 Class A shares
Central 1 Class F shares
Other
Liquid investments:
Central 1 Liquidity Reserve Deposit
Treasury bills, bank deposits and bankers’
acceptances
Central 1 discount deposits
NHA mortgage-backed securities

Level 3

$

Total

$

$

—
11,764
—
—
9

—
—
1,084
10,927
—

1,900
—
—
—
—

1,900
11,764
1,084
10,927
9

—

188,858

—

188,858

—
—
—
11,773

7,779
35,593
122,893
367,134

—
—
—
1,900

7,779
35,593
122,893
380,807

2017
Level 1

Level 2

$

Equity investments:
Shares of SoFi
Preferred shares and dividend bearing equities
Central 1 Class A shares
Other
Liquid investments:
Central 1 Liquidity Reserve Deposit
Treasury bills, bank deposits and bankers’
acceptances
Central 1 discount deposits
NHA mortgage-backed securities

$

Level 3

Total

$

$

—
8,050
—
27

—
—
9,048
—

2,100
—
—
—

2,100
8,050
9,048
27

—

153,917
9,565

—

153,917
9,565

—
—
—
8,077

23,040
41,631
237,201

—
—
—
2,100

23,040
41,631
247,378
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There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 and no
changes or transfers in securities classified as Level 3.
Included in Level 3 are non-quoted equity investments, which are valued based on financial information provided
by that entity. The valuation does not involve a valuation model and, as such, a sensitivity analysis is not disclosed.

21. Financial risk management
[a] General objectives, policies and processes
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the determination of the Credit Union’s risk Management
objectives and policies, and while retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for
designing and operating processes that ensure effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Credit
Union’s finance function. The Board of Directors receives quarterly reports from the Credit Union through which it
reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place and the appropriateness of the objectives and policies it
sets.
[b] Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Credit Union if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to make
payments of interest and principal when due. The Credit Union is exposed to credit risk from claims against a
debtor or indirectly from claims against a guarantor of credit obligations.
Credit risk rating systems are designed to assess and quantify the risk inherent in credit activities in an accurate
and consistent manner. To assess credit risk, the Credit Union takes into consideration the Member’s character,
ability to pay and value of collateral available to secure the loan.
The Credit Union’s credit risk Management principles are guided by its overall risk Management principles. The
Board of Directors ensures that Management has a framework, policies, processes and procedures in place to
manage credit risks and that the overall credit risk policies are complied with at the business and transaction levels.
[i]

Objectives, policies and processes

The Credit Union’s credit risk policies set out the minimum requirements for Management of credit risk in a variety
of transactional and portfolio Management contexts. Its credit risk policies comprise the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

General loan policy statements, including approval of lending policies, eligibility for loans, exceptions to policy,
policy violations, liquidity and loan administration;
Loan lending limits, including Board of Director limits, schedule of assigned limits and exemptions from
aggregate indebtedness;
Loan collateral security classifications that set loan classifications, advance ratios and amortization periods;
Procedures outlining loan overdrafts, release or substitution of collateral, temporary suspension of payments
and loan renegotiations;
Loan delinquency controls regarding procedures followed for loans in arrears; and
Audit procedures and processes are in existence for the Credit Union’s lending activities.

With respect to credit risk, the Board of Directors receives quarterly reports summarizing delinquent loans and
loans that are on the watch-list. The Board of Directors also receives an analysis of the allowance for credit losses.
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[ii] Exposure to credit risk
The following table indicates the Credit Union’s maximum exposure to credit risk relating to its portfolios at
December 31, 2018 without considering any collateral held or credit enhancements:
Carrying
value
$

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Loans and mortgages
Undisbursed loans
Unutilized line of credit
Unutilized letter of credit

69,038
380,807
2,898,733
—
—
—
3,348,578

Maximum
exposure
$

69,038
380,807
2,898,733
251,392
184,837
12,176
3,796,983

A sizable portfolio of the loan book is secured by residential property in the Greater Toronto Area, Ontario.
Therefore, the Credit Union is exposed to the risk of reduction in loan to value coverage should the property market
be subject to a decline. The risk of losses from loans undertaken is primarily reduced by the nature and quality of
the security taken.
[c] Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union will not be able to meet all cash outflow obligations as they come due.
The Credit Union mitigates this risk by monitoring cash activities and expected outflows so as to meet all cash
outflow obligations as they fall due.
[i]

Risk measurement

The assessment of the Credit Union’s liquidity position reflects Management’s estimates, assumptions and
judgments pertaining to current and prospective firm-specific and market conditions and the related behaviours of
its Members and counterparties.
[ii] Objectives, policies and procedures
The Credit Union’s liquidity Management framework is designed to ensure that adequate sources of reliable and
cost-effective cash or its equivalents are continually available to satisfy its current and prospective financial
commitments under normal and contemplated stress conditions.
The Credit Union agrees to maintain at least 6% of its assets on deposit with Central 1 to retain its Membership.
As at December 31, 2018, 6.0% of the Credit Union’s total assets was $202,441, which is included in both
investments and cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2018, the Credit Union was compliant with this
requirement.
Provisions of the Act require the Credit Union to maintain a prudent amount of liquid assets in order to meet
Member withdrawals, which includes the Liquidity Coverage Ratio [“LCR”], Net Cumulative Cash Flow [“NCCF”],
and Net Stable Funding Ratio [“NSFR”]. In addition, the Credit Union also maintains an Internal Liquidity Ratio
[“ILR”].
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The Credit Union manages liquidity risk by:
•
•
•
•

Continuously monitoring actual daily cash flows and longer-term forecasted cash flows;
Monitoring the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities;
Maintaining adequate reserves, liquidity support facilities and reserve borrowing facilities; and
Monitoring the internal liquidity ratio daily.

The LCR is a measure that aims to ensure that the Credit Union has an adequate stock of unencumbered high
quality liquid assets [“HQLA”] that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value, to meet its liquidity needs
for a 30-calendar day liquidity stress scenario. At a minimum, the stock of unencumbered HQLA should enable the
institution to survive until day 30 of the stress scenario, by which time it is assumed that appropriate corrective
actions can be taken by Management. DUCA’s LCR at December 31, 2018 was 1,620% compared with a
regulatory minimum of 100%.
The NCCF is a liquidity metric that measures the Credit Union’s survival horizon based on its net cumulative cash
flows. It identifies potential future funding mismatches between contractual inflows and outflows for various time
bands over and up to a 12-month time horizon. DUCA’s NCCF at December 31, 2018 was 266% coverage over
12 months compared with a policy minimum of 100% coverage over 12 months.
The NSFR is a standard that will require credit unions to maintain a stable funding profile in relation to the
composition of their assets and off-balance sheet activities. A sustainable funding structure is intended to reduce
the likelihood that disruptions to a credit union’s regular sources of funding will erode its liquidity position in a way
that would increase the risk of its failure and potentially lead to broader systemic stress. The NSFR aims to limit
over-reliance on short-term wholesale funding, encourages better assessment of funding risk across all on- and
off-balance sheet items, and promotes funding stability. DUCA’s NSFR at December 31, 2018 was 167%
compared with a regulatory minimum of 100%.
In addition, DUCA has an ILR metric to ensure that the Credit Union has an adequate stock of unencumbered
HQLA that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value, to meet its liquidity needs based on total deposits
and borrowings. DUCA’s ILR at December 31, 2018 was 16.70% compared with a policy minimum of 10%.
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The following tables demonstrate the Credit Union’s ability to pay future obligations as financial assets and liabilities
mature as at December 31, 2018 and 2017:
Floating
rate on
demand
$
Assets
Members’
loans
Cash and
cash
equivalents
Investments
Other assets

Liabilities
and
Members’
equity
Members’
deposits
Securitization
liabilities
Other
liabilities
Equity

Within
1
month
$

2018
2-12
months
$

1-3 years
$

3-5 years
$

Over 5
years
$

Not
specified
$

Total
$

590,846

51,861

358,077

523,388

1,370,149

4,412

9,796

2,908,529

26,832
—
—
617,678

26,402
—
—
78,263

15,804
71,055
—
444,936

—
114,609
—
637,997

—
169,459
—
1,539,608

—
—
—
4,412

—
25,684
15,639
51,119

69,038
380,807
15,639
3,374,013

722,700

40,538

765,159

657,304

298,374

55,140

19,665

2,558,880

—

—

68,141

282,384

282,876

—

—
—
722,700

—
—
40,538

—
—
833,300

—
—
939,688

—
—
581,250

—
—
55,140

(3,420)
9,710
175,442
201,397

629,981
9,710
175,442
3,374,013
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Floating
rate on
demand
$
Assets
Members’
loans
Cash and
cash
equivalents
Investments
Other assets

Liabilities
and
Members’
equity
Members’
deposits
Securitization
liabilities
Other
liabilities
Equity

Within
1
month
$

2017
2-12
months
$

1-3 years
$

3-5 years
$

Over 5
years
$

Not
specified
$

Total
$

651,292

41,091

200,399

616,053

908,844

4,390

1,267

2,423,336

42,237
—
—
693,529

16,929
—
—
58,020

27,577
62,491
—
290,467

—
56,031
—
672,084

—
109,631
—
1,018,475

—
—
—
4,390

—
19,225
18,121
38,613

86,743
247,378
18,121
2,775,578

756,490

54,486

544,206

442,825

207,219

6,997

15,240

2,027,463

—

13,856

35,644

271,275

250,569

—

—
—
756,490

—
—
68,342

—
—
579,850

—
—
714,100

—
—
457,788

—
—
6,997

(1,135)
10,868
167,038
192,011

570,209
10,868
167,038
2,775,578

[d] Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
market factors. Market factors include three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and equity risk.
[i]

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss caused by fluctuations in fair value or future cash flows of financial
instruments because of changes in market interest rates. The Credit Union is exposed to this risk through traditional
banking activities, such as deposit taking and lending and on its investments.
The Credit Union’s goal is to manage the interest rate risk of the statement of financial position to a target level.
The Credit Union continually monitors the effectiveness of its interest rate mitigation activities.
[a] Risk measurement
The Credit Union’s interest rate risk position is measured monthly. Measurement of risk is based on rates charged
to Members, as well as rates paid to depositors.
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[b] Objectives, policies and procedures
The Credit Union’s major source of income is net interest margin, the difference between interest earned on
investments and Members’ loans and interest paid on Members’ deposits. The objective of asset/liability
Management is to match interest-sensitive assets with interest-sensitive liabilities as to amount and as to term to
their interest rate repricing dates, thus minimizing fluctuations of income during periods of changing interest rates.
Management calculates and reports monthly the value-at-risk measure of net interest margin in accordance with
the Credit Union’s Structural Risk Management Policy. The Credit Union also enters into interest rate swaps in
order to hedge against exposure to interest rate fluctuations in accordance with the Credit Union’s Interest Rate
Risk Management Policy.
The Credit Union’s projected change to pre-tax earnings over the next 12 months is as follows:
Projected
change to
pre-tax
earnings
$

Asset liability Management limits
Most likely shocked + 100 basis points
Most likely shocked - 100 basis points

1,991
(3,016)

Schedules of matching and interest rate vulnerability are regularly prepared and monitored by Credit Union
Management and reported to DICO in accordance with the Credit Union’s policy. This policy has been approved
by the Board of Directors and filed with DICO by Credit Union regulations. For the year ended December 31, 2018,
the Credit Union was in compliance with this policy.
The following schedule shows the Credit Union’s sensitivity to interest rate changes. Amounts with floating rates
or due or payable on demand are classified as maturing within three months, regardless of maturity. A significant
amount of loans and deposits can be settled before maturity on payment of a penalty, but no adjustment has been
made for repayments that may occur prior to maturity. Amounts that are not interest-sensitive have been grouped
together, regardless of maturity.
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Assets
$
Maturity dates
Interestsensitive:
0-3 months
4-12 months
1-2 years
2-5 years
Non-interest
sensitive

Non-interest
sensitive

Yield
%

740,373
400,504
319,984
1,862,033
3,322,894

5.07
3.46
3.28
3.41

51,119
3,374,013

Assets
$
Maturity dates
Interestsensitive:
0-3 months
4-12 months
1-2 years
2-5 years

2018
Liabilities/
Members’
equity
$

795,773
246,244
360,853
1,334,095
2,736,965
38,613
2,775,578

Asset/liability
gap
$

Cost
%

881,001
715,537
370,520
1,205,558
3,172,616

1.19
2.91
2.63
2.91

(140,628)
(315,033)
(50,536)
656,475
150,278

201,397
3,374,013
2017
Liabilities/
Members’
equity
$

Yield
%

4.85
3.97
3.10
3.20

910,684
460,633
372,208
840,042
2,583,567

Asset/liability
gap
$

Cost
%

1.29
2.27
2.50
1.90

(114,911)
(214,389)
(11,355)
494,053
153,398

192,011
2,775,578

Interest-sensitive assets and liabilities cannot normally be perfectly matched by amount and term to maturity. The
Credit Union utilizes interest rate swaps to assist in managing this rate gap. One of the roles of a credit union is to
intermediate between the expectations of borrowers and depositors.
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[ii] Currency risk
Currency risk relates to the Credit Union operating in different currencies and converting non-Canadian earnings
at different points in time at different foreign exchange levels when adverse changes in foreign currency exchange
rates occur.
[a] Risk measurement
The Credit Union’s currency risk position is measured daily. Measurement of risk is based on rates charged to
clients, as well as currency purchase costs.
[b] Objectives, policies and procedures
The Credit Union’s exposure to changes in currency exchange rates shall be controlled by limiting the unhedged
foreign currency exposure to the lesser of $1,000 or 5% of total Member foreign currency deposits in Canadian
funds.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Credit Union’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is within policy.
[iii] Equity risk
Equity risk is the uncertainty associated with the valuation of assets arising from changes in equity markets. The
Credit Union is exposed to this risk through its equity holdings.
The Credit Union’s portfolio includes unlisted Canadian and U.S. stocks, comprising investments in Central 1 and
SoFi.
The total investment in preferred shares and dividend bearing equities cannot exceed the lesser of $15,000 or 1%
of assets, excluding the Credit Union’s investment in Central 1 and SoFi.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Credit Union’s exposure to equity risk is within policy.

22. Capital Management
The Credit Union’s objectives with respect to capital Management are to maintain a capital base that is structured
to exceed regulatory requirements and to best utilize capital allocations.
Regulations to the Act require that the Credit Union establish and maintain a level of capital that meets or exceeds
the following:
•
•

Capital calculated in accordance with the Act shall not be less than 4% of total assets; and
Capital calculated in accordance with the Act shall not be less than 8% of the risk-weighted value of its assets.

The Credit Union maintains an internal policy that total Members’ capital as shown on the statement of financial
position shall not be less than 4.75% of the book value of all assets and 10.5% of risk-weighted assets.
The Credit Union considers its capital to include Membership shares, Class A shares and Class B investment
shares and retained earnings.
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The Credit Union establishes the risk-weighted value of its assets in accordance with the Regulations of the Act,
which establishes the applicable percentage for each class of assets. The Credit Union’s risk-weighted value of its
assets as at December 31, 2018 was $1,530,627 (2017 – $1,420,451).
As at December 31, 2018, the Credit Union met the capital requirements of the Act with a calculated Members’
capital ratio of 5.36% (2017 – 6.26%) and a risk-weighted asset ratio of 11.82% (2017 – 12.23%).
Regulatory capital consists of the following:
2018
$

Tier I capital:
Membership shares
Other Member shares – non-redeemable portion
Retained earnings
Goodwill
Tier II capital:
Redeemable portion of other Member shares
Collective loan provision

Total regulatory capital
Total regulatory capital to total assets
Total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets

1,187
76,000
95,841
(1,678)
171,350

2017
$

1,222
77,887
85,066
(1,678)
162,497

3,963
5,576
9,539

4,136
7,143
11,279

180,889

173,776

5.36%

6.26%

11.82%

12.23%

23. Commitments
[a] Credit facilities
A comprehensive credit facility is maintained with a major Canadian chartered bank up to a maximum of $14,000
and is secured by bank deposit notes totaling $10,000 (notes 4 and 5). The Credit Union has an unused credit
facility of $14,000 (2017 – $14,000) at year- end.
A line of credit is maintained with Central 1 up to a maximum of $130,000 and is secured by a general security
agreement covering all the assets of the Credit Union. The Credit Union has an unused credit facility of $130,000
(2017 – $68,000) at year-end, of which $50,000 is prescribed for the guarantee of payment on third party
Municipalities, Universities, School Boards and Hospitals deposits with the Credit Union as agreed to by Central 1.
A line of credit facility is maintained with Desjardins up to a maximum of $125,000 (2017 – $75,000) and is secured
by a pledge of residential mortgages. The Credit Union has an unused credit facility of $125,000 (2017 – $52,500)
at year end.
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[b] Members’ loans
The Credit Union has the following commitments to its Members at the year-end date on account of loans, unused
lines of credit and letters of credit:
2018

2017

251,392
184,837
12,176
448,405

318,809
172,349
15,927
507,085

$

Unadvanced loans
Unused lines of credit
Unused letters of credit

$

[c] Leases
The Credit Union leases office space for branches and office space for which the minimum lease commitments for
the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
$

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

2,757
3,049
3,021
2,621
2,148
7,851
21,447

On November 15, 2018, the Credit Union signed an agreement to sell its Corporate Head Offices at 5290 Yonge
Street and to lease additional space at 5255 Yonge Street for its new head office. The new lease at 5255 Yonge
Street is a 12-year lease with annual rent payments of approximately $1.5 million, which is included in the minimum
lease commitments. The new lease has a cancellable clause after six years. The transaction is expected to close
in the first half of 2019.

24. Goodwill
Goodwill acquired on business combinations is assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently, if events or
circumstances occur that may result in the recoverable amount of the CGU falling below its carrying value. Goodwill
was assessed for annual impairment and no impairment was determined to exist.

25. Prior year amounts
Certain prior year amounts have been restated to conform with the current year’s presentation.
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Condensed Statements of Financial Position
As at April 30, 2019, with comparative information for December 31, 2018
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

Note

April 30,
2019
$
unaudited

December 31,
2018
$

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Members’ loans
Other assets
Fixed assets
Right-of-use assets
Income taxes receivable
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Total assets

3
4
5,6
8
10
2
12
23

274,594
722,174
3,049,468
4,737
13,310
3,123
296
1,678
343
4,069,723

69,038
380,807
2,908,529
1,560
12,401
—
—
1,678
—
3,374,013

11
7
22

3,230,400
650,006
5,000
3,558
3,123
326
—
258
690
1,164
3,894,525

2,558,880
629,981
—
5,936
—
589
332
280
1,386
1,187
3,198,571

80,273
95,023
(98)
175,198
4,069,723

79,963
95,841
(362)
175,442
3,374,013

Liabilities and Members’ equity
Liabilities
Members’ deposits
Securitization liabilities
Borrowings
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Lease liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Income taxes payable
Deferred tax liability
Patronage return and dividend payable
Members’ shares
Total liabilities
Members’ equity
Members’ shares
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total Members’ equity
Total liabilities and Members’ equity

2
13
12
12
14
15

15

See accompanying notes
Approved by the Board:

Director

Director

2

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Condensed Statements of Income and Other Comprehensive Income

For the four-month period ending April 30, 2019, with comparative information for the fourmonth period ending April 30, 2018
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]
[unaudited]

Note

Interest income
Interest on Members’ loans
Investment income

Interest expense
Interest on Members’ deposits
Borrowings and securitizations
Net interest income
Non-interest income
Total revenue

16

(Recovery of) provision for credit losses

6

Non-interest expense
Salaries and benefits
Occupancy
Depreciation and amortization
Deposit insurance
Directors and committees
Loss on derivative instruments
Other operating and administrative
Income before the undernoted
Patronage return
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income for the period
Change in unrealized gains on the effective portion of cash
flow hedges
Comprehensive income for the period, net of income
taxes

10

13
17

14
12

13

April 30, 2019
$

April 30, 2018
$

37,883
3,940
41,823

31,680
1,774
33,454

21,957
4,729
26,686
15,137
3,420
18,557

14,058
3,700
17,758
15,696
2,564
18,260

(47)

337

9,153
1,086
631
711
52
97
5,083
16,813
1,791
690
1,101
299
802

7,214
1,048
460
588
67
—
4,476
13,853
4,070
500
3,570
946
2,624

264

188

1,066

2,812

See accompanying notes

3

See accompanying notes

14

40,331
—
—
—
(167)
—
40,164

39,632
—
—
1,893
(1,416)
—
40,109

—
40,573

—
41,605

Balance, December 31, 2018
Net income for the period
Dividends to Members, net of tax
Issue of shares
Redemption of shares
Gains on derivatives designated as cash flow
hedges arising during the period
Balance, April 30, 2019

—
—
—
(92)

—
—
1,705
(1,458)

14

40,665
—
40,665

Class B shares
$

Net income for the period
Dividends to Members, net of tax
Issue of shares
Redemption of shares
Gains on derivatives designated as cash flow
hedges arising during the period
Balance, April 30, 2018

Class A shares
$
41,358
—
41,358

Note

Balance, December 31, 2017
Adjustment for initial application of IFRS 9
Restated Balance, January 1, 2018

[In thousands of Canadian dollars]
[unaudited]

—
95,023

95,841
802
(1,620)
—
—

—
87,158

2,624
(1,515)
—
—

85,066
983
86,049

Retained
earnings
$

264
(98)

(362)
—
—
—
—

188
137

—
—
—
—

(51)
—
(51)

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss),
net of tax
$

264
175,198

175,442
802
(1,620)
1,893
(1,583)

188
169,473

2,624
(1,515)
1,705
(1,550)

167,038
983
168,021

Total Members’
equity
$

For the four-month period ending April 30, 2019, with comparative information for the four-month period ending April 30, 2018

Condensed Statements of Changes in Members’ Equity

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

For the four-month period ending April 30, 2019, with comparative information for the fourmonth period ending April 30, 2018
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]
[unaudited]

Note
Operating activities
Net income for the period
Add (deduct) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortization
Recovery of credit losses on Members’ loans
Current income taxes
Deferred income taxes
Unrealized losses on interest rate swap agreements
Patronage return
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest receivable
Decrease in income taxes paid
Increase in other assets
Increase to Members’ loans
Increase to Members’ deposits
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase in securitization liabilities
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities

6
12
12
13
14

5,6
11

7

Financing activities
Increase in borrowings
Decrease in borrowings
Issuance of Class A shares
Redemption of Membership shares
Redemption of Class A shares
Redemption of Class B shares
Patronage return paid
Dividend on Class A shares
Dividend on Class B shares
Cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Investing activities
Net change in investments
Purchase of fixed assets
Purchase of intangible assets
Cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

4
10

April 30, 2019
$

April 30, 2018
$

802

2,624

631
(47)
26
273
97
690

460
337
96
850
—
500

(542)
(446)
(3,178)
(140,349)
665,993
5,527
(2,377)
20,025
547,125

356
—
(1,200)
(190,745)
289,331
(4,149)
(1,999)
25,851
122,312

5,000
—
1,893
(23)
(1,416)
(167)
(1,386)
(787)
(1,433)
1,681

—
(34,500)
1,705
(22)
(1,458)
(92)
(1,179)
(822)
(1,239)
(37,607)

(341,367)
(1,540)
(343)
(343,250)

(149,714)
(246)
—
(149,960)

205,556
69,038
274,594

(65,255)
86,743
21,488

See accompanying notes
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

April 30, 2019

1. Corporate information
DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. [the “Credit Union” or “DUCA”] is incorporated under the Credit Unions
and Caisses Populaires Act, 1994 [the “Act”] of Ontario and is a Member of the Deposit Insurance Corporation of
Ontario [“DICO”] and Central 1 Credit Union [“Central 1”].
The Credit Union is primarily involved in providing a full range of retail and commercial services to its Members in
Ontario. The activities of the Credit Union are regulated by DICO. The Credit Union has 16 branches in Ontario.

2. Significant accounting policies
[a] Basis of preparation
The interim condensed financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 – Interim Financial
Reporting under International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board. Except as indicated below, the interim condensed financial statements have been prepared using the same
accounting policies used in the preparation of the audited annual financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2018.
These interim condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited annual financial
statements and are presented in Canadian dollars with all values rounded to the nearest thousand, except when
otherwise indicated. These financial statements have been prepared by Management in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards [“IFRS”], as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
[“IASB”].
The interim condensed financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on June 13, 2019.
[b] Changes in accounting policies
IFRS 16 – Leases
This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 – Leases [IFRS 16] on the Credit Union’s financial
statements and discloses the new accounting policies that have been applied from January 1, 2019.
The Credit Union has adopted IFRS 16 on a modified retrospective basis effective January 1, 2019 and has not
restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period, as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in the
standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are therefore recognized in
the opening balance sheet on January 1, 2019.
The Credit Union elected to apply practical expedients allowing application of this standard to contracts that were
previously identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4; the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with similar characteristics; the exclusion of initial direct costs from the measurement of right-to-use assets at the
date of initial application; the exclusion of short-term leases, which are defined as those that have a lease term of
12 months of less; and the exclusion of leases for low-value items.
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

April 30, 2019
Adjustments recognized on adoption of IFRS 16
On adoption of IFRS 16, the Credit Union recognized lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously
been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of IAS 17 - Leases. These liabilities were measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as
of January 1, 2019. The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on
January 1, 2019 was 3.80%.
The Credit Union leases various branch locations. Lease contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5
years but may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not
be used as security for borrowing purposes.
Until the 2018 financial year, leases of branch locations were classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.
From January 1, 2019, leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at
which the leased asset is available for use by the Credit Union. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:
•
•
•
•
•

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees
the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined,
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and
conditions.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
•
•
•
•

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
any initial direct costs, and
restoration costs.
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

April 30, 2019
The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the balance sheet at January 1, 2019.
•
•

right-of-use-assets – increase by $3.4 million
lease liabilities – increase by $3.4 million

On November 15, 2018, the Credit Union signed an agreement to sell its Corporate Head Offices at 5290 Yonge
Street and to lease additional space at 5255 Yonge Street for its new head office. The new lease at 5255 Yonge
Street is a 6-year lease. The transaction is expected to close in the third quarter of 2019. The right-of-use asset is
expected to be approximately $3.9 million.
The Credit Union has entered into an agreement to lease space at 5290 Yonge Street for its existing branch
commencing on August 1, 2019. The right-of-use asset is expected to be approximately $1.4 million.
The Credit Union’s minimum lease commitments for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
$

2,477
3,118
2,991
2,502
2,207
3,811
17,106

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

3. Cash and cash equivalents
April 30,
2019
$
Cash
Cash resources where maturities are within three months:
Deposits and bankers’ acceptances:
Schedule 1 banks
Central 1

(1,163)

116,715
159,042
275,757
274,594

December 31,
2018
$

26,832

3,500
38,706
42,206
69,038

The Credit Union has pledged $6,500 of deposits and bankers’ acceptances with BMO Nesbitt Burns to
secure its comprehensive credit facility.
Interest rates on deposits and bankers’ acceptances range from 0.73% to 3.01% (December 31, 2018 –
0.78% to 2.38%).
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

April 30, 2019

4. Investments
The following table provides information on the Credit Union’s investments. The maximum exposure to credit
risk would be the fair value as detailed below:
April 30,
2019
$
Investment securities measured at FVTPL
Investment securities measured at amortized cost

44,831
677,343
722,174

December 31,
2018
$
25,684
355,123
380,807

The Credit Union has pledged $3,500 of deposits and bankers’ acceptances with BMO Nesbitt Burns to secure its
comprehensive credit facility.
Investment securities measured at FVTPL:

Shares of Social Finance Inc. [“SoFi”]
Preferred shares and dividend bearing equities
Central 1 Class A shares
Central 1 Class F shares
Investment in mortgage pools
Other

April 30,
2019
$
1,900
12,325
1,084
10,927
18,586
9
44,831

December 31,
2018
$
1,900
11,764
1,084
10,927
—

9
25,684

Investment securities measured at amortized cost:
April 30,
2019
$
Central 1 Liquidity Reserve Deposit
Treasury bills, bank deposits and bankers’ acceptances
Central 1 discount deposits
NHA mortgage-backed securities

229,464
244,314
80,817
122,748
677,343

December 31,
2018
$
188,858
7,779
35,593
122,893
355,123

The Central 1 shares include Classes A and F, and are required as a condition of membership and are redeemable
upon withdrawal of membership or at the discretion of the Board of Directors of Central 1. In addition, the member
credit unions are subject to additional capital calls at the discretion of the Board of Directors of Central 1.
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

April 30, 2019
Class A Central 1 shares are subject to an annual rebalancing mechanism and are issued and redeemable at par
value of $100 dollars (December 31, 2018 - $100 dollars). There is no separately quoted market value for these
shares; however, fair value is determined to be equivalent to the par value due to the fact that transactions occur
at par value on a regular and recurring basis.
Central 1 Class F shares are carried at cost, which is considered to be the best representation of fair value given
the wide range of possible fair value measurements. These shares are not subject to annual rebalancing. There is
no active market for these shares, as they are issued only as a condition of membership in Central 1, and the fair
value cannot be reliably measured until such time as a transaction occurs. The fair value of Class F shares cannot
be measured reliably as the timing of redemption of these shares cannot be determined; therefore, the range of
reasonable fair value estimates are significant, and the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be reasonably
assessed. Therefore, they are recorded at cost.
The Credit Union is not intending to dispose of any Central 1 shares as the services supplied by Central 1 are
relevant to the day-to-day activities of the Credit Union. Dividends on these shares are at the discretion of the
Board of Directors of Central 1.

5. Members’ loans
April 30,
2019
$

Residential mortgages
Uninsured
Insured by CMHC
Insured by Genworth or Canada Guaranty Corp.
Personal loans
Commercial loans
Unamortized mortgage fees
Deferred loan revenue
Accrued interest receivable
Allowance for credit losses
Net Members’ loans

1,366,046
125,139
607,741
2,098,926
13,316
927,047
3,039,289
13,411
(2,215)
5,311
(6,328)
3,049,468

December 31,
2018
$

1,228,547
116,842
619,560
1,964,949
12,073
921,711
2,898,733
13,155
(1,712)
4,769
(6,416)
2,908,529

[a] Terms and conditions
Member loans can have either a variable or fixed rate of interest and they generally mature within five years.
Variable rate loans are based on a prime rate formula, ranging from prime minus 1.00% to prime plus 9.00%. The
rate is determined by the type of security offered and the Member’s creditworthiness. The Credit Union’s prime
rate at April 30, 2019 was 3.95%.
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

April 30, 2019
The interest rate offered on fixed rate loans being advanced at April 30, 2019 ranges from 3.02% to 18.00%. The
rate offered to a Member varies with the type of security offered and the Member’s creditworthiness.
Residential mortgages are loans and lines of credit secured by residential property and are generally repayable
monthly with either blended payments of principal and interest or interest only.
Personal loans consist of term loans and lines of credit that are not secured by real estate and, as such, have
various repayment terms. Some of the personal loans are secured by wage assignments and personal property or
investments.
Commercial loans consist primarily of term loans, operating lines of credit, co-ops and non-owner-occupied
mortgages to individuals, syndicated loans, partnerships and corporations, and have various repayment terms.
They are secured by various types of collateral, including mortgages on real property, general security agreements,
and charges on specific equipment, investments and personal guarantees.
[b] Average yields to maturity
Loans bear interest at both variable and fixed rates with the following yields at:
April 30, 2019
Principal
Average yield
$

Variable rate
Fixed rate due less than 1 year
Fixed rate due between 1 and 5 years

621,530
466,247
1,951,512
3,039,289

%

5.48
3.85
3.60

December 31, 2018
Principal
Average yield
$

590,846
409,855
1,898,032
2,898,733

%

5.50
4.11
3.54

[c] Concentration of risk
The Credit Union has no exposure to groupings of individual loans, which concentrate risk and create exposure,
as no individual or related groups of Member loans exceed 10% of Member loans outstanding. All Member loans
are with Members whose assets are in Ontario, except for syndicated loans totaling $9,651 and $9,763 as at April
30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
[d] Credit risk
The determination of impairment losses and allowances moves from an incurred loss model whereby credit losses
are recognized when a defined event occurs under IAS 39, to an ECL model under IFRS 9 where provisions are
taken upon the initial recognition of the financial asset, based on expectations of potential credit losses at the time
of initial recognition.
IFRS 9 has a three-stage approach to impairment to financial assets that are performing at the date of origination
or purchase as follows:
Stage 1: A credit loss allowance is recognized at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
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DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

April 30, 2019
Stage 2: A credit loss allowance is recognized at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
This requires the computation of ECL based on lifetime probability of default that represents the probability of
default occurring over the remaining lifetime of the financial asset. The credit loss allowance is higher in this stage
because of an increase in credit risk and the impact of a longer time horizon being considered compared to 12
months in Stage 1.
Stage 3: A credit loss allowance is recognized based at an amount equal to a lifetime ECL, reflecting a probability
of default of 100%. The treatment of loans in Stage 3 remains substantially the same as the treatment of impaired
loans under IAS 39.
The determination of a significant increase in credit risk considers many different factors and will vary by product
and risk segment. The main factors considered in making this determination are relative changes in probabilityweighted probability of default since origination and certain other criteria such as 30-day past due and watchlist
status. The allowance for assets in Stage 2 will be higher than for those in Stage 1 as a result of the longer time
horizon associated with this stage. Stage 3 requires the recognition of lifetime losses for all credit-impaired assets.
IFRS 9 requires consideration of past events, current market conditions and reasonable supportable information
about future economic conditions, in determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
in calculating the amount of expected losses. The standard also requires future economic conditions be based on
an unbiased, probability-weighted assessment of possible future outcomes. In considering the lifetime of an
instrument, IFRS 9 generally requires the use of the contractual period, including pre-payment, extension and other
options.
Commercial risk rating
Risk rating involves the categorization of individual credit facilities based on credit analysis and both economic and
market conditions, into a series of graded categories based on risk. A primary function of a risk rating model is to
assist in the underwriting of new loans and assessment of existing loans. As well, risk ratings assist Management
in predicting changes in portfolio quality and the subsequent financial impact. Risk rating can lead to earlier
response to potential deteriorating trends and a wider choice of corrective action to decrease exposure to
unexpected loan losses. Finally, risk ratings are useful for loan pricing and overseeing the commercial loan portfolio
exposure within acceptable levels of risk as established in policy.
The Credit Union uses a 10-point risk rating model to measure and manage its exposure on its commercial loan
portfolio. The 10-point rating scale ranges from Substantially Risk Free (1) to Unacceptable/Impaired Risk (10). A
risk rating of 6 or below is deemed to be acceptable risk for new loans.
Retail risk rating
The Credit Union uses the “Equifax Beacon score” as one benchmark to manage the risk of the retail portfolio.
Equifax is a global information solution company that provides credit scores. A credit score is one measure on how
likely a person is to repay a loan. DUCA’s risk rating ranges across three bands: above standard, standard and
below standard. For Members who have Beacon scores below standard, DUCA has lending programs that assist
Members who are in need of credit, notwithstanding the Beacon score. These loans are priced accordingly based
on risk profile.
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Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

April 30, 2019

6. Allowance for credit losses
The following table presents the carrying amount of loans by portfolio and the balance of their respective ECL
allowance as at:
Stage 1
Gross
carrying
ECL
amount
allowance
$

Residential
mortgages
Commercial
loans
Personal
loans
Total

$

$

$

$

$

Total
Gross
carrying
ECL
amount
allowance
$

$

2,039,302

1,220

58,432

417

1,192

79

2,098,926

1,716

836,384

2,572

89,573

1,176

1,090

749

927,047

4,497

12,928
2,888,614

70
3,862

385
148,390

44
1,637

3
2,285

1
829

13,316
3,039,289

115
6,328

Stage 1
Gross
carrying
ECL
amount
allowance
$

Residential
mortgages
Commercial
loans
Personal
loans
Total

April 30, 2019
Stage 2
Stage 3
Gross
Gross
carrying
ECL
carrying
ECL
amount
Allowance
amount
allowance

$

December 31, 2018
Stage 2
Stage 3
Gross
Gross
carrying
ECL
carrying
ECL
amount
Allowance
amount
allowance
$

$

$

$

Total
Gross
carrying
ECL
amount
allowance
$

$

1,913,994

1,036

50,412

322

543

36

1,964,949

1,394

832,836

2,664

83,040

1,447

5,835

779

921,711

4,890

11,585
2,758,415

60
3,760

441
133,893

47
1,816

47
6,425

25
840

12,073
2,898,733

132
6,416
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Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

April 30, 2019
The following table shows the continuity of the IFRS 9 ECL allowance for all portfolios:
Stage 1
$

Stage 2
$

Stage 3
$

Total
$

Residential mortgages
Balance, December 31, 2017 (IAS 39)
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9
Balance, January 1, 2018 (IFRS 9)
New loans originated
Financial assets derecognized
Net remeasurement
Transfers to Stage 1 ECL
Transfers to Stage 2 ECL
Transfers to Stage 3 ECL
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses
Write-offs
Recoveries on loans previously written off
Balance, April 30, 2018 (IFRS 9)

—
—
668
185
(16)
(33)
—
(2)
—
134
—
—
802

—
—
292
56
(17)
(1)
—
2
—
40
—
—
332

—
—
75
—
(75)
2
—
—
—
(73)
—
1
3

497
538
1,035
241
(108)
(32)
—
—
—
101
—
1
1,137

Balance, December 31, 2018 (IFRS 9)
New loans originated
Financial assets derecognized
Net remeasurement
Transfers to Stage 1 ECL
Transfers to Stage 2 ECL
Transfers to Stage 3 ECL
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses
Write-offs
Recoveries on loans previously written off
Balance, April 30, 2019 (IFRS 9)

1,036
317
(26)
(132)
33
(8)
—
184
—
—
1,220

322
88
(24)
57
(33)
8
(1)
95
—
—
417

36
—
—
42
—
—
1
43
—
—
79

1,394
405
(50)
(33)
—
—
—
322
—
—
1,716
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Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

April 30, 2019

Stage 1
$

Stage 2
$

Stage 3
$

Total
$

Commercial loans
Balance, December 31, 2017 (IAS 39)
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9
Balance, January 1, 2018 (IFRS 9)
New loans originated
Financial assets derecognized
Net remeasurement
Transfers to Stage 1 ECL
Transfers to Stage 2 ECL
Transfers to Stage 3 ECL
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses
Write-offs
Recoveries on loans previously written off
Balance, April 30, 2018 (IFRS 9)

—
—
2,784
73
(70)
(1,042)
346
(246)
(12)
(951)
—
—
1,833

—
—
1,194
—
(21)
468
(346)
246
(532)
(185)
—
—
1,009

—
—
2,700
—
—
839
—
—
544
1,383
(24)
—
4,059

8,544
(1,866)
6,678
73
(91)
265
—
—
—
247
(24)
—
6,901

Balance, December 31, 2018 (IFRS 9)
New loans originated
Financial assets derecognized
Net remeasurement
Transfers to Stage 1 ECL
Transfers to Stage 2 ECL
Transfers to Stage 3 ECL
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses
Write-offs
Recoveries on loans previously written off
Balance, April 30, 2019 (IFRS 9)

2,664
90
(68)
(623)
681
(172)
—
(92)
—
—
2,572

1,447
—
(72)
311
(681)
172
(1)
(271)
—
—
1,176

779
—
—
(40)
—
—
1
(39)
—
9
749

4,890
90
(140)
(352)
—
—
—
(402)
—
9
4,497
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April 30, 2019

Stage 1
$

Stage 2
$

Stage 3
$

Total
$

Personal loans
Balance, December 31, 2017 (IAS 39)
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9
Balance, January 1, 2018 (IFRS 9)
New loans originated
Financial assets derecognized
Net remeasurement
Transfers to Stage 1 ECL
Transfers to Stage 2 ECL
Transfers to Stage 3 ECL
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses
Write-offs
Recoveries on loans previously written off
Balance, April 30, 2018 (IFRS 9)

—
—
62
13
(4)
(18)
8
(3)
—
(4)
—
—
58

—
—
52
—
(3)
(10)
(1)
3
—
(11)
—
—
41

—
—
25
—
(17)
28
(7)
—
—
4
(35)
12
6

149
(10)
139
13
(24)
—
—
—
—
(11)
(35)
12
105

Balance, December 31, 2018 (IFRS 9)
New loans originated
Financial assets derecognized
Net remeasurement
Transfers to Stage 1 ECL
Transfers to Stage 2 ECL
Transfers to Stage 3 ECL
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses
Write-offs
Recoveries on loans previously written off
Balance, April 30, 2019 (IFRS 9)

60
21
(5)
(7)
1
—
—
10
—
—
70

47
—
—
(2)
(1)
—
—
(3)
—
—
44

25
—
(24)
50
—
—
—
26
(53)
3
1

132
21
(29)
41
—
—
—
33
(53)
3
115

Total ECL allowance, April 30, 2018

2,693

1,382

4,068

8,143

Total ECL allowance, April 30, 2019

3,862

1,637

829

6,328
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April 30, 2019
The following table sets out the Credit Union’s credit risk exposure for all loans carried at amortized cost as at April
30, 2019. Stage 1 represents those performing loans carried with a 12-month ECL, Stage 2 represents those
performing loans carried with a lifetime ECL, and Stage 3 represents those loans with a lifetime ECL that are credit
impaired.
Stage 1
$

Stage 2
$

Stage 3
$

Total
$

April 30, 2019
Residential
Above standard
Standard
Below standard
Commercial
Above standard
Standard
Below standard
Personal
Above standard
Standard
Below standard

1,399,107
567,596
72,599
2,039,302

1,970
22,395
34,067
58,432

—
1,192
—
1,192

1,401,077
591,183
106,666
2,098,926

165,488
669,199
1,697
836,384

350
12,486
76,737
89,573

—
7
1,083
1,090

165,838
681,692
79,517
927,047

7,656
4,853
419
12,928
2,888,614

—
156
229
385
148,390

—
3
—
3
2,285

7,656
5,012
648
13,316
3,039,289

Stage 1
$

Stage 2
$

Stage 3
$

Total
$

December 31, 2018
Residential
Above standard
Standard
Below standard
Commercial
Above standard
Standard
Below standard
Personal
Above standard
Standard
Below standard

1,321,625
528,998
63,371
1,913,994

1,926
18,754
29,732
50,412

—
346
197
543

1,323,551
548,098
93,300
1,964,949

165,822
666,087
927
832,836

230
2,893
79,917
83,040

—
9
5,826
5,835

166,052
668,989
86,670
921,711

6,817
4,427
341
11,585
2,758,415

16
168
257
441
133,893

1
35
11
47
6,425

6,834
4,630
609
12,073
2,898,733

As at April 30, 2019, 94% of outstanding loans are risk rated 6 or lower (December 31, 2018 – 90%) based on
the Credit Union’s model.
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Analysis of individual loans that are past due based on age is shown below:

Commercial
$

Less than 30 days
30 – 89 days
90 – 179 days
180 – 365 days
Over 365 days
Total loans in arrears
Total loans not in arrears
Balance, April 30, 2019

13,196
11,198
—
7
174
24,575
902,472
927,047

Commercial
$

Less than 30 days
30 – 89 days
90 – 179 days
180 – 365 days
Over 365 days
Total loans in arrears
Total loans not in arrears
Balance, April 30, 2018

8,540
1,835
68
1,006
175
11,624
910,087
921,711

April 30, 2019
Residential
Personal
$

$

31,092
4,111
912
346
—
36,461
2,061,465
2,098,926

444
15
3
—
—
462
12,854
13,316

December 31, 2018
Residential
Personal
$

20,778
3,858
197
—
—
24,833
1,940,116
1,964,949

$

251
25
48
—
—
324
11,749
12,073

Total
$

44,732
15,324
915
353
174
61,498
2,977,791
3,039,289

Total
$

29,569
5,718
313
1,006
175
36,781
2,861,952
2,898,733
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7. Securitization activity
As a requirement of the NHA MBS and CMB programs, the Credit Union assigns to CMHC all its interest in
securitized mortgage pools. If the Credit Union fails to make timely payment under an NHA MBS or CMB security,
CMHC may enforce the assignment of the mortgages included in all the mortgage pools backing the mortgagebacked securities issued.
The following table summarizes DUCA’s securitization activity:
April 30,
2019
$

December 31,
2018
$

56,920
56,317
652,643
652,703

Amount securitized
Net cash proceeds received
Outstanding balances of securitized mortgages
Outstanding balance of mortgage-backed securities

185,266
183,385
637,834
633,401

The average yield on mortgage-backed securities pools was 1.79% (December 31, 2018 – 1.78%). The
outstanding balance of mortgage-backed securities is net of fees.

8. Other assets
April 30,
2019
$

Prepaid expenses
Other assets

3,107
1,630
4,737

December 31,
2018
$

442
1,118
1,560

9. Pension plan
The Credit Union has a defined contribution pension plan and a SERP for senior executives, under which costs
and obligations are determined using the projected benefit method of actuarial valuation prorated on service.
On December 31, 2012, the SERP was closed to new Members. Included in other assets, is a net pension amount
of $102 relating to the SERP at April 30, 2019 (December 31, 2018 - $102).
The Credit Union contributes a percentage of employee salaries to the defined contribution plan. The amount of
the expense for the period was $478 (April 30, 2018 – $342).
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10. Fixed assets

Land
$
Cost
Balance, December 31,
2018
Additions
Balance, April 30, 2019

Accumulated
depreciation and
amortization
Balance, December 31,
2017
Depreciation and
amortization
Balance, April 30, 2018
Net book value
April 30, 2018

Equipment,
furniture
and fixtures
$

Total
$

11,033
—
11,033

4,130
593
4,723

6,950
90
7,040

8,896
857
9,753

31,938
1,540
33,478

—

3,631

2,435

6,130

7,341

19,537

—
—

122
3,753

135
2,570

171
6,301

203
7,544

631
20,168

929

7,280

2,153

739

2,209

13,310

Computer
hardware
$

Equipment,
furniture
and fixtures
$

Land
$
Cost
Balance, December 31,
2017
Additions
Balance, April 30, 2018

Computer
hardware
$

929
—
929

Accumulated
depreciation and
amortization
Balance, December 31,
2018
Depreciation and
amortization
Balance, April 30, 2019
Net book value
April 30, 2019

Buildings
$

Leasehold
improvements
$

Buildings
$

Leasehold
improvements
$

Total
$

739
—
739

10,625
—
10,625

3,108
8
3,116

6,558
193
6,751

8,148
45
8,193

29,178
246
29,424

—

3,276

2,198

5,670

6,866

18,010

—
—

115
3,391

60
2,258

148
5,818

137
7,003

460
18,470

739

7,234

858

933

1,190

10,954
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11. Members’ deposits
April 30,
2019

Demand deposit accounts
Term deposits
Registered deposits
Foreign currency accounts
Accrued interest payable
Unamortized broker fees

$

1,061,085
1,459,323
664,112
20,697
3,205,217
26,404
(1,221)
3,230,400

December 31,
2018
$

626,281
1,296,297
594,023
22,614
2,539,215
20,877
(1,212)
2,558,880

[a] Terms and conditions
Demand deposit accounts include chequing accounts, savings accounts, and daily interest accounts, and are due
on demand and bear interest at a variable rate up to 3.00% at April 30, 2019.
Term deposits bear fixed rates of interest for terms of up to seven years. Interest can be paid annually, semiannually, monthly or upon maturity. The interest rates offered on term deposits issued on April 30, 2019 range from
0.50% to 3.00%.
The registered retirement savings plans accounts can be fixed or variable rate. The fixed rate accounts have terms
and rates similar to the term deposit accounts described above. The variable rate accounts bear interest at rates
of 1.60% at April 30, 2019. Registered retirement income funds consist of both fixed and variable rate products
with terms and conditions similar to those of the registered retirement savings plans accounts described above.
Members may make withdrawals from a registered retirement income fund account on a monthly, semi-annual, or
annual basis. The regular withdrawal amounts vary according to individual needs and statutory requirements. The
tax-free savings accounts can be fixed or variable rate with terms and conditions similar to those of the registered
retirement savings plans accounts described above.
Foreign currency accounts include accounts from all of the above balances.
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[b] Average yields to maturity
Member deposits bear interest at both variable and fixed rates with the following yields at:

Variable rate
Fixed rate due less than one year
Fixed rate due between one and five years

Principal

April 30,
2019 yield

Principal

$

%

$

1,157,569
819,444
1,228,204
3,205,217

1.91
2.75
3.00

722,700
805,697
1,010,818
2,539,215

December
31, 2018
yield
%

1.09
2.67
2.86

[c] Concentration of risk
The Credit Union does not have an exposure to groupings of individual deposits that concentrate risk as no
individual or related groups of Member deposits exceed 8% of Member deposits.
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12. Income taxes
The significant components of tax expense included in net income are composed of:
April 30,
2019
$

April 30,
2018
$

26
273
299

Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense
Total income tax expense

96
850
946

The significant components of the deferred tax liability of the Credit Union are as follows:
April 30,
2019
$

Allowance for credit losses
Broker fees
Fixed assets
Deferred revenue
Non-capital losses available for carry forward
Cash flow hedges
Corporate minimum tax credit
Other

1,080
(3,878)
(223)
590
1,377
17
811
(32)
(258)

December 31,
2018
$

1,101
(3,806)
(271)
454
1,377
112
785
(32)
(280)

During 2018, the Credit Union utilized $4,300 of non-capital losses carried forward from the combination with
Zenbanx Canada Inc. The deferred tax benefit had previously been recorded in respect of the remaining noncapital losses of $5,200. The non-capital losses will expire in 2035.

13. Derivative financial instruments
The Credit Union has entered into bond forward contracts to hedge the Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate
fluctuations in the mortgage pipeline between the time the mortgage rate is committed and the time that the
mortgages are securitized under the CMB. These hedging relationships are designated as cash flow hedges.
Realized gains (losses) on these derivatives are deferred and amortized in accordance with the effective interest
rate method along with the debt originated.
As at April 30, 2019, the Credit Union had entered into contracts for a notional total of $30,000 (December 31,
2018 – $20,000). The market value of this hedge was $(133) (December 31, 2018 – $(492)). The gain/loss on the
hedge will be amortized over the life of the CMB.
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The Credit Union has provided mortgage rate commitments to borrowers for purchases closing in 18 months. The
mortgage commitments are being hedged with a forward interest rate swap. As at April 30, 2019, the Credit Union
had entered into contracts for a notional total of $5,000 (December 31, 2018 – $5,000). The market value of this
hedge was $(193) (December 31, 2018 – $(97)).

14. Patronage return and dividend payable
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Board of Directors declared a patronage return of 2% consisting of
bonus interest on Members’ deposits and loan interest rebates.
On February 28, 2019, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of 3.5% on the outstanding amount of the Class
B shares and a dividend of 2% on the outstanding amount of Class A shares to the holders of record at
December 31, 2018. The dividends were paid on March 1, 2019.

15. Members’ shares
Number of
shares
#

Authorized
Unlimited
Membership
shares
Investment
shares:
Unlimited
Class A shares
Unlimited
Class B shares

April 30, 2019
Equity

Liability

$

$

December 31, 2018
Number of
shares
Equity
Liability
#

$

$

1,164

—

1,164

1,187

—

1,187

40,109

40,109

—

39,632

39,632

—

40,796

40,164
80,273

—
1,164

40,963

40,331
79,963

—
1,187

Membership shares, Class A and Class B investment shares are recognized as a liability, equity or compound
instrument based on the terms and in accordance with IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRIC 2. If
they are classified as equity, they are recognized at cost. If they are classified as liability, they are initially recognized
at fair value, net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the instrument, and subsequently
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
Terms and conditions
[a] Membership shares
As a condition of Membership, which is required to use the services of the Credit Union, each Member is required
to hold one Membership share, which has a par value of $1. These Membership shares are redeemable at par
only when a Membership is withdrawn.
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Funds invested by Members in Membership shares are not insured by the DICO. The withdrawal of Membership
shares is subject to the Credit Union maintaining adequate regulatory capital (Note 21), as is the payment of any
dividends on these shares. Membership shares that are available for redemption are classified as a liability. Any
difference between the total Membership shares and the liability amount is classified as equity.
[b] Class A shares
An unlimited number of Class A non-cumulative, non-voting, non-participating bonus shares that are redeemable
at the sole and absolute discretion of the Credit Union, up to a limit of 10% of the Class each year, at full face value
at any time upon the death of the holder and ranging from 50% of face value in the second year after issue with
annual increments in redemption value to 100% of face value in the seventh and subsequent years. The Credit
Union may redeem the full amount of the shares at any point after five years from their date of issue. The par value
of a Class A share is $1.
Patronage returns are at the discretion of the Board of Directors unless a constructive obligation exists for
distribution.
[c] Class B investment shares
The Class B investment shares are not redeemable for five years after the date of their issuance. The holders of
Class B investment shares may, at any time after the respective non-redeemable period, make a request in writing
to the Board of Directors of the Credit Union to redeem their Class B investment shares. Approval of such request
is the sole and absolute discretion of the Board of Directors. In no case shall total redemptions approved in any
fiscal year exceed 10% of the total Class B investment shares outstanding at the end of the previous fiscal year.
The Credit Union may at any time redeem the full amount of the shares outstanding after the non-redeemable term
has ended at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The par value of a Class B share is $1.

16. Non-interest income
April 30,
2019

Loan fees
Unrealized gains on investments
Wealth management fees
Service fees
Foreign exchange gains and losses
Rental income
Other

$

1,088
998
643
389
182
90
30
3,420

April 30,
2018

$

705
469
678
407
192
90
4
2,545
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17. Other operating and administrative expenses
April 30,
2019

Marketing
Technology
Administration
Third-party servicing fees
Professional fees
Central 1 and bank charges
Donations
Other

$

1,498
1,205
750
465
442
396
95
232
5,083

April 30,
2018

$

1,050
1,236
556
210
518
324
92
490
4,476

18. Related party transactions
The aggregate value of loans in all categories to key Management personnel – defined by DICO as those
persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Credit
Union, including Directors and Management, as of April 30, 2019, amounted to $4,100 (December 31, 2018 $3,100). No allowance was required in respect of these loans.

19. Financial instrument classification and fair value
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values noted above of on-balance sheet
financial instruments, which should be read in conjunction with the fair value measurement basis described in the
significant accounting policy in Note 3(b)(vi):
[a] Fair value through profit or loss
When available, the Credit Union uses quoted market prices to determine the fair value of financial instruments;
such items are classified as Level 1. Examples include government securities, equity investments, and other listed
investments. For other securities, the Credit Union generally determines fair value utilizing valuation techniques.
Fair value estimates from internal valuation techniques are verified where possible, to prices obtained from
independent sources. Securities priced using such methods are generally classified as Level 2. Level 3 securities
are priced at cost as there is no observable market data.
[b] Loans
The estimated fair values of loans are arrived at by discounting the expected future cash flows of the loans at
market rates for loans with similar terms of credit risk.
[c] Deposits
The fair values of deposits payable on demand, payable after notice and floating rate deposits are assumed to
equal their carrying values. The estimated fair values for fixed rate term deposits are valued using the discounted
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cash flows discounted using market rates currently offered for deposits with similar terms and risks. Such deposit
liabilities are classified as Level 2.
[d] Derivative assets and liabilities
The estimated fair values of derivative instruments are determined through valuation models on the derivative
notional amounts, maturity dates and rates. Such instruments are classified as Level 2.
[e] Other assets and liabilities
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities
are assumed to approximate their book values, due to their short- term nature.
Fair value measurements can be classified in a hierarchy in order to discern the significance of Management
assumptions and the ability to observe inputs incorporated into the measurements, as follows:
Level 1 – Fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities using the last bid price;
Level 2 – Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices);
and
Level 3 – Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset or liability is categorized is determined on the
basis of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are classified in their entirety into only one of the three levels.

27

DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements
[In thousands of Canadian dollars]

April 30, 2019
The following table summarizes the classification of the Credit Union’s investments held and reported on the
statement of financial position at December 31:
April 30, 2019
Level 2
Level 3
$
$

Level 1
$
Equity investments:
Shares of SoFi
Preferred shares and dividend
bearing equities
Central 1 Class A shares
Central 1 Class F shares
Other
Other investments:
Investment in mortgage pools
Liquid investments:
Central 1 Liquidity Reserve Deposit
Treasury bills, bank deposits and
bankers’ acceptances
Central 1 discount deposits
NHA mortgage-backed securities

—

—

1,900

1,900

12,325
—
—
9

—
1,084
10,927
—

—
—
—
—

12,325
1,084
10,927
9

—

—

18,586

18,586

—

229,464

—

229,464

—
—
—
12,334

244,314
80,817
122,748
689,354

—
—
—
20,486

244,314
80,817
122,748
722,174

December 31, 2018
Level 2
Level 3
$
$

Level 1
$
Equity investments:
Shares of SoFi
Preferred shares and dividend
bearing equities
Central 1 Class A shares
Central 1 Class F shares
Other
Liquid investments:
Central 1 Liquidity Reserve Deposit
Treasury bills, bank deposits and
bankers’ acceptances
Central 1 discount deposits
NHA mortgage-backed securities

Total
$

Total
$

—

—

1,900

1,900

11,764
—
—
9

—
1,084
10,927
—

—
—
—

11,764
1,084
10,927
9

—

188,858

—

188,858

—
—
—
11,773

7,779
35,593
122,893
367,134

—
—
—
1,900

7,779
35,593
122,893
380,807
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There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 for the periods ended April 30, 2019 and 2018 and no
changes or transfers in securities classified as Level 3. The Credit Union purchased a mortgage pool totaling
$18,586 in April 2019 and has classified this investment as Level 3.
Included in Level 3 are non-quoted equity investments, which are valued based on financial information provided
by that entity. The valuation does not involve a valuation model and, as such, a sensitivity analysis is not disclosed.

20. Financial risk management
[a] General objectives, policies and processes
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the determination of the Credit Union’s risk management
objectives and policies, and while retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for
designing and operating processes that ensure effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Credit
Union’s finance function. The Board of Directors receives quarterly reports from the Credit Union through which it
reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place and the appropriateness of the objectives and policies it
sets.
[b] Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Credit Union if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to make
payments of interest and principal when due. The Credit Union is exposed to credit risk from claims against a
debtor or indirectly from claims against a guarantor of credit obligations.
Credit risk rating systems are designed to assess and quantify the risk inherent in credit activities in an accurate
and consistent manner. To assess credit risk, the Credit Union takes into consideration the Member’s character,
ability to pay and value of collateral available to secure the loan.
The Credit Union’s credit risk management principles are guided by its overall risk management principles. The
Board of Directors ensures that Management has a framework, policies, processes and procedures in place to
manage credit risks and that the overall credit risk policies are complied with at the business and transaction levels.
[i]

Objectives, policies and processes

The Credit Union’s credit risk policies set out the minimum requirements for management of credit risk in a variety
of transactional and portfolio management contexts. Its credit risk policies comprise the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

General loan policy statements, including approval of lending policies, eligibility for loans, exceptions to policy,
policy violations, liquidity and loan administration;
Loan lending limits, including Board of Director limits, schedule of assigned limits and exemptions from
aggregate indebtedness;
Loan collateral security classifications that set loan classifications, advance ratios and amortization periods;
Procedures outlining loan overdrafts, release or substitution of collateral, temporary suspension of payments
and loan renegotiations;
Loan delinquency controls regarding procedures followed for loans in arrears; and
Audit procedures and processes are in existence for the Credit Union’s lending activities.

With respect to credit risk, the Board of Directors receives quarterly reports summarizing delinquent loans and
loans that are on the watch-list. The Board of Directors also receives an analysis of the allowance for credit losses.
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[ii] Exposure to credit risk
The following table indicates the Credit Union’s maximum exposure to credit risk relating to its portfolios at
April 30, 2019 without considering any collateral held or credit enhancements:
Carrying
value
$

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Loans and mortgages
Undisbursed loans
Unutilized line of credit
Unutilized letter of credit

274,594
722,174
3,039,289
—
—
—
4,036,057

Maximum
exposure
$

274,594
722,174
3,039,289
232,478
186,696
14,226
4,469,457

A sizable portfolio of the loan book is secured by residential property in the Greater Toronto Area, Ontario.
Therefore, the Credit Union is exposed to the risk of reduction in loan to value coverage should the property market
be subject to a decline. The risk of losses from loans undertaken is primarily reduced by the nature and quality of
the security taken.
[c] Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union will not be able to meet all cash outflow obligations as they come due.
The Credit Union mitigates this risk by monitoring cash activities and expected outflows so as to meet all cash
outflow obligations as they fall due.
[i]

Risk measurement

The assessment of the Credit Union’s liquidity position reflects Management’s estimates, assumptions and
judgments pertaining to current and prospective firm-specific and market conditions and the related behaviours of
its Members and counterparties.
[ii] Objectives, policies and procedures
The Credit Union’s liquidity management framework is designed to ensure that adequate sources of reliable and
cost-effective cash or its equivalents are continually available to satisfy its current and prospective financial
commitments under normal and contemplated stress conditions.
The Credit Union agrees to maintain at least 6% of its assets on deposit with Central 1 to retain its Membership.
As at April 30, 2019, 6% of the Credit Union’s total assets was $243,978, which is included in both investments
and cash and cash equivalents. At April 30, 2019, the Credit Union was compliant with this requirement.
Provisions of the Act require the Credit Union to maintain a prudent amount of liquid assets in order to meet
Member withdrawals, which includes the Liquidity Coverage Ratio [“LCR”], Net Cumulative Cash Flow [“NCCF”],
and Net Stable Funding Ratio [“NSFR”]. In addition, the Credit Union also maintains an Internal Liquidity Ratio
[“ILR”].
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The Credit Union manages liquidity risk by:
•
•
•
•

Continuously monitoring actual daily cash flows and longer-term forecasted cash flows;
Monitoring the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities;
Maintaining adequate reserves, liquidity support facilities and reserve borrowing facilities; and
Monitoring the internal liquidity ratio daily.

The LCR is a measure that aims to ensure that the Credit Union has an adequate stock of unencumbered high
quality liquid assets [“HQLA”] that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value, to meet its liquidity needs
for a 30-calendar day liquidity stress scenario. At a minimum, the stock of unencumbered HQLA should enable the
institution to survive until day 30 of the stress scenario, by which time it is assumed that appropriate corrective
actions can be taken by Management. DUCA’s LCR at April 30, 2019 was 3270% compared with a regulatory
minimum of 100%.
The NCCF is a liquidity metric that measures the Credit Union’s survival horizon based on its net cumulative cash
flows. It identifies potential future funding mismatches between contractual inflows and outflows for various time
bands over and up to a 12-month time horizon. DUCA’s NCCF at April 30, 2019 was 510% coverage over 12
months compared with a policy minimum of 100% coverage over 12 months.
The NSFR is a standard that will require credit unions to maintain a stable funding profile in relation to the
composition of their assets and off-balance sheet activities. A sustainable funding structure is intended to reduce
the likelihood that disruptions to a credit union’s regular sources of funding will erode its liquidity position in a way
that would increase the risk of its failure and potentially lead to broader systemic stress. The NSFR aims to limit
over-reliance on short-term wholesale funding, encourages better assessment of funding risk across all on- and
off-balance sheet items, and promotes funding stability. DUCA’s NSFR at April 30, 2019 was 192% compared with
a regulatory minimum of 100%.
In addition, DUCA has an ILR metric to ensure that the Credit Union has an adequate stock of unencumbered
HQLA that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value, to meet its liquidity needs based on total deposits
and borrowings. DUCA’s ILR at April 30, 2019 was 29.7% compared with a policy minimum of 10%.
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The following tables demonstrate the Credit Union’s ability to pay future obligations as financial assets and liabilities
mature as at April 30, 2019 and 2018:

Floating
rate on
demand
$
Assets
Members’
loans
Cash and
cash
equivalents
Investments
Other assets

621,530

April 30, 2019
2-12
months
$

3-5 years
$

1,378,222

4,249

—

—
—
—

458,832

554,319

151,612

124,145
397,305

136,981

161,643

173,749

980,282

691,300

1,539,865

47,120

771,056

806,159

—

—

124,318

—
—

—
—

—
—

(1,163)

—
—

1,157,459

1,157,459

—
—

47,120

—

895,374

Over 5
years
$

1-3 years
$

22,137

620,367
Liabilities
and
Members’
equity
Members’
deposits
Securitization
liabilities
and
borrowings
Other
liabilities
Equity

Within
1
month
$

Not
specified
$

Total
$

10,179

3,049,468

—

4,249

26,245
23,487
59,911

274,594
722,174
23,487
4,069,723

373,180

50,243

25,183

3,230,400

237,375

296,010

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

1,043,534

—

669,190

50,243

(2,697)
9,119
175,198
206,803

655,006
9,119
175,198
4,069,723
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Floating
rate on
demand
$
Assets
Members’
loans
Cash and
cash
equivalents
Investments
Other assets

Liabilities
and
Members’
equity
Members’
deposits
Securitization
liabilities
and
borrowings
Other
liabilities
Equity

Within
1
month
$

December 31, 2018
2-12
months
$

1-3 years
$

3-5 years
$

Over 5
years
$

Not
specified
$

Total
$

590,846

51,861

358,077

523,388

1,370,149

4,412

9,796

2,908,529

26,832
—
—
617,678

26,402
—
—
78,263

15,804
71,055
—
444,936

—
114,609
—
637,997

—
169,459
—
1,539,608

—
—
—
4,412

—
25,684
15,639
51,119

69,038
380,807
15,639
3,374,013

722,700

40,538

765,159

657,304

298,374

55,140

19,665

2,558,880

—

—

68,141

282,384

282,876

—

—
—
722,700

—
—
40,538

—
—
833,300

—
—
939,688

—
—
581,250

—
—
55,140

(3,420)
9,710
175,442
201,397

629,981
9,710
175,442
3,374,013

[d] Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
market factors. Market factors include three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and equity risk.
[i]

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss caused by fluctuations in fair value or future cash flows of financial
instruments because of changes in market interest rates. The Credit Union is exposed to this risk through traditional
banking activities, such as deposit taking and lending and on its investments.
The Credit Union’s goal is to manage the interest rate risk of the statement of financial position to a target level.
The Credit Union continually monitors the effectiveness of its interest rate mitigation activities.
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April 30, 2019
[a] Risk measurement
The Credit Union’s interest rate risk position is measured monthly. Measurement of risk is based on rates charged
to Members, as well as rates paid to depositors.
[b] Objectives, policies and procedures
The Credit Union’s major source of income is net interest margin, the difference between interest earned on
investments and Members’ loans and interest paid on Members’ deposits. The objective of asset/liability
management is to match interest-sensitive assets with interest-sensitive liabilities as to amount and as to term to
their interest rate repricing dates, thus minimizing fluctuations of income during periods of changing interest rates.
Management calculates and reports monthly the value-at-risk measure of net interest margin in accordance with
the Credit Union’s Structural Risk Management Policy. The Credit Union also enters into interest rate swaps in
order to hedge against exposure to interest rate fluctuations in accordance with the Credit Union’s Interest Rate
Risk Management Policy.
The Credit Union’s projected change to pre-tax earnings over the next 12 months is as follows:
Projected
change to
pre-tax
earnings
$

Asset liability management limits
Most likely shocked + 100 basis points
Most likely shocked - 100 basis points

432
(879)

Schedules of matching and interest rate vulnerability are regularly prepared and monitored by Credit Union
Management and reported to DICO in accordance with the Credit Union’s policy. This policy has been approved
by the Board of Directors and filed with DICO by Credit Union regulations. For the period ended April 30, 2019, the
Credit Union was in compliance with this policy.
The following schedule shows the Credit Union’s sensitivity to interest rate changes. Amounts with floating rates
or due or payable on demand are classified as maturing within three months, regardless of maturity. A significant
amount of loans and deposits can be settled before maturity on payment of a penalty, but no adjustment has been
made for repayments that may occur prior to maturity. Amounts that are not interest-sensitive have been grouped
together, regardless of maturity.
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Assets
$
Maturity dates
Interestsensitive:
0-3 months
4-12 months
1-2 years
2-5 years
Non-interest
sensitive

Non-interest
sensitive

Yield
%

943,440
830,958
296,812
1,938,602
4,009,812

4.38
2.85
3.29
3.47

59,911
4,069,723

Assets
$
Maturity dates
Interestsensitive:
0-3 months
4-12 months
1-2 years
2-5 years

April 30, 2019
Liabilities/
Members’
equity
$

740,373
400,504
319,984
1,862,033
3,322,894
51,119
3,374,013

Asset/liability
gap
$

Yield
%

1,376,156
723,795
333,656
1,429,313
3,862,920

2.01
2.60
2.08
2.79

(432,716)
107,162
(36,844)
509,290
146,892

206,803
4,069,723

Yield
%

December 31, 2018
Liabilities/
Members’
equity
$

5.07
3.46
3.28
3.41

881,001
715,537
370,520
1,205,558
3,172,616

Asset/liability
gap
$

Yield
%

1.19
2.91
2.63
2.91

(140,628)
(315,033)
(50,536)
656,475
150,278

201,397
3,374,013

Interest-sensitive assets and liabilities cannot normally be perfectly matched by amount and term to maturity. The
Credit Union utilizes interest rate swaps to assist in managing this rate gap. One of the roles of a credit union is to
intermediate between the expectations of borrowers and depositors.
[ii] Currency risk
Currency risk relates to the Credit Union operating in different currencies and converting non-Canadian earnings
at different points in time at different foreign exchange levels when adverse changes in foreign currency exchange
rates occur.
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[a] Risk measurement
The Credit Union’s currency risk position is measured daily. Measurement of risk is based on rates charged to
clients, as well as currency purchase costs.
[b] Objectives, policies and procedures
The Credit Union’s exposure to changes in currency exchange rates shall be controlled by limiting the unhedged
foreign currency exposure to the lesser of $1,000 or 5% of total Member foreign currency deposits in Canadian
funds.
For the period ended April 30, 2019, the Credit Union’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is within policy.
[iii] Equity risk
Equity risk is the uncertainty associated with the valuation of assets arising from changes in equity markets. The
Credit Union is exposed to this risk through its equity holdings.
The Credit Union’s portfolio includes unlisted Canadian and U.S. stocks, comprising investments in Central 1 and
SoFi.
The total investment in preferred shares and dividend bearing equities cannot exceed the lesser of $15,000 or 1%
of assets, excluding the Credit Union’s investment in Central 1 and SoFi.
For the period ended April 30, 2019, the Credit Union’s exposure to equity risk is within policy.

21. Capital Management
The Credit Union’s objectives with respect to capital management are to maintain a capital base that is structured
to exceed regulatory requirements and to best utilize capital allocations.
Regulations to the Act require that the Credit Union establish and maintain a level of capital that meets or exceeds
the following:
•
•

Capital calculated in accordance with the Act shall not be less than 4% of total assets; and
Capital calculated in accordance with the Act shall not be less than 8% of the risk-weighted value of its assets.

The Credit Union maintains an internal policy that total leverage capital shall not be less than 4.75% of total assets
as shown on the statement of financial position and 10.50% of the risk-weighted assets. At April 30, 2019,
regulatory capital was 4.43% of the book value of all assets and lower than the internal policy.
The Credit Union considers its capital to include Membership shares, Class A shares and Class B investment
shares and retained earnings.
The Credit Union establishes the risk-weighted value of its assets in accordance with the Regulations of the Act,
which establishes the applicable percentage for each class of assets. The Credit Union’s risk-weighted value of its
assets as at April 30, 2019 was $1,643,935 (December 31, 2018 – $1,530,627).
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As at April 30, 2019, the Credit Union met the capital requirements of the Act with a calculated leverage ratio of
4.43% (December 31, 2018 – 5.36%) and a risk-weighted assets ratio of 10.97% (December 31, 2018 – 11.82%).

Regulatory capital consists of the following:
April 30,
2019
$

Membership shares
Other Member shares
Retained earnings
Goodwill
Collective loan provision

Total regulatory capital to total assets
Total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets

December 31,
2018
$

1,164
80,273
95,023
(1,678)
5,499
180,281

1,187
79,963
95,841
(1,678)
5,576
180,889

4.43%

5.36%

10.97%

11.82%

22. Commitments and Contingencies
[a] Credit facilities
DUCA’s credit facilities to support its operations include access to a line of credit of $130 million with Central 1, of
which $50 million is prescribed for the guarantee of payment on third party Municipalities, Universities, School
boards and Hospitals deposits with the Credit Union as agreed to by Central 1. The line of credit is secured by a
general security agreement covering all the assets of the Credit Union.
A line of credit facility is maintained with Fédération des Caisses Desjardins du Québec and Desjardins Capital
Markets (“Desjardins”) up to a maximum of $125 million and is secured by a pledge of residential mortgages. On
May 23, 2019 Desjardins approved the increase of the facility to $160 million and the transaction is expected to
close in June 2019.
The Credit Union has access to a $14 million comprehensive credit facility with a major Canadian chartered bank,
which is secured by $10 million in bank deposit notes.
The Credit Union entered into an agreement with Mercury Receivables Trust on April 16, 2019 which gives the
Credit Union access to a $100 million credit facility which is secured by a pool of $191 million uninsured mortgages.
Central 1 provides a Performance Guarantee on the drawn amount of the credit facility funded volume.
On March 4, 2019 the Credit Union entered into The Bond Market Association/International Securities Market
Association 2000 Version Global Master Repurchase Agreement with National Bank Financial Inc. which gives the
Credit Union access to an uncommitted $50 million credit facility where the Credit Union can access borrowing on
a short-term basis by pledging mortgage-backed securities that they are holding for liquidity.
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As of April 30, 2019, the Credit Union has encumbered $40 million of the $50 million of the prescribed guarantee
of payment on third party Municipalities, Universities, School boards and Hospitals deposits with the Credit Union
as agreed to by Central 1 as described above.
As of April 30, 2019, the Credit Union has utilized $5 million of its available credit facilities.
[b] Members’ loans
The Credit Union has the following commitments to its Members at the period-end date on account of loans, unused
lines of credit and letters of credit:
April 30,
2019
$

Unadvanced loans
Unused lines of credit
Unused letters of credit

December 31,
2018

232,478
186,696
14,226
433,400

$

251,392
184,837
12,176
448,405

[c] Contingencies
As at April 30, 2019, except for actions that may be used to recover delinquent loans where the Credit Union is the
plaintiff, the Credit Union is not aware of any pending or contemplated material legal proceedings to which it is a
party.

23. Goodwill
Goodwill acquired on business combinations is assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently, if events or
circumstances occur that may result in the recoverable amount of the CGU falling below its carrying value. Goodwill
was assessed for annual impairment and no impairment was determined to exist at December 31, 2018. No events
or circumstances have arisen in the interim period that may indicate that the recoverable amount has fallen below
its carrying value.

24. Subsequent Events
Subsequent to April 30, 2019, the Credit Union purchased four mortgage pools totaling $117 million.
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